

#MedSymposia



symposia.spa-rac.org



# 7<sup>th</sup> MEDITERRANEAN SYMPOSIUM ON MARINE VEGETATION

19 | 20 September 2022 Genoa, Italy

UN 🛞

environment programme



The Mediterranean Symposia are an Ocean Decade Action endorsed by IOC-UNESCO



#### Disclaimer

The designations employed and the presentation of material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the Specially Protected Areas Regional Activity Centre (SPA/RAC), United Nations Environment Programme/Mediterranean Action Plan (UNEP/MAP) or the Secretariat of the United Nations concerning the legal status of any country, territory, city or area or of its authorities, or concerning the delimitation of its frontiers or boundaries.

#### Copyright

All property rights of texts and content of different types of this publication belong to SPA/RAC. Reproduction of these texts and contents, in whole or in part, and in any form, is prohibited without prior written permission from SPA/RAC, except for educational and other non-commercial purposes, provided that the source is fully acknowledged.

© 2022 United Nations Environment Programme Mediterranean Action Plan Specially Protected Areas Regional Activity Centre Boulevard du Leader Yasser Arafat B.P.337 - 1080 Tunis Cedex - TUNISIA car-asp@spa-rac.org

#### For bibliographic purposes, this document may be cited as:

UNEP/MAP – SPA/RAC, 2022. Proceedings of the 7<sup>th</sup> Mediterranean Symposium on Marine Vegetation (Genova, Italy, 19-20 September 2022). BOUAFIF C., OUERGHI A., edits, SPA/RAC publi., Tunis, 152 p.

#### **Cover photo**

©Saul Ciriaco WWF AMP Miramare

This publication has been prepared with the financial support of the MAVA Foundation and the European Union.

For more information www-spa-rac.org symposia.spa-rac.org Proceedings of the 7<sup>th</sup> Mediterranean Symposium on Marine Vegetation

### FORWARD

#### Dear Colleagues,

The United Nations Environment Programme Mediterranean Action Plan – Specially Protected Areas Regional Activity Centre (UNEP/MAP – SPA/RAC) – Barcelona Convention has initiated since year 2000 a series of scientific symposia, dedicated to key habitats and NIS by organising the first Mediterranean Symposium on Marine vegetation. This initiative while aiming essentially to take stock of the recently available scientific data and to promote the cooperation between specialists and key actors working in the Mediterranean, has evolved since then to cover now Coralligenous, Dark Habibtats and Non-Indigenous species as well.

These symposia have been initiated as implementation of the UNEP/MAP regional action plans related to (i) **the Conservation of Marine Vegetation in the Mediterranean Sea** (adopted by the Contracting Parties to the Barcelona Convention in 1999 and updated in 2012), (ii) **the Conservation of Coralligenous and other calcareous bio-concretions of Mediterranean** (adopted by the Contracting Parties to Barcelona Convention in 20018 and updated in 2016), (iii) **the conservation of habitats and species associated with seamounts, underwater caves and canyons, aphotic hard beds and chemo-synthetic phenomena in the Mediterranean Sea** (Action Plan for Dark Habitats adopted by the Contracting Parties to the Barcelona Convention in 2013), and (iv) the Action Plan concerning Species Introduction and Invasive Species (Adopted by the Contracting Parties to the Barcelona Convention in 2003 and updated in 2016).

The "Mediterranean Symposia on Marine Key Habitats and NIS" are an important output, not only of the UNEP/MAP Medium-Term Strategy for the period 2022-2027 (Decision IG.525/1), but also for NTZ/MPA project "Empowering the legacy: scaling up co-managed and financially sustainable No-Take Zones / Marine Protected Areas", financed by MAVA foundation under its Mediterranean Strategy and by the EU-funded IMAP-MPA project "Towards achieving the Good Environmental Status of the Mediterranean Sea and Coast through an Ecologically Representative and Efficiently Managed and Monitored Network of Marine Protected Areas".

For more than two decades, the symposia have provided, within the framework of the MAP Barcelona Convention, a platform for dialogue between the scientific community, managers, and decision makers.

This year, SPA/RAC in collaboration with the Italian Institute for Environmental Protection and Research (ISPRA), the university of Genoa and its Department of Earth, the Environment and Life Sciences of the University of Genoa (DISTAV) and the association "Società Italiana di Biologia Marina" (SIBM), organized a new edition of the Mediterranean Symposia in Genoa, from 19 to 23 September 2022, as follows:

- 7<sup>th</sup> Mediterranean Symposium on Marine Vegetation (19-20 September 2022)
- 4<sup>th</sup> Mediterranean Symposium on the conservation of coralligenous and other calcareous bioconcretions (20-21 September 2022)
- 3<sup>rd</sup> Mediterranean Symposium on the conservation of dark habitats (21-22 September 2022)
- 2<sup>nd</sup> Mediterranean Symposium on the non-indigenous Species (22-23 September 2022)

This edition was also a good opportunity to discuss new topics such as monitoring and definition of Good Environmental Status (GES), monitoring and assessment scale in the Mediterranean and, in this way, contribute to enhancing Science-Policy interface and to strengthening links and cooperation between SPA/RAC and Barcelona Convention system and scientists and scientific institutions in the Mediterranean.

Khalil ATTIA SPA/RAC Director Tatjana Hema UNEP/MAP Coordinator

# CONTENTS

PROGRAMME1
KEYNOTE CONFERENCE
<b>Gérard PERGENT</b>
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS13
Valentina ASNAGHI, CHIANTORE M., KALEB S., DE LA FUENTE G., SRIJEMSI M., SAVONITTO G., CLAUSING R., CIRIACO S., MEROTTO L., MARCHESE F., KASTELIC L., SEGARICH M., FALACE A
Patrick ASTRUCH, SCHOHN T., BELLONI B., CASSETTI O., CABRAL M., RUITTON S., MICHEZ N., MASINSKI I., HARTMANN V., BOUDOURESQUE C.F
Thomas BOCKEL, BOISSERY P., DELARUELLE G., DETER J., GERVAISE C., HOLON F
Thomas BOCKEL, HOLON F., MARRE G, DELARUELLE G., BOISSERY P., DETER J
Charles-François BOUDOURESQUE, MARINIER M., CAVALIER M., DRIANCOURT T., BLANFUNÉ A., PERRET-BOUDOURESQUE M., THIBAUT T

Imen ZRIBI, ELLOUZI H., MNASRI I., ABEDELKADER N., BENHMIDA A., DORAI S., DEBEZ A. CHARFI-CHEIKHROUHA F.,ZAKHAMA-SRAIEB R.108EFFECT OF FILAMENTOUS MACROALGAE CHAETOMORPHA LINUMON CYMODOCEA NODOSA: DOES CLONAL INTEGRATIONALLEVIATE THE MAGROALGAE IMPACTS?

Ramla BOUHLEL, BENISMAIL M., CHEBAANE S., BENZARTI O., GRAMI B....... 123

THE IMPACT OF *CAULERPA CYLINDRACEA* ON *CYMODOCEA NODOSA* IN THE MARINE AND COASTAL PROTECTED AREA OF KURIAT ISLANDS, TUNISIA

**Yasser ALI GENEID, EL-SAYED H., EL-HADDAD K., FOAD M......129** MAPPING AND ASSESSING SEAGRASSES USING MULTI SATELLITE IMAGERY ALONG ALMAZA BAY, MEDITERRANEAN SEA, EGYPT

#### 

Christine PERGENT-MARTINI, BOUAFIF C., BURZIO P., RAÏS C.,	
TORCHIA G., MAGANZA A., BEZZO T., SOHLOBJI E., VILLERS F	
ANCHORING ON POSIDONIA OCEANICA MEADOWS: SYNTHESIS	
ON THE EXISTING REGULATIONS AND DISTRIBUTION MAPS AS	
A BENCHMARK FOR ACTION IN THE MEDITERRANEAN	
RECOMMENDATIONS.	. 149
	150
SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE MEMBERS.	. 150
ORGANISING COMMITTEE MEMBERS	. 151

# CONTENTS

PROGRAMME1
KEYNOTE CONFERENCE
<b>Gérard PERGENT</b>
ORAL COMMUNICATIONS13
Valentina ASNAGHI, CHIANTORE M., KALEB S., DE LA FUENTE G., SRIJEMSI M., SAVONITTO G., CLAUSING R., CIRIACO S., MEROTTO L., MARCHESE F., KASTELIC L., SEGARICH M., FALACE A
Patrick ASTRUCH, SCHOHN T., BELLONI B., CASSETTI O., CABRAL M., RUITTON S., MICHEZ N., MASINSKI I., HARTMANN V., BOUDOURESQUE C.F
Thomas BOCKEL, BOISSERY P., DELARUELLE G., DETER J., GERVAISE C., HOLON F
Thomas BOCKEL, HOLON F., MARRE G, DELARUELLE G., BOISSERY P., DETER J
Charles-François BOUDOURESQUE, MARINIER M., CAVALIER M., DRIANCOURT T., BLANFUNÉ A., PERRET-BOUDOURESQUE M., THIBAUT T

Imen ZRIBI, ELLOUZI H., MNASRI I., ABEDELKADER N., BENHMIDA A., DORAI S., DEBEZ A. CHARFI-CHEIKHROUHA F.,ZAKHAMA-SRAIEB R.108EFFECT OF FILAMENTOUS MACROALGAE CHAETOMORPHA LINUMON CYMODOCEA NODOSA: DOES CLONAL INTEGRATIONALLEVIATE THE MAGROALGAE IMPACTS?

Ramla BOUHLEL, BENISMAIL M., CHEBAANE S., BENZARTI O., GRAMI B....... 123

THE IMPACT OF *CAULERPA CYLINDRACEA* ON *CYMODOCEA NODOSA* IN THE MARINE AND COASTAL PROTECTED AREA OF KURIAT ISLANDS, TUNISIA

ROUNDTABLE "NEEDS AND EXPECTATIONS TO	
<b>REINFORCE PROTECTION AND RESTORATION AT THE</b>	
REGIONAL LEVEL"	141
Christine PERGENT-MARTINI, BOUAFIF C., BURZIO P., RAÏS C.,	
TORCHIA G., MAGANZA A., BEZZO T., SOHLOBJI E., VILLERS F	143
ANCHORING ON POSIDONIA OCEANICA MEADOWS: SYNTHESIS	
ON THE EXISTING REGULATIONS AND DISTRIBUTION MAPS AS	
A BENCHMARK FOR ACTION IN THE MEDITERRANEAN	
RECOMMONDATIONS	149
	150
SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE MEMBERS.	150
ORGANISING COMMITTEE MEMBERS	151

# PROGRAMME

Monday 19 September 2022

8:00-9:00	Participants welcome and registration				
9:00-10:00	Opening of the Mediterranean Symposia on Marine Key Habitats and Non-Indigenous Species				
	<ul> <li>Opening speeches</li> <li>Prof. Laura CANESI, vice-director of DISTAV</li> <li>Mr. Khalil ATTIA, Director, UNEP/MAP-SPA/RAC</li> <li>Mme Tatjana HEMA, UNEP/MAP Coordinator</li> <li>Her Excellency, Mme Leila CHIKHAOUI MAHDAOUI, Minister of Environment, Tunisia (video message)</li> </ul>				
10:00-10:15	Coffee break				
10:15-10:30	Keynote conference: " <i>Posidonia oceanica</i> meadow: A major carbon sink in the Mediterranean Sea " by Gérard PERGENT				
Session 1:	Mapping and monitoring (and associated organisms) Chair: Monica MONTEFALCONE, Rapporteur: Yassine Ramzi SGHAIER				
10:30-10:45	"Participative mapping and aerial photographs help to show the strong decline of north eastern <i>Posidonia oceanica</i> seagrass beds (French Occitanie region)" by Julie DETER, HOUNGNANDAN F., BENKHABCHECHE F., HARDY PY., GUILBERT A., TRIBOT AS., POURTAU M., SUTTON G., BARROIL A., HOLON F., BOISSERY P.				
10:45-11:00	<b>"A new map atlas of coastal marine biodiversity</b> " by <b>Thomas BOCKEL</b> , BOISSERY P., DELARUELLE G., DETER J., GERVAISE C., HOLON F.				
11:00-11:15	<b>"3-dimensional mapping for fine-scale cartography of</b> <i>Posidonia oceanica</i> seagrass meadow limits with underwater structure from motion photogrammetry" by Daniele VENTURA, CASOLI E., MANCINI G., BELLUSCIO A., PACE D. S., ARDIZZONE G.D.				
11:15-11:30	"A hierarchical scale-based approach for inferring the ecological quality of a marine ecosystem from its spatial composition and configuration" by Fabrice HOUNGNANDAN, FERY C., BOCKEL T., DELARUELLE G., BOISSERY P., KEFI S., DETER J.				
11:30-11:45	"Involving managers in the ecosystem-based assessment of marine habitats: a case study in french catalonia)" by Patrick ASTRUCH, SCHOHN T., BELLONI B., CASSETTI O., CABRAL M., RUITTON S., MICHEZ N., MASINSKI I., HARTMANN V., BOUDOURESQUE C.F.				
11:45-12:00	"Indices from the past: relevance in the status assessment of <i>Posidonia oceanica</i> meadows" by Alice OPRANDI, MANCINI I., BIANCHI C.N., MORRI C., AZZOLA A., MONTEFALCONE M.				

- 12:00-12:15 "Benthic habitats id and policy cross-links to improve marine conservation" by Marie LA RIVIERE, DELAVENNE J., DE BETTIGNIES T., MICHEZ N., JANSON A.-L., ANDRES S., GAUDILLAT V.
- 12:15-12:30 "Need of reference conditions for comparable monitoring of *Posidonia* oceanica at eco-regional scale including the sliding baseline syndrome: a discussion over Foça SEPA" by Onur KARAYALI, AKÇALI B., BİZSEL K.C., KABOĞLU G.
- **12:30-12:45** Discussion
- 12:45-14:30 Lunch break
- Session 2: Impacts and disturbances threatening key Mediterranean formations (including global change) Chair: Ali BADREDDINE, Rapporteur: Atef LIMAM
- 14:30-14:45 "Posidonia oceanica restoration, a relevant strategy after boat anchoring degradation?" by Christine PERGENT-MARTINI, ACUNTO S., ANDRÉ S., BARRALON E., CALVO S., CASTEJÓN-SILVO I., CULIOLI J.M., LEHMANN L., MOLENAAR H., MONNIER B., OBERTI P., PEY A., PIAZZI L., SANTONI M.C., TERRADOS J., TOMASELLO A., PERGENT G.
- 14:45-15:00 "AIS data help to manage anchoring and its impact on French seagrass meadows" by Thomas BOCKEL, HOLON F., MARRE G, DELARUELLE G., BOISSERY P., DETER J
- 15:00-15:15 "Towards the restoration of canopy-forming brown algae in the Mediterranean Sea: major challenges and wins" by Valentina ASNAGHI, CHIANTORE M., KALEB S., DE LA FUENTE G., SRIJEMSI M., SAVONITTO G., CLAUSING R., CIRIACO S., MEROTTO L., MARCHESE F., KASTELIC L., SEGARICH M., FALACE A.
- 15:15-15:30 "The perception of *Posidonia oceanica* banquettes by beachgoers in the French Riviera" by Charles-François BOUDOURESQUE, MARINIER M., CAVALIER M., DRIANCOURT T., BLANFUNÉ A., PERRET-BOUDOURESQUE M., THIBAUT T.
- 15:30-15:45 "*Ex situ* pilot experiment to assess the feasibility of ecological restoration of *Fucus virsoides* in the Gulf of Trieste (Northern Adriatic)" by Sara KALEB, DESCOURVIÈRES E., BANDELJ V., CIRIACO S., ORLANDO-BONACA M., FALACE A.
- **15:45-16:00** *Coffee break*
- 16:00-16:15 Welcome speech by Federico DELFINO, Rector of the University of Genoa

 16:15-17:15
 Poster Session

 Session 2:
 Impacts and disturbances threatening key Mediterranean formations

 (continued)
 (including global change)

 Chair: Rym ZAKHAMA, Rapporteur: Mehdi AISSI

17:15-17:30 "The influence of human activities on *Posidonia oceanica* at Tremiti Islands Marine Protected Area (Adriatic Sea, Italy)" by Andrea TURSI, MASTROTOTARO F., BOTTALICO A., DE GIOSA F., MONTESANTO F., LISCO A., CHIMIENTI G.

- 17:30-17:45 "Deterioration of precious blue carbon ecosystems in a Natura 2000 site: the impact of anchorage in the seagrass meadows of the National Marine Park of Alonissos Northern Sporades" by Dimitris POURSANIDIS, IOSSIFIDIS S., VASSILOPOULOU V.
- 17:45-18:00 "The trophic role of the necromass of *Posidonia oceanica* (L) Delile in the surf zone of sandy shores " by Francesca ROSSI, ROMERO G., PEY A., VENTURA P., LOQUES F., DERIJARD B., COTTALORDA J.M., DI FRANCO E., GUIDETTI P., BUSSOTTI S.
- 18:00-18:15 "Effect of filamentous macroalgae *Chaetomorpha linum* on *Cymodocea nodosa*: does clonal integration alleviate the magroalgae impacts?" by Imen ZRIBI, ELLOUZI H., MNASRI I., ABEDELKADER N., BEN HMIDA A., DORAI S., DEBEZ A. CHARFI-CHEIKHROUHA F., ZAKHAMA-SRAIEB R.
- 18:15-18:30 Discussion

Tuesday 20 September 2022

 8:00-9:30
 Roundtable on "Needs and expectations to reinforce protection and restoration at the regional level"

 Moderator: Christine PERGENT-MARTINI

 9:30-9:45
 Awards for best oral communication and poster

9:45-10:00 Closure of the Symposium

\*\*\*\*\*

# KEYNOTE CONFERENCE

\*\*\*\*\*

#### Gérard PERGENT, MONNIER B., PERGENT-MARTINI C.

EqEL, CNRS SPE 6134, Université de Corse, Campus Grimaldi, 20250 Corte, France. <u>E-mail: pergent\_g@univ-corse.fr</u>

### *POSIDONIA OCEANICA* MEADOW: A MAJOR CARBON SINK IN THE MEDITERRANEAN SEA

#### Abstract

In the last decades, the increasing necessity to reduce atmospheric carbon dioxide  $(CO_2)$  concentrations has intensified interest in quantifying the capacity of coastal ecosystems to fix and sequester carbon, referred to commonly as 'Blue Carbon' (BC). Among coastal habitats, seagrass meadows are considered as natural carbon sinks due to their capacity to store large amounts of carbon in their sediments over long periods of time.

In the Mediterranean Sea, Posidonia oceanica constitutes extensive meadows considered to be one of the most effective ecosystems in carbon fixation and sequestration but above all, as longterm carbon sinks due to the development of an exceptional structure known as 'matte', reaching several meters in height, which can be preserved over millennia.

The synthesis of a hundred measurements provides a basis for estimating the average annual organic carbon ( $C_{org}$ ) fixation at 1.30 t  $C_{org}$  ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> and sequestration at 0.28 t  $C_{org}$  ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>. While this annual carbon fixation represents less than 1% on average of CO<sub>2</sub> releases for all Mediterranean countries, in the large Mediterranean islands the fixation is on average 3.1% and can reach almost 14.4% (Corsica). The mean stock in the top 250 cm of matte (matte mean thickness) was estimated at 723 ± 46 t  $C_{org}$  ha<sup>-1</sup>. This value corresponds to several decades of carbon release accumulated in the matte for Mediterranean countries. Even by integrating inorganic carbon ( $C_{inorg}$ ) stocks (source of carbon due to calcification) the balance remains positive and the P. oceanica meadow appears as a major carbon sink in the Mediterranean Sea. Nevertheless, the restoration of P. oceanica meadows (and Blue Carbon Ecosystems) with the aim of climate change mitigation must be used with caution due to questionable cost-effectiveness.

Key-words: Seagrass, Carbon sink, Posidonia oceanica meadow, Climate change

#### Context

The strategies to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG), and notably carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) concentrations, are crucial for climate change mitigation. From the Paris Agreement COP 21 - 2015 to the One Planet Summit for the Ocean – 2022, interest in natural carbon sinks and more especially Blue Carbon ecosystems has intensified (Fig. 1). These Nature-Based Solutions are the subject of widespread discussion and controversy as to their effectiveness and cost (Williamson and Gattuso, 2022).

Carbon fixation in the oceans (Blue Carbon - BC) accounts for more than half of the carbon fixed in the biosphere. Although it mainly corresponds to the action of phytoplankton, coastal vegetated ecosystems play a particular role despite their limited surface area (-0.5% of the surface area of the ocean), (Nellemann *et al.*, 2009). These habitats (mangrove forests, tidal salt marshes and seagrass meadows) fix more than 18% of the BC and store more than 50% as organic carbon ( $C_{org}$ ) in their sediments for long periods of time.

Among these BC ecosystems, *Posidonia oceanica* plays a major role in the Mediterranean Sea with an extension estimated at more than 2 million hectares (Traganos *et al.*, 2022). If its carbon fixation fixation capacity can be compared to that of terrestrial forests (around 5 t  $CO_{2eq}$  ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>), the sequestration of this  $C_{org}$ , in a specific structure called 'matte', is much higher (between 20 and 25%) and it can be stored over millennia (Pergent-Martini *et al.*, 2021).



Fig. 1: Integration of coastal and marine vegetated ecosystems in the international discussions concerning mitigation of climate change.

This matte, constituted by interwined rhizomes and roots filled with sediment, can reach several meters in height (Kendrick *et al.*, 2005; Fig. 2). As a result, the  $C_{org}$  storage below *P. oceanica* meadows has been shown to be 2 500 to 3 000 t  $CO_{2eq}$  ha<sup>-1</sup> corresponding to the highest  $C_{org}$ storage in the soil for major ecosystem types (IUCN, 2021; Monnier *et al.*, 2022).



Fig. 2: Escarpments of *Posidonia oceanica* matte with living shoots.

#### Carbon fluxes in Posidonia oceanica meadows

*P. oceanica* meadows act as 'sponge' for  $C_{org}$ . The seagrass meadows capture this  $C_{org}$  from the water column during the photosynthesis process and sequesters it in the matte for a long period of time (centuries to millennia). Furthermore, *P. oceanica* contributes to the burial of inorganic carbon ( $C_{inorg}$ ), mainly associated with calcifying organisms living within the meadow which may constitute a source of carbon (Fig. 3).

The synthesis of a hundred measurements made throughout the Mediterranean Sea and at depths between 0.5 and 32.0 m provides a basis for estimation of the average primary leaf production (Pergent-Martini *et al.*, 2021). Considering a depth of 15 m, which corresponds to

the average depth of *P. oceanica* meadows in the Mediterranean Sea (UNEP/MAP-RAC/SPA, 2015), the annual primary leaf production (blades and sheaths) is estimated at 343 g DW m<sup>-2</sup> (1.3 t  $C_{org}$  ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>), which corresponds to nearly 10 million t  $CO_{2eq}$  per year at Mediterranean scale.



Fig 3: Conceptual model of carbon fluxes in a *Posidonia oceanica* meadow.

The balance between *Posidonia oceanica* fixation and  $CO_2$  country emission varies considerably, with for example 0.12% for France (moderate *P. oceanica* surface area and very high  $CO_2$  release) and 13.2% for Tunisia (very high *P. oceanica* surface area and low  $CO_2$  release). The average for a Mediterranean country is a little less than 1% while this value exceeds 3% for the six main Mediterranean islands.

The sequestration of  $C_{org}$  in the matte results mainly from autochtonous (*i.e. Posidonia oceanica* dead leaf sheaths, rhizomes and roots, but also epiphytes) and allochthonous sources (*i.e.*, water column seston, adjacent ecosystems – macroalgae). The mean value is estimated at 0.28 t C ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup>, that is to say more than 2 million t  $CO_{2eq}$  per year at Mediterranean scale (Pergent-Martini *et al.*, 2021).

Values for *P. oceanica* matte thickness were scarce in the Mediterranean Sea. A large-scale assessment was performed along 100 km of the east coast of Corsica (Fig. 4A). This estimate, achieved using geophysical seismic reflection equipment coupled with ground truthing and coring data (Monnier *et al.*, 2021), highlighted a mean matte thickness of 2.5 m (maximum value: 8.7 m). This value is similar to other values recorded by Leduc *et al.* (*in press*) along the west coast of Corsica (2.2 m) and throughout the Mediterranean (Lo Iacono *et al.*, 2008; Tomasello *et al.*, 2009).

Matte datation and carbon content were estimated, along the east coast of Corsica, after the sampling and analysis of 39 cores. The collection of cores was performed under a wide range of environmental conditions (water depth, depositional environment, sediment matrix), with a Kullenberg gravity corer during the oceanographic survey Carbonsink (R/V L'Europe, Ifremer). The mean age of *P. oceanica* matte, performed using radiocarbon (<sup>14</sup>C) analysis, was 3 967 cal. yr BP (maximum value: 9 073 cal. yr BP), attesting to *P. oceanica* meadows at the beginning of the Holocene period. The mean C<sub>org</sub> and C<sub>inorg</sub> stocks show a significant

variability with depth, sediment matrix and depositional environment. In the top 1.0 m of matte, the mean stock has been estimated at  $327 \pm 15$  t  $C_{org}$  ha<sup>-1</sup> and  $245 \pm 45$  t  $C_{inorg}$  m<sup>-2</sup> and reached  $723 \pm 46$  t  $C_{org}$  ha<sup>-1</sup> and  $605 \pm 99$  t  $C_{inorg}$  m<sup>-2</sup> in the top 2.5 m. The balance between  $C_{org}$  and  $C_{inorg}$  stock found in the top 1.0 and 2.5 m confirms that *P. oceanica* constitutes a net carbon sink (Fig. 4B, 4C). The upscaling of  $C_{org}$  stocks in the top 2.5 m of matte along the coastline of Corsica has led to an assessment of 37 million t  $C_{org}$  (135 million t  $CO_{2eq}$ ) that is to say 77 years of  $CO_2$  emissions by the Corsican population (www.globalcarbonatlas.org).



Fig. 4: Prediction map of the *Posidonia oceanica* matte thickness at the study site (A) and contribution of the top 100 cm (B) and 250 cm (C) of *Posidonia oceanica* matte as  $CO_2$  sink (in green) or  $CO_2$  source (in red) based on the balance between  $C_{org}$  and  $C_{inorg}$  stocks (Monnier *et al.*, 2022).

#### Take home message

In the present state of knowledge, five main points should be highlighted:

- Posidonia oceanica meadows fix and store a large amount of Corg and Cinorg
- Posidonia oceanica meadows act as a net CO2eq sink in the Mediterranean Sea

- Conservation of *Posidonia oceanica* meadows appears to be the best strategy to maintain this significant carbon stock and to avoid emissions (carbon dioxide, methane)

- Restoration of *Posidonia oceanica* meadows (and Blue Carbon Ecosystems) must be used with caution as a strategy for reducing climate change (questionable cost-effectiveness)

- Restoration of *Posidonia oceanica* meadows must be integrated within a global strategy integrating all associated ecosystem services and biodiversity

#### Acknowledgments

This work would not have been possible without the participation of the oceanographic research vessel L'Europe (IFREMER) and its crew (GENAVIR), provided by the Flotte Océanographique Française for the CoralCorse, PosidCorse and Carbonsink surveys. This research was financially supported by the Office Français de la Biodiversité, the Collectivité de Corse (PADDUCCHANGE program), the Office de l'Environnement de la Corse.

#### **Bibliography**

- IUCN (2021) Manual for the creation of Blue Carbon projects in Europe and the Mediterranean. Otero, M. (Ed)., 144 pages.
- KENDRICK G.A., MARBA N., DUARTE C.M. (2005) Modelling formation of complex topography by the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica*. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 65(4): 717-725.
- LO IACONO C., MATEO M. Á., GRACIA E., GUASCH L., CARBONELL R., SERRANO L., SERRANO O., DANÕBEITIA J. (2008) - Very high-resolution seismo-acoustic imaging of seagrass meadows (Mediterranean Sea): Implications for carbon sink estimates. *Geophys. Res. Lett.*, 35(18): 1-5.
- MONNIER B., PERGENT G., MATEO M.Á., CLABAUT P., PERGENT-MARTINI C. (2022) -Quantification of blue carbon stocks associated with *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass meadows in Corsica (NW Mediterranean). *Sci. Total Environ.*, 838: 155864.
- MONNIER B., PERGENT G., MATEO M.Á., CARBONELL R., CLABAUT P., PERGENT-MARTINI C. (2021) - Sizing the carbon sink associated with *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass meadows using very high-resolution seismic reflection. *Mar. Environ. Res.*, 170: 105415.
- NELLEMANN C., CORCORAN E., DUARTE C.M., VALDE L., DE YOUNG C., FONSECA L., GRIMSDITCH G. (2009) Blue carbon: the role of healthy oceans in binding carbon. Rapid Response Assessment. Report United Nations Environment Programme/GRID-Arendal, Norway.
- PERGENT-MARTINI C., PERGENT G., MONNIER B., BOUDOURESQUE C.F., MORI C., VALETTE-SANSEVIN A. (2021) Contribution of *Posidonia oceanica* meadows in the context of climate change mitigation in the Mediterranean Sea. *Mar. Environ. Res.*, 165: 105236.
- TRAGANOS D., LEE C.B., BLUME A., POURSANIDIS D., CIZMEL H., DETER J., MACIC V., MONTEFALCONE M., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTINI C., RICART A.M., REINARTZ P. (2022) - Spatially Explicit Seagrass Extent Mapping Across the Entire Mediterranean. *Front. Mar. Sci.*, 9: 871799.
- TOMASELLO A., LUZZU F., DI MAIDA G., ORESTANO C., PIRROTTA M., SCANNAVINO A., CALVO S. (2009) Detection and mapping of *Posidonia oceanica* dead mat by high-resolution acoustic imaging. *Ital. J. Remote Sens.*, 41(2): 139-146.
- WILLIAMSON P., GATTUSO J.P. (2022) Carbon Removal Using Coastal Blue Carbon Ecosystems Is Uncertain and Unreliable, With Questionable Climatic Cost-Effectiveness. *Front. Clim.* 4: 853666.

\*\*\*\*\*

# ORAL COMMUNICATIONS

\*\*\*\*\*

Valentina ASNAGHI, CHIANTORE M., KALEB S., DE LA FUENTE G., SRIJEMSI M., SAVONITTO G., CLAUSING R., CIRIACO S., MEROTTO L., MARCHESE F., KASTELIC L., SEGARICH M., FALACE A.

DiSTAV - University of Genoa (Italy), E-mail: falace@units.it

# TOWARDS THE RESTORATION OF CANOPY-FORMING BROWN ALGAE IN THE MEDITERRANEAN SEA: MAJOR CHALLENGES AND WINS

#### Abstract

In the Mediterranean, marine macroalgal forests of the genus Cystoseira sensu lato play a valuable role as foundation species. As there is evidence of decline or loss of these habitats due to direct and indirect human impacts, active restoration measures are promoted by European legislation. Within the EU project ROCPOP Life, ex situ restoration was used to repopulate two different Cystoseira s.l. species: Ericaria amentacea (C. Agardh) Molinari & Guiry and Gongolaria barbata (Stackhouse) Kuntze. This non-destructive method consists of three main steps: i) collecting the fertile apices in the donor sites, ii) growing the seedlings on tiles in mesocosms, and iii) outplanting the tiles with juveniles in the field. As the two target species thrive in different habitats (midlittoral for E. amentacea and subtidal for G. barbata), these species are exposed to different environmental pressures. Therefore, the implementation of ex situ restoration activities was designed according to the requirements of each species and the challenges of their environment. In the case of E. amentacea, the tiles with the juveniles were bolted directly onto rocks in the midlittoral, where heat, desiccation and wave exposure pose the greatest challenges. For G. barbata, floating structures suspended in the water column and multiple attachment devices with cages were used to avoid grazing, which was the biggest challenge at the recipient site. However, unpredictable challenges such as thermal anomalies, huge storms, and others were also tackled during the grow out phase. Nonetheless, relevant results were achieved regarding validation of the culture protocols, macroalgal growth, welfare and improvement of ecological quality, encouraging further development of this novel approach to marine biodiversity conservation.

Key-words: ecological restoration, canopy-forming algae, *Ericaria amentacea*, *Gongolaria barbata*, *ex situ* outplanting, ROCPOPLife

#### Introduction

Coastal marine ecosystems are subject to multiple stressors such as climate change and local anthropogenic pressures that can lead to loss of biodiversity and functioning and may result in a degraded ecosystem state. Brown canopy-forming macroalgae, kelps and fucoids, play an important role in controlling spatial habitat heterogeneity, productivity and nutrient cycling in these coastal systems, where they create complex habitats with high biodiversity. However, the functioning of these foundation species is under threat, and restoration actions are strongly encouraged by European policies, as well as by the United Nations, which has declared 2021–2030 the Decade on Ecosystem Restoration. In the Mediterranean Sea, the most important canopy-forming algae are the species of the genus *Cystoseira sensu lato* (Fucales), but their decline and loss have been recorded throughout the northern Mediterranean coast (Mancuso *et al.*, 2018). As a result, these

species have become a target for restoration in this biogeographical region, where various non-destructive techniques such as enhancing recruitment potential *in situ* (Verdura *et al.*, 2018; Medrano *et al.*, 2020) or the deployment of laboratory-cultured juveniles on rocky coasts, i.e. *ex situ* outplanting (Sales *et al.*, 2011; De La Fuente *et al.*, 2019), are being used.

Within ROCPOP Life project, aiming to re-establish *Cystoseira s.l.* population at target locations along the Italian coast in order to enhance biodiversity and related ecosystem functions, the *ex situ* method has been chosen and adapted to the environmental challenges faced bythe two target species. In the Ligurian Sea, *ex situ* outplanting restoration procedures were applied focusing on the intertidal *Ericaria amentacea* (C. Agardh) Molinari & Guiry. In the North Adriatic (Gulf of Trieste) the target species was *Gongolaria barbata* (Stackhouse) Kuntze. In the present manuscript, key considerations for a successful restoration of these species are discussed.

#### Material and methods

The ex situ outplanting of E. amentacea and G. barbata was performed in the Cinque Terre MPA (Ligurian Sea) and Miramare MPA (North Adriatic, Gulf of Trieste), respectively, in 4 consecutive reproductive seasons (2018-2021). Apical fronds were collected from healthy and fertile populations in the Portofino MPA (for the Ligurian Sea) and in the Landscape Park Strunjan (Slovenia, for the North Adriatic Sea). After collection, the apices were gently cleaned with tweezers and rinsed with filtered seawater to remove adhering biofouling and detritus. Cleaned apices were kept overnight in the dark and cold, after which spore release and culturing were conducted in environmentally controlled rooms, following the protocol described in Falace et al. (2018). Cultures were maintained in the laboratory of the University of Genoa and Trieste, for E. amentacea and G. barbata, respectively. As culture substrate, round clay tiles (4.5 cm in diameter) with a 0.6 cm hole at the centre (for later attachment with screws) were used. Von Stosch's enriched filtered seawater (VSE) was used as culture medium to enhance the growth rate of the algae, shorten the culture time and increase the size of the juveniles at the time of outplanting. After approximately three weeks of culturing, the clay tiles covered by E. amentacea and G. barbata juveniles were outplanted in the A Zone of Cinque Terre MPA and Miramare MPA, respectively. The deployment strategy differed for the two species: for the intertidal E. amentacea tiles were screwed individually to the rocks, while for the subtidal G. barbata dedicated anchoring structures were designed. In particular, the tiles were placed on prefabricated modular frames consisting of a 100×2.5cm flat perforated bar made of galvanised iron with four identical 50×2.5 cm bars arranged perpendicular to the first bar to form a rake-like shape. Each tile was fastened to the bar with a bolt at a fixed distance of about 5 cm from the other tiles, for a total of about 28 tiles per modular structure. The modular frames were specifically designed to mimic the spatial distribution pattern of adult C. barbata individuals at the donor site. Herbivore deterrents, consisting of two flexible metal mesh strips  $(3.5 \times 20 \text{ cm}, 0.5 \text{ cm} \text{ mesh size})$  crossed in the middle to form an X shape, were added to modular frames. The protective structure was formed by bringing the ends of the strips around the tile like the petals of a flower, creating a cage-like structure around each tile. Another strategy tested to deter grazers was the use of collective cages (about 50 tiles protected by a single cage): the tiles were fixed on a metal support on a 50cm x 50cm concrete plate to which the cage was attached. Another alternative methodology used for the subtidal species was hanging cultivation in situ in a lantern net. The tiles were attached to a single-level plastic lantern net (55 cm in diameter). This type of structure, suspended in the water column, is normally used for holding and fattening oysters and sea cucumbers. In the present study, this device was used as an intermediate step between culturing and outplanting, reducing rearing costs and helping avoid grazing in the field.

#### **Results & Discussion**:

*Ex situ* recruitment enhancement consists of three critical steps: 1) collection of fertile material from the donor site and transfer to hatcheries, 2) growing of juveniles in laboratory cultures, 3) transfer and outplanting at restoration sites. An additional step to be considered is monitoring over time to assess restoration success. The entire process should be ecologically sustainable and adaptable to the specific case studies (Fig. 1).

Species Habitat	Reproduction and Lab culture conditions	Outplanting challenges	Outplanting technique
Ericaria amentacea Midlittoral High hydrodynamics	Multiple tiny receptacles 20°C	<ul> <li>Moisture</li> <li>Heat</li> <li>Desiccation</li> <li>Wave exposure</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Rough clay tiles</li> <li>Screws</li> <li>Single attachment</li> <li>Outplanting in strictly protected areas</li> </ul>
Gongolaria barbata Sublitteral Low hydrodynamics	Reported fertile in April- May Single long subulate receptacles 14°C 125 µmoL photons m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> Enriched Medium culture Antibiotics (if needed)	<ul> <li>Grazing (fish, molluscs)</li> <li>Sedimentation</li> <li>Heat waves</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Rough clay tiles</li> <li>Screws</li> <li>Multiple attachment</li> <li>Antigrazing cages</li> <li>Outplanting in strictly protected areas</li> </ul>

Fig. 1: Summary of the main characteristics and challenges of the two *Cystoseira s.l.* species restored in the framework of the ROCPOP Life project

The location of the hatchery for juveniles culturing should be close to the collection site to ensure that healthy apices are brought to the laboratory. The Ligurian donor site is only a few kilometres (about 30 km) away from the laboratory of Genoa University. Landscape Park Strunjan, in the Adriatic Sea, is about 40 minutes away by boat and about an hour away by car. For this reason, transport by boat was initially chosen, which proved to be very fast and effective. Yet, in the framework of ROCPOP Life project, also a transport of apices to a more distant laboratory was tested: fertile apices collected in Punta Chiappa, Portofino MPA, were delivered to the facilities in Trieste (NE Italy) within 24 hours under dark, cold and humid conditions. This transport was successful and the apices were able to release gametes for the start of culture, with similar performance to transport over shorter distance.

A thorough knowledge of the target species is essential to select the optimal growing conditions (e.g., temperature, light intensity, photoperiod, nutrients) to achieve the maximum growth rate in the shortest possible time, thus reducing the time and cost of the process. Furthermore, accelerating the growth rate and achieving a higher yield in a short time brings several advantages: i) it is possible to carry out more than one cultivation during the limited fertile period, resulting in a higher number of recruits outplanted, thus providing the opportunity to restore larger areas; ii) seedlings are outplanted in the field

after they reach a refuge size (protection from at least some categories of grazers, i.e., micro- and meso-grazers such as molluscs or crustaceans), reducing vulnerability and consequently mortality; iii) larger seedlings facilitate monitoring during the initial phase in the field, an advantage that should not be overlooked as this is a crucial phase of restoration.

Under the ROCPOP Life project, six cultures of *E. amentacea* and six of *G. barbata* were performed over the 4 years of the project, and more than 100.000 juveniles of each species have been grown on tiles despite serious environmental issues affecting cultures and the COVID19 pandemic emergency.

After the culture period, when the recruits have reached the desired size, which may take 3-4 weeks, another delicate phase is the transport to the receiving site. The distance between the culturing lab and the receiving site, as well as the outside temperatures, must be considered. Optimal conditions must be ensured during transport to the collection site, especially in summer when air temperatures can reach 30-40 °C. In Liguria, the hatchery is about 80 km away from the receiving site (about 1 hour drive). A very high survival rate of juveniles on the tiles after transport was observed in all translocations performed in ROCPOP. A longer transport from Trieste to Cinque Terre (about 6 hours drive) was tested and was successful. Pictures of each tagged tile taken before leaving the laboratory and after relocation showed no differences in the percentage coverage of juveniles on the tiles before and after transport.

As for the deployment phase, in most restoration studies, whether *in situ* or *ex situ*, adults or tiles with juveniles are attached to the substrate with epoxy glue. However, this technique has several critical aspects: long condensation times, possible release of toxic compounds, mechanical stability, and unsightly aspects. The alternative proposed by ROCPOP Life is to use screws to attach the tiles. This method reduces the time and labour to attach tiles, the aesthetic impact on the rocky shore and strengthens the attachment, preventing possible slippage of the tiles due to wave action.

The environmental conditions of the site (e.g., currents, wave action) and the dispersal (gene flow) of the species used for restoration should be considered when planning the best planting pattern. The planting method and pattern should be species specific and may change significantly if restoration activities occur in the intertidal or subtidal zone.

In the intertidal zone, planting occurs by screwing tiles directly on the rocks within a long but narrow strip due to the microtidal conditions characteristic of most of the Mediterranean basin. In the Ligurian receiving site, the positioning height on the shore proved to be a decisive factor for the survival of the juveniles of *E. amentacea*: the survival rate after 12 weeks in the field on tiles placed in the lower zone was 84%, while only 10% of juveniles survived on tiles placed at a higher level.

In the subtidal zone, the planting pattern should consider a large area of substrate that may extend vertically through the zonation of the species, depending on the *Cystoseira s.l.* species. The use of modular structures for tiles attachment is envisaged given the difficulty of drilling holes by scuba diving. In the framework of ROCPOP Life, different types of modular frames for *G. barbata* were designed and tested in the Northern Adriatic also mitigate the effects of fish grazing, one of the major challenges in restoring subtidal macroalgae. The modular frames proved to be a suitable approach for outplanting subtidal *Cystoseira* species. Bolting the tiles onto the pre-assembled modular structures reduces the time, cost, and manpower requirements compared to other methods, thus offering great upscaling potential. On the other hand, the grazing deterrents, even if successful in protecting outplanted juveniles, require regular maintenance, making this approach not

sustainable for large-scale interventions. The use of suspended lantern net showed promising results, allowing to reduce cultivation time and efforts, enhancing juvenile growth and limiting the presence of grazers, which are typically found on vegetated rocky bottoms.

For large-scale restoration of *Cystoseira s.l.* the optimal pattern for planting should be planned in advance, taking into account the area of restoration and the number of restorations planned in the project. The method consists of planting patches of tiles with recruits that favour a spillover effect over time. In the first restoration effort, cores with recruits are placed far apart so that cores planted in subsequent years are placed between existing cores to close the gap. This method not only allows a large area to be covered, but also increases the success of a single restoration effort. Indeed, distributing recruits among multiple cores can reduce mortality caused by micro-local environmental conditions or biotic interactions (e.g., herbivores) compared to placing all recruits in a single patch.

Monitoring and evaluation are essential to determine if recovery projects are working as expected so that we achieve the intended benefits. Monitoring should be done both in the short and long term. Short term monitoring (< one year) is aimed at evaluating the efficacy of the chosen method, and it should be tailored depending on the ontogenetic phase of the restored individuals. We suggest that the monitoring frequency should be higher in the initial phases, e.g., biweekly, and could then be reduced to a monthly basis. For newly introduced individuals, it might be sufficient to quantify survival and growth rate. As the recruits reach a suitable size, other measurements should be added. Cover, density, morphological traits, and physiological metrics can be used to monitor their ability to adapt to the new environmental conditions generated from restoration. Monitoring measures are also important to develop the proper maintenance measures to control the abiotic and biotic factors that affect recruits at different life stages. An example is herbivory, producing negative effects in several subtidal transplantation experiments conducted in the Mediterranean. In addition, ecological quality should be evaluated after the implementation of the restoration measures and compared with the value previously determined. In the Cinque Terre MPA (particularly in Punta Mesco), ecological quality improved by one quality class after the restoration measures implemented by ROCPOP Life, from a good to a high ecological quality value (calculated with the CARLIT index). Long-term monitoring (at least until 3 - 5 years after the restoration action) aims to assess whether the introduced organisms are able to self-sustain. Fertility should be assessed at different times depending on the species restored. Indeed, different Cystoseira species reach the reproductive stage at different times: E. amentacea and G. barbata, for example, can become fertile after one year. Other monitoring activities should aim to assess changes in community structure (e.g., increase in number or type of species) or the appearance of new economically relevant species (fish or macroinvertebrates). Particular attention should be paid to detect new ecosystem services (e.g., water quality improvements, fisheries harvests, habitat provision, recreational activities such as snorkelling) that may contribute to human well-being.

If restoration has been successful, a new action can be planned. On the other hand, if an action was not successful, the results of monitoring can help to understand the causes of failure. If these are due to unexpected environmental factors, the recovery action should be completed. If the failure is due to methodological issues, efforts should be made to address them.

#### Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the LIFE financial instrument of the European Community, project ROCPOP-Life (LIFE16 NAT/IT/000816). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

#### **Bibliography**

- DE LA FUENTE G., CHIANTORE M., ASNAGHI V., KALEB S., FALACE A. (2019) First *ex situ* outplanting of the habitat-forming seaweed *Cystoseira amentacea* var. *stricta* from a restoration perspective. *PeerJ*, 7: e7290.
- FALACE A., KALEB S., DE LA FUENTE G., ASNAGHI V., CHIANTORE M. (2018) Ex situ cultivation protocol for Cystoseira amentacea var. stricta (Fucales, Phaeophyceae) from a restoration perspective. PloS ONE, 13 (2): e0193011.
- MANCUSO F.P., STRAIN E.M.A., PICCIONI E., DE CLERCK O., SARA G., AIROLDI L. (2018) -Status of vulnerable *Cystoseira* populations along the Italian infralittoral fringe, and relationships with environmental and anthropogenic variables. *Marine pollution bulletin*, 129 (2): 762-771.
- MEDRANO A., HEREU B., CLEMINDON M., PAGES-ESCOLA M., ROVIRA G.L., SOLA J., LINARES C. (2020) From marine deserts to algal beds: *Treptacantha elegans* revegetation to reverse stable degraded ecosystems inside and outside a No-take marine reserve. *Restoration Ecology*, 28 (3): 632-644.
- SALES M., CEBRIAN E., TOMAS F., BALLESTEROS E. (2011) Pollution impacts and recovery potential in three species of the genus *Cystoseira* (Fucales, Heterokontophyta). *Estuar Coast Shelf Sci*, 92 (3): 347-357.
- VERDURA J., SALES M., BALLESTEROS E., CEFALì M.E., CEBRIAN E. (2018) -Restoration of a canopy-forming alga based on recruitment enhancement: methods and longterm success assessment. *Front Plant Sci*, 9: 1832.

Patrick ASTRUCH, SCHOHN T., BELLONI B., CASSETTI O., CABRAL M., RUITTON S., MICHEZ N., MASINSKI I., HARTMANN V., BOUDOURESQUE C.F. GIS Posidonie, Aix-Marseille University, Marseille, France; <u>E-mail: patrick.astruch@univ-amu.fr</u>

## INVOLVING MANAGERS IN THE ECOSYSTEM-BASED ASSESSMENT OF MARINE HABITATS: A CASE STUDY IN FRENCH CATALONIA

#### Abstract

In the framework of the European Union LIFE 16IPE FR001 Marha project, Ecosystem-Based Quality Indices (EBQIs) provide a realistic assessment of the state and the functioning of ecosystems. The proposed EBQI was applied to four ecosystems of the north-western Mediterranean Sea: Posidonia oceanica Seagrass Meadows (POSM), Infralittoral Photophilous Reefs (IPR), Coralligenous Bioconcretions (CB), and Undersea Caves (UC). At over 29 sampling sites in the Natural Marine Park of the Gulf of Lion and in the Natural Marine Reserve of Cerbère-Banyuls (French Catalonia), results on POSM, IPR and CB have shown clear differences in ecosystem quality according to the management strategy and human activities. Results also highlighted the value of collaboration between scientists and managers, which provided useful data at both local MPA scale and regional scale (Monitoring Network). These data are useful for improving and adapting the initial protocols of the EBQI indices to enable their implementation in different ecological contexts and areas. Further investigations are obviously needed in other areas that are particularly influenced by global warming, different levels of anthropogenic pressures and related community shift issues.

**Key-words:** Ecosystem-based management, Ecosystem-Based Quality Index (EBQI), French Catalonia, Marine Protected Areas, ecosystem functioning

#### Introduction

Effective management of Marine Protected Areas (MPAs) calls for appropriate methods and descriptors to understand the functioning and the status of natural habitats and guide the decision-making process, particularly within the Mediterranean Sea. The Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD, 2008/56/EC) aims to maintain or improve the quality of marine ecosystems. One of the pillars of the MSFD is the ecosystem-based approach (EBA), an integrated concept that considers ecosystems functioning and related services for management purposes. The EBA may be considered as a milestone in the progress of humans' approach to environmental issues (Boudouresque et al., 2020). In that context, the aim of the European Union LIFE 16IPE FR001 Marha (Marine habitats) project is to improve the conservation status of marine habitats of European interest in France, according to the Habitats Directive (92/43/EC). To assess this conservation status, the EBA is a suitable tool for the purpose of properly characterising the structure and functioning of marine habitats. Several indicators were developed and have been applied in the frame of the Marha project: Ecosystem-Based Quality Indices (EBQI) developed for Posidonia oceanica Seagrass Meadows (POSM, Personnic et al., 2014), Coralligenous Bioconcretions (CB, Ruitton et al., 2014), Undersea Caves (Rastorgueff et al., 2015), and Infralittoral Photophilous Reefs (IPR, Thibaut et al., 2017). Managers at two local MPAs were trained to apply the EBQIs for that purpose: (i) the Natural Marine Reserve of Cerbère-Banyuls (NMRCB; French Catalonia, France), and (ii) The Natural Marine Park
of the Gulf of Lion (NMPGL, France). NMRCB was established in 1974 and has been managed by the Pyrénées Orientales local council since 1977. It corresponds to a 650-ha surface area including a 65-ha no-take zone (NTZ) added in 1981 (Cap Rédéris), where all fishing, mooring and diving activities are prohibited. The rest of the area is managed as an intermediate zone (IZ); spearfishing and trawling are prohibited while recreational and artisanal fishing are allowed but regulated. The main objective of the NMRCB is to protect the fauna and flora and to ensure that human activities are compatible with this protection. NMPGL was created in 2011; it encompasses a 400 000-ha surface area from the Spanish border to Cape Leucate. The park is managed by the French Biodiversity Office and is governed locally by a management board composed of 60 members representative of the territory. The Natural Marine Park ensures the comprehensive and non-fragmented management of an extensive maritime area. It integrates all public policies on biodiversity. The Park aims to meet three fundamental objectives: improving knowledge of the marine environment and its protection, and contributing to the sustainable development of maritime activities. To date, there are still no restricted areas within NMPGL (except for the NMRCB included in park). Here we present the results of the assessment of ecosystem quality in the two MPAs to highlight the potentiality of the EBA and its implementation in a context of collaboration between managers and scientists.

## Material and methods

The training of NMRCB and NMPGL agents was undertaken in three stages. (i) Training for EBQIs was attended by two marine biologists in June 2019. After a presentation of the concept of the EBA and EBQI protocols, 7 dives were organised to train the agents according to their skills and experience. (ii) In October 2020, an online meeting was organised to present the database to the managers. (iii) A second training session took place in July 2021 focused on some specific descriptors and technical issues at the request of the managers (e.g., invertebrate identification for CB and IPR). After the training, agents from the two MPAs were able to sample data and measure an EBQI for three different ecosystems. Between May 2020 and August 2021, 29 sites were sampled: 8 for POSM, 10 for IPR and 11 for CB. The protocols presented in the related publications (Personnic *et al.*, 2014; Ruitton *et al.*, 2014; Thibaut *et al.*, 2017) and in a guide dedicated to managers (Ruitton *et al.*, 2017) were used to measure the three EBQIs and the Confidence Index (CI).

#### Results

#### **Confidence Index (CI)**

The CI for all sampling sites and for all the three ecosystems ranges between 98 and 100%. *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass meadows

EBQI values for POSM ranges from 3.90 to 7.47. Six out of the eight sampling sites had an Intermediate ecological state, and only one Poor and one Good. The Principal Component Analysis (PCA) (Fig. 1 and Fig. 4) projects the sites according to the influence of the compartment (= box) status. Most of the boxes are few or nondiscriminant, such as sea birds (box 13a, 13b), *Pinna nobilis* density (5), meadow cover (2b), epibionta (3-4), other filter-feeders (6a, 6b). The most discriminating boxes between sites are carnivorous and piscivorous fish (10, 11, 10-11-12), litter (7) and detritus-feeders (8). The highest EBQI value was found in the no-take zone (H06 Pin Parasol).



Fig. 1: Principal Component Analysis showing the influence of functional compartments on the ecological status of the sampling sites considering *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass meadows (compartments derived from Personnic *et al.*, 2014); the EBQI value is in brackets.

#### **Infralittoral Photophilous Reef**

EBQI values for IPR ranges between 4.00 and 7.88. Six out of the ten sites have an Intermediate status, while 2 are Poor. One site is in a Very Good status (I08 Cap Rédéris, NTZ) and one is Good (I06, 3 Moines, IZ). The PCA (Fig. 2 and Fig. 4) shows that the highest values are strongly related with the fish assemblage boxes (6, 7-8, 9, 10). Sea birds (11a, 11b), invertebrate carnivorous *Hexaplex trunculus* (5b), filter-feeders (3) and macrophytes (1) explain few differences among sites.



Fig. 2: Principal Component Analysis showing the influence of functional compartments on the ecological status of the sampling sites considering Infralittoral Photophilous Reefs (compartments derived from Thibaut *et al.*, 2017); the EBQI value is in brackets.

#### **Coralligenous Bioconcretions**

EBQI values for CB ranges from 3.75 to 6.18. One site has a Good status, while 6 sites an Intermediate status and 4 sites a Poor status. Teleost assemblage boxes (6, 7, 8, 6-7-8) explain the differences among sampling sites, such as Clionaidae bioeroders (4a), non-calcareous macroalgae (2a, 2b), and grazers (5). The highest value is found in the no-take zone (C09, Sec Rédéris) (Fig. 3 and Fig. 4).



Fig. 3: Principal Component Analysis showing the influence of functional compartments on the ecological status of the sampling sites considering Coralligenous Bioconcretions (compartments derived from Ruitton *et al.*, 2014, 2017); the EBQI value is in brackets.



Fig. 4: EBQI values (in brackets) per site for the three ecosystems (square: POSM; circle: IPR; triangle: CB). Colours indicate the ecological status (dark blue: Very Good; blue: Good; green: Intermediate; yellow: Poor).

#### Discussion

EBQI appears to be a useful tool to better understand the ecosystem functioning at the MPA scale. It helps in the assessment of the ecological status of coastal ecosystems and of the MPA territory by MPA agents. The NMRCB and the NMPGL have been able to set up an effective local monitoring network. This new original dataset provides direct support for the managers in the current NMRCB extension project, arguing in favour of extending the no-take area and further conservation measures. In the frame of the Marha

project and the assessment of the conservation status of marine habitats of interest, these data are also useful at a larger scale (Habitats Directive and MSFD goals).

The application of EBQI in the Gulf of Lion has encountered specific biogeographical issues that must be taken into account. (i) POSM: the depth range of the seagrass meadows (about 3-15 m) does not allow the strict application of the recommended protocol (Personnic et al., 2014). Adjustments have been proposed to make the sampling possible, e.g. the status of shoot density must take into account the current depth and use the classification by Pergent (2007). Paracentrotus lividus density was much higher than in the eastern part of the French Mediterranean coasts. This density could be considered either as the consequence of an input of organic matter linked with pollution, or it is probably a natural feature observed in this area. (ii) IPR: rocky reefs along the French Catalonian coast are characterised by a very low occurrence of canopy-forming perennial macrophytes, as a consequence of long-term decline (Thibaut et al., 2005); this leads to a Poor or Intermediate value for box 1, which has the highest weighting, decreasing the overall status. (iii) CB: Bioconstructors show a low specific diversity and bioeroders (Cliona spp.) are abundant. Compared to the eastern sites (e.g., Provence, Corsica), macrophytes are less abundant in assemblages dominated by filter-feeders (e.g., Cnidaria, Porifera, and Bryozoans).

Possible changes in the descriptors or the weighting of the functional compartments for the 3 monitored ecosystems might be mandatory and should be discussed jointly between managers and the experts involved in the application of the EBQIs. The goal is to consider the biogeographical differences between areas; this step is challenging, we have to keep in mind that EBQIs assess the functioning of an ecosystem, which varies naturally between sites, and is not only driven by anthropogenic factors. Robustness analysis is needed to validate the efficiency of the indices with or without method adjustment. However, our results show a strong influence of the management level. The highest values of ecological quality are obtained in the *Rédéris* NTZ for all ecosystems. Compartments linked with fish assemblages are the most discriminant among the sampling sites. Fishing is known to be one of the most strongly impacting activities, affecting both the integrity of the seabeds (Quemmerais-Amice et al., 2020) and fish stocks. The low status of teleost assemblages measured in our study, except within the NMRCB (NTZ and IR), is in line with this observation. We suggest applying EBQI to other Mediterranean areas with other biogeographical contexts influenced by anthropogenic activities, water warming and the spread of Non-Indigenous Species inducing phase shift with major consequences on the ecosystem functioning (Occhipinti-Ambrogi, 2007; Montefalcone et al., 2015). In such areas, an EBA could be of help in the face of current and upcoming management issues.

#### Acknowledgment

We kindly thank the European Commission (LIFE 16IPE FR001 Marha) and the French Biodiversity Office (OFB) for financial support, all agents involved in the training and data sampling activities and Michael Paul for proof-reading of the text.

#### Bibliography

BOUDOURESQUE C.F., ASTRUCH P., BĂNARU D., BLANFUNE A., CARLOTTI F., FAGET D., GOUJARD A., HARMELIN-VIVIEN M., LE DIREACH L., PAGANO M., PASQUALINI V., PERRET-BOUDOURESQUE M., ROUANET E., RUITTON S., SEMPERE R., THIBAULT D., THIBAUT T. (2020) - Global change and the management of Mediterranean coastal habitats: a plea for a socio-ecosystem-based approach. *In*: Evolution of Marine Coastal Ecosystems under the Pressure of Global Changes, Springer: 297-320.

- MONTEFALCONE M., VASSALLO P., GATTI G., PARRAVICINI V., PAOLI C., MORRI C., BIANCHI C.N. (2015) The exergy of a phase shift: ecosystem functioning loss in seagrass meadows of the Mediterranean Sea. *Est. Coast. and Shel. Sci.*, 156: 186-194.
- OCCHIPINTI-AMBROGI A. (2007) Global change and marine communities: alien species and climate change. *Mar. Poll. Bull.*, 55(7-9): 342-352.
- PERGENT G. (2007) Protocole pour la mise en place d'une surveillance des herbiers de posidonie. Programme « MedPosidonia » / CAR/ASP – Fondation d'entreprise TOTAL pour la Biodiversité et la Mer. Mémorandum d'Accord N°21/2007/RAC/SPA/ MedPosidonia Nautilus-Okianos : 24 p + Annexes.
- PERSONNIC S., BOUDOURESQUE C.F., ASTRUCH P., BALLESTEROS E., BLOUET S., BELLAN-SANTINI D., BONHOMME P., THIBAULT-BOTHA D., FEUNTEUN E., HARMELIN-VIVIEN M., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTINI C., PASTOR J., POGGIALE J-C., RENAUD F., THIBAUT T., RUITTON S. (2014) - An Ecosystem-Based Approach to Assess the Status of a Mediterranean Ecosystem, the *Posidonia oceanica* Seagrass Meadow. *PLoS ONE*, 9(6): e98994.
- QUEMMERAIS-AMICE F., BARRERE J., LA RIVIERE M., CONTIN G., BAILLY D. (2020) -A methodology and tool for mapping the risk of cumulative effects on benthic habitats. *Fron. Mar. Sci.*, 7: 569205.
- RASTORGUEFF P-A., BELLAN-SANTINI D., BIANCHI C.N., BUSSOTTI S., CHEVALDONNE P., GUIDETTI P., HARMELIN J-G., MONTEFALCONE M., MORRI C., PEREZ T., RUITTON S., VACELET J., PERSONNIC S. (2015) - An ecosystem-based approach to evaluate the ecological quality of Mediterranean undersea caves. *Ecol. Ind.*, 54: 137-152.
- RUITTON S., BOUDOURESQUE C.F., THIBAUT T., RASTORGEFF P.-A., PERSONNIC S., BOISSERY P., DANIEL B. (2017) - *Guide méthodologique pour l'évaluation écosystémique des habitats marins*. MIO *publ.*, 161 pp.
- RUITTON S., PERSONNIC S., BALLESTEROS E., BELLAN-SANTINI D., BOUDOURESQUE C.F., CHEVALDONNE P., BIANCHI C.N., DAVID R., FERAL J.P., GUIDETTI P., HARMELIN J.G., MONTEFALCONE M., MORRI C., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTINI C., SARTORETTO S., TANOUE H., THIBAUT T., VACELET J., VERLAQUE M. (2014) - An ecosystem-based approach to assess the status of the Mediterranean coralligenous habitat. *In*: BOUAFIF C., LANGAR H., OUERGHI A. (eds.), *Proceedings of the 2<sup>nd</sup> Mediterranean symposium on the conservation of coralligenous and other calcareous bio-concretions*. RAC/SPA *publ.*, Tunis: 153-158.
- THIBAUT T., BLANFUNE A., BOUDOURESQUE CF., PERSONNIC S., RUITTON S., BALLESTEROS E., BELLAN-SANTINI D., BIANCHI CN, BUSSOTTI S., CEBRIAN E., CHEMINEE A., CULIOLI J-M., DARRIEN-COURTEL S., GUIDETTI P., HARMELIN-VIVIEN M., HEREU B., MORRI C., POGGIALE J-C., VERLAQUE M. (2017) - An ecosystem-based approach to assess the status of Mediterranean algae-dominates shallow rocky reefs. *Mar. Poll. Bull.*, 117: 311-329.
- THIBAUT T., PINEDO S., TORRAS X., BALLESTEROS E. (2005) Long-term decline of the populations of Fucales (*Cystoseira* spp. and *Sargassum* spp.) in the Albères coast (France, North-western Mediterranean). *Mar. Poll. Bull.*, 50(12): 1472-1489.

# Thomas BOCKEL, BOISSERY P., DELARUELLE G., DETER J., GERVAISE C., HOLON F.

Andromède océanologie, 34130 Mauguio (France) E-mail: gwenaelle.delaruelle@andromede-ocean.com

# A NEW MAP ATLAS OF COASTAL MARINE BIODIVERSITY

#### Abstract

Since 2010, biological monitoring data on the marine environment have been acquired to contribute to the Water Framework Directive (WFD 2000/60/EC) and the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD 2008/56/EC).

Published in 2020, the map atlas of the French Mediterranean coastal water quality proposes a new integrated mean to estimate the status of Posidonia oceanica meadows and coralligenous reefs and by extension the final status of water bodies hosting them (according to five categories). The final status is based on a triplet: 1) ecological status - indicators based on bibliography and expert proposals in the light of current knowledge; 2) functioning status- assessed by fish diversity through metabarcoding environmental DNA, by the biophony of fish, crustaceans and other benthic invertebrates and by the vitality of erect species; 3) the level of threats - based on 11 anthropogenic pressures. In total, 430 recent biological data (less than six years old) obtained from six monitoring programs are combined. All these data are interpreted and synthesised in 83 maps accessible on the MEDTRIX platform (Atlas project).

Based on current knowledge and available information, a good final ecological status is achieved in 74% of water bodies considering coralligenous reefs and 61% considering Posidonia meadows. Functioning is altered in most of the water bodies and downgrades the final ecological status (80% of the coralligenous reefs and 45% of the seagrass beds).

This atlas makes it possible to better qualify the conservation status of seagrass beds and coralligenous areas by integrating information on ecological functioning. It helps to refine the identification of priority sectors, to highlight the results of the monitoring programs and to inform the public. This data can help coastal communities, government services and sea users to better understand and therefore better protect underwater biodiversity.

Key-words: atlas of marine biodiversity, *Posidonia oceanica*, coralligenous reefs, ecological status, functional status

#### Introduction

Knowledge efforts regarding the Mediterranean marine environment have been improved over the past 30 years strengthened in 2006 by the Water Framework Directive (WFD - 2000/60/EC) in the fields of chemistry, biology and pressures. Monitoring was even further expanded in 2016 in chemistry and biology (particularly ecosystem functioning) in order to contribute more actively to the Marine Strategy Framework Directive ((MSFD 2008/56/EC)). Thus, since 2010, several programs have been set up to collect a large amount of data and evaluate the health status of two key ecosystems in the French Mediterranean: Posidonia meadows (*Posidonia oceanica*) and coralligenous reefs (MEDTRIX, 2022).

Biological data obtained from TEMPO (Posidonia meadow) and RECOR (coralligenous reefs) monitoring networks form the basis for knowledge and understanding of these two ecosystems. These specific data collected every three years in each French region on 118 TEMPO's sites and 112 RECOR's sites located all along the French Mediterranean

coastline make it possible, *in fine*, to assess the general status of these habitats (according to the definition of the European directives concerned). This assessment takes into account the difference between the measured status and a reference status (within the framework of biological monitoring, a reference status is not assessed on a TEMPO or RECOR site in particular; each parameter measured is compared to a reference value fixed per region, i.e. a maximum value observed since the start of measurements, all sites combined, and which may therefore change during monitoring) and, if possible, a baseline ("pristine").

This data is supplemented by other monitoring networks operated simultaneously during the same field campaign: PISCIS (fish populations), CALOR (water temperature) and CALME (acoustics). Area-based data acquired over longer periods of time complement these biological data: the IMPACT (modelling of coastal anthropic pressures) and SURFSTAT (area-based analysis of marine habitats) networks.

These networks are operated during multi-network campaigns in order to optimise the costs of the monitoring programs but also to ensure better interpretation, particularly for the link between ecological status and ecological functioning. They are also constantly being optimised in terms of equipment and techniques (diving techniques, underwater data acquisition techniques, database and mapping tools).

In order to better understand all the information acquired during these monitoring programs (RECOR, TEMPO, PISCIS, CALME, SURFSTAT and IMPACT), the most recent data has been grouped together and synthesised in a map atlas (ANDROMEDE OCEANOLOGIE, 2020). Published in 2020, the map atlas of the French Mediterranean coastal water quality proposes a new integrated means to estimate the status of *Posidonia oceanica* meadows and coralligenous reefs and by extension the final status of water bodies hosting them.

#### Materials and methods

For the Posidonia meadows, the assessment of ecological status combines three indicators for Posidonia as a plant: 1) Vitality index based on the BiPo (Biotic Index using *Posidonia oceanica*) index (Lopez y Royo *et al.*, 2010); 2) Index of evolutionary dynamics at the lower limit, which takes into account the evolution of the shoots density (in %) and the microsurface dynamics of the meadow (% regression and/or progression) between each monitoring on the same site; 3) Surface indicator calculated by combining two landscape indices: decline and cohesion (Houngnandan *et al.*, 2020). The assessment of the ecological functioning of the meadow also combines three indicators: 1) the diversity index of ichthyological populations through metabarcoding environmental DNA; 2) the biophonic quality index of fish (Di Iorio *et al.*, 2018); 3) the biophonic quality index of undex of undex of pressures considers the index of cumulative impacts on the seagrass based on 11 anthropogenic pressures (Holon, 2015; Holon *et al.*, 2015).

For coralligenous reefs, the assessment of ecological status combines three indicators based on the analysis of photographic quadrats acquired in the framework of the RECOR network (Deter et al., 2012a, 2012b, Doxa *et al.*, 2016): 1) Sessile species vitality index based on the Coralligenous Assemblages Index (Deter *et al.*, 2012a, 2012b); 2) Filamentous algae bloom indicator, 3) Coralligenous dynamics indicator which corresponds to the percentage of necrosis of bioconstructive algae. The evaluation of the ecological functioning of the coralligenous also combines three indicators: 1) the diversity index of the ichthyological populations through metabarcoding environmental

DNA; 2) the biophonic quality index of the invertebrates; 3) the vitality index of erect species (gorgonians). The assessment of the level of pressures considers the index of cumulative impacts on coralligenous reefs based on 11 anthropogenic pressures.

For each water body considered under the WFD, some indicators are calculated on the entire scale of the water body, while the others are measured at specific stations, known as reference stations, during TEMPO or RECOR monitoring. The indicators are combined according to different weights depending on their level of representativeness of the entire water body. When several sites are monitored in the same water body, the most downgraded (i.e., the least favourable) value of the index is taken into account. The final status of water bodies is then assessed for each habitat according to five categories.

# Results

In total, 430 recent biological data (less than six years old) obtained from six monitoring programs are combined. All these data are interpreted and synthesized in 83 maps accessible on the MEDTRIX platform (Atlas project), 39 for coralligenous reefs (Fig. 1) and 44 for Posidonia meadows (Fig. 2).



Fig. 1. Example of a map showing the final status of a waterbody for coralligenous reefs. The coloured dots in the inset on the right of the map indicate the quality of each indicator, allowing the assessment of the ecological status, the state of ecological functioning and the level of pressures for each ecosystem. The final status of each ecosystem is indicated in the title of the map. The location of the reference stations is indicated by a black triangle.



Fig. 2. Example of a map showing the final status of a waterbody for Posidonia meadows.

A good final ecological status is achieved in 74% of waterbodies considering coralligenous reefs and 61% considering Posidonia meadows. Functioning is altered in most of the water bodies and downgrades the final ecological status (80% of the coralligenous reefs and 45% of the seagrass beds).

Functioning is altered in most waterbodies (71% of water bodies for seagrass beds and 84% for coralligenous reefs) and degrades the final ecological status (80% of coralligenous reefs and 45% of seagrass beds). This significant alteration in the level of functioning of these habitats is not totally correlated with the levels of cumulative pressure, and future work will make it possible to better characterise this situation by adding "noise" and "professional and pleasure fishing" pressures to the IMPACT monitoring network.

# **Discussion and/or conclusions**

This atlas makes it possible to better qualify the conservation status of seagrass beds and coralligenous areas by integrating information on ecological functioning. It helps to refine the identification of priority sectors, to highlight the results of the monitoring programs and to inform the public. This data can help coastal communities, government services and sea users to better understand and therefore better protect underwater biodiversity.

# Bibliography

ANDROMEDE OCEANOLOGIE. (2020) - Atlas de synthèse – Année 2020. Surveillance biologique et qualité des eaux de Méditerranée. Edition Andromède Océanologie & Agence de l'eau RMC. 120 p. https://medtrix.fr/wp-content/uploads/2021/08/Atlas-de-surveillancebiologique-Synthese-2020\_06112020.pdf

- DETER J., DESCAMP P., BOISSERY P., BALLESTA L., HOLON F. (2012a). A rapid photographic method detects depth gradient in coralligenous assemblages. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol., 418–419: 75-82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2012.03.006.
- DETER J., HOLON F., DELARUELLE G., BOISSERY P. (2012b) Mise en place et développement du RECOR, un réseau de surveillance des peuplements du coralligène en mer Méditerranée. Analyse des données 2012, Contrat Andromède océanologie / Agence de l'eau (2011-2014). 220 pp. https://doi.org/10.4267/2042/53762
- DI IORIO L., RAICK X., PARMENTIER E., BOISSERY P., VALENTINI-POIRIER C.-A., GERVAISE C. (2018) "Posidonia meadows calling": a ubiquitous fish sound with monitoring potential. *Remote Sensing in Ecology and Conservation.*, 4(3): 248-263. https://doi.org/10.1002/rse2.72
- DOXA A., HOLON F., DETER J., VILLÉGER S., BOISSERY P., MOUQUET N. (2016) -Mapping biodiversity in three-dimensions challenges marine conservation strategies: The example of coralligenous assemblages in North-Western Mediterranean Sea. *Ecol. Indic.*, 61: 1042–1054. doi:10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.10.062
- HOLON F. (2015) Interactions entre écosystèmes marins et pressions anthropiques. Applications au suivi et à la gestion des eaux côtières de la mer Méditerranée. *Thèse de doctorat de l'Université de Montpellier*, France: 270 pp. https://tel.archives-ouvertes.fr/tel-01279487v1
- HOLON F., BOISSERY P., GUILBERT A., FRESCHET E., DETER J. (2015) The impact of 85 years of coastal development on shallow seagrass beds (*Posidonia oceanica* L. (Delile)) in South Eastern France: A slow but steady loss without recovery. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.*, 165: 204-212.
- HOUNGNANDAN F., KÉFI S., DETER J. (2020) Identifying key-conservation areas for *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass beds. *Biological Conservation*, 247, 108546.
- LOPEZ Y ROYO C., CASAZZA G., PERGENT-MARTINI C., PERGENT G. (2010) A biotic index using the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* (BiPo), to evaluate ecological status of coastal waters. *Ecol. Indic.*, 10: 380–389.
- LOSSENT, J., DI IORIO, L., VALENTINI-POIRIER, C. A., BOISSERY, P., & GERVAISE, C. (2017) Mapping the diversity of spectral shapes discriminates between adjacent benthic biophonies. *Marine Ecology Progress Series.*, 585: 31-48. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps12370
   MEDTPLY (2022) https://plotaforma.medtrix\_fr/\_Consulted\_on\_22/07/2022

MEDTRIX. (2022) - https://plateforme.medtrix.fr/. Consulted on 22/07/2022.

# Thomas BOCKEL, HOLON F., MARRE G, DELARUELLE G., BOISSERY P., DETER J.

Andromède océanologie, 34130 Mauguio (France)/ Université de Montpellier-UMR MARBEC

E-mail: thomas.bockel@andromede-ocean.com

# AIS DATA HELP TO MANAGE ANCHORING AND ITS IMPACT ON FRENCH SEAGRASS MEADOWS

## Abstract

The Mediterranean Sea is a hotspot for worldwide tourism. Its waters also host a remarkable biodiversity including the endemic marine seagrass Posidonia oceanica, which procures many valuable ecological services to the area.

The impact of boating activity through anchoring on the seagrass meadows has been documented and is considered particularly worrying for larger boats.

The anchoring behavior of large yachts equipped with Automatic Identification System (AIS) can be mapped precisely based on the analysis of the spatio-temporal distribution of boats positions.

Based on more than 75000 anchoring positions derived from AIS data between 2010 and 2018 in the French Mediterranean region, we have shown a strong increase in the number of anchoring events (x4), that 25% of the anchors were dropped on Posidonia meadows, and a loss of more than 100 ha of seagrass in some sectors in this period.

This knowledge participated in raising awareness on this under evaluated threat, leading in 2019 to new regulations in the region with the interdiction of anchoring in seagrass Posidonia oceanica for large boats (more than 24 meters) ("arrêté n° 123/2019").

Since the enforcement of the new regulation, AIS data analysis allowed us to show a decrease of approximately 20% of the number of large ships anchoring in Posidonia meadows between 2019 and 2021.

Smaller boats, which represent a majority, also have an impact when anchoring in seagrass. They most of time are not equipped with AIS. The challenge is now to localize their positions and quantify their impact.

Key-words: Impact, Anchoring, Seagrass, AIS, Monitoring

#### Introduction

Marine traffic is a priority human activity in our globalized society, but its impact on the environment is high (Walker *et al.*, 2019), in particular on sensitive marine habitats. Quantifying human pressures and their impacts is a major challenge in the marine environment (Halpern *et al.*, 2008), even greater when it comes to regulation enforcement and evaluation. The Automatic Identification System (AIS, communicating information of position and identification between ships to avoid collisions) while initially developed as a security tool, reveals an interesting asset in addressing this challenge, and was previously used to map anchoring pressures and impact on French marine habitats including the protected Posidonia seagrass beds (Deter *et al.*, 2017). *Posidonia oceanica* forms large meadows between the surface and approximately 40 meters deep. *P. oceanica* is very sensitive to anchoring pressure (Abadie, 2016) and shows a very slow recolonization speed once damaged (Boudouresque *et al.*, 2006). Major regressions of *P. oceanica* were observed in the Mediterranean Sea in the last century (Marbà *et al.*, 2014).

A European and national legal protection framework exists for *P. oceanica* (DCE, DCSMM, Natura 2000) for many years. New strict regulations have been adopted in the past two years in the French Mediterranean ("arrêté n°155/2016", "arreté 123/2019"), forbidding any anchoring in *P. oceanica* meadows for boats larger than 24 m.

Taking the study case of France, a hotspot for boating tourism in the world (UNEP/MAP, 2017), the objective of this paper is to show how AIS data can be used 1. to quantify the spatial distribution and the temporal evolution of anchoring pressure, and 2. to evaluate the effectiveness of the regulation.

# Materials and methods

The study area is the Mediterranean French coast including Corsica (1800 km coastline) between 0 and -80 m.

- AIS data 2010-2018 (Marine traffic) and 2019-2021 (AISHUB):

AIS data was collected from two different sources. AIS data from 2010 to 2018 came from Marine traffic database (ww.marinetraffic.com). Those AIS positions correspond to positions of declared anchoring activity, received by terrestrial AIS stations, with an hourly frequency. AIS data from 2019 to 2021 came from the AIShub network of receiving stations; those AIS data are raw positions that we collected with a frequency of one point every two minutes. AIS data contain information on boat identification, time of detection, position, direction, speed, dimensions, type, and destination.

The methodology used to obtain the anchoring positions from AIS positions (whatever the period) is derived from Deter et al. (2017). Originally, the authors filtered the AIS data with the following conditions: speed <1 knot, distance between the hourly AIS points  $\leq 600$  m, AIS points per vessel  $\geq 4$ , no anchoring within harbors or equipped mooring areas. They then fitted a regression circle to the AIS positions and its center was defined as the position of the anchor. In case of a calculated radius higher than 600 m, the centroid of AIS positions was considered as the position of the anchor. They finally defined the anchoring zone as a polygon including the anchoring position of a vessel and its AIS points and reduced it by one third in a concentric manner to obtain the anchoring impact area. We applied the same methodology in this study using R version 4.1.2. The computation challenges posed by the larger number of AIS positions, due to the use of raw AIS data, were addressed using PostgreSQL 9.6 and PostGIS 2.4 spatial database management tools.

All the anchoring positions are freely available for visualization in the cartographic platform Medtrix (www.medtrix.fr) on the "*suivi du mouillage*" project.

A major weakness of this method was highlighted in the literature (Deter *et al.*, 2017), showing that only 1/20 of the boats were detected with AIS compared to boats counted from land, mainly concerning small boats and medium boats (<50 meters). This weakness is partly addressed in this study by using raw AIS data instead of declared anchoring status only.

- Seabed habitat maps:

We used a 1:10,000 seabed habitat map (between 0 and -80 m) covering the entire study area. This continuous map was built in 2014 using a combination of aerial pictures, multibeam echosounder data, side-scan sonar data and direct observations ("ground-truth points") by divers (Andromède Océanologie 2014). This map is composed of eleven habitat classes: *Cymodocea nodosa* seagrass, *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass, dead matte association, infralittoral shingle association, infralittoral soft bottoms, photophilous algae association, coralligenous reefs (= biogenic reefs), circalittoral soft bottoms, artificial

habitats, offshore rocks and the bathyal zone. Dead matte association is the habitat resulting from the death of *P. oceanica* seagrass beds (Boudouresque et al., 2006). The seabed habitat map is freely available for visualization in the cartographic platform Medtrix (www.medtrix.fr) on the "DONIA expert" project.

- Mooring regulation:

The two recent prefectural decrees ( $n^{\circ}155/2016$  and in particular  $n^{\circ}123/2019$ ) were declined locally by 14 decrees between 2019 and 2021 with the definition of forbidden mooring areas.

A regulation database was created regrouping all polygons of anchoring interdiction. This regulation database is available freely for visualization on the cartographic platform Medtrix (www.medtrix.fr) on the "Donia" project.

- Data analysis:

The first analysis looked at the evolution of the number of anchoring events per year and size of the boat. This part of the analysis was performed separately for 2010-2018 period and the 2019-2021 period because the data source changed in 2019 making the absolute numbers not comparable. The positions before 2018 include only declared anchored positions while all boats positions are considered after 2018. A comparative analysis was performed for 2018 (both data were collected for this year) on the number of anchoring positions.

The ratio between the number of anchoring points, determined from declared anchored positions, and all boat positions is calculated for the year 2018 for which both datasets are available. This ratio equals 2.22 on average, ranging from close to 1 for boats larger than 40 m to almost 50 for boats smaller than 24 m (the low average is explained by a very small number of declared anchored positions for boats smaller than 24°m).

The proportion of anchoring events per habitat was then analyzed to investigate the effect of the regulation. This proportion is first plotted for the boats longer than 80 meters between 2014 and 2021, then for the boats longer than 24 meters between 2016 and 2021. This part of the analysis was focusing on proportions, we hence were able to analyze together the 2010-2018 and the 2019-2021 period. The habitat data were here grouped in four classes: *P. oceanica* seagrass, *P. oceanica* dead matte, soft bottom and other. For each class of boat size (+80 m and +24 m (+24°m includes +80°m)), the relationship between the variables habitat and year was tested with a Chi2 test in order to investigate the change of anchoring behavior with time before and after the regulation change (2016 for boats larger than 80 m and 2019 for boats larger than 24 m).

# Results

Between 2010 and 2021, the dataset used corresponds to more than 170000 anchoring positions (more than 50000 between 2010 and 2018 and more than 130000 between 2019 and 2021).

The number of anchoring positions constantly increased between 2010 and 2018. This trend appears visually consistent in every category of boat size. The number of anchoring positions with an unknown boat size is lower after 2015 than before.

The number of anchoring positions per marine habitat highlights contrasting results for the different categories of size of boats.

For boats longer than 80 meters, the number of anchoring positions on *P. oceanica beds* decreased from 2015 (99 positions, 19 %) to 2021 (34 positions, 5 %) (Fig. 1). The relationship between the variables habitat and year is significant (Chi<sup>2</sup>=145, p<10<sup>-15</sup>).



Fig. 1: Percentage of anchoring positions per year and habitat during the summer between 2010 and 2021 for boats with size higher than 80 m (number of anchoring positions inside bars).

For boats longer than 24 meters, the number of anchoring positions on the seagrass *P*. *oceanica* appears to be decreasing between 2020 (1665 positions, 35 %) and 2021 (443 positions, 9 %), when looking at the water bodies concerned by the local declinations of the prefectural decree n°123/2019 (Fig. 2). The relationship between the variables habitat and year is significant (Chi<sup>2</sup>=1043, p<10<sup>-15</sup>).



Fig. 2 Percentage of anchoring positions per year and habitat during the summer between 2010 and 2021 for pleasure boats with size higher than 24 m, on water bodies concerned by the local declinations of the prefectural decree  $n^{\circ}123/2019$  (number of anchoring positions inside bars).

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

This work shows that AIS data can be used efficiently to monitor anchoring pressure distribution and its evolution in time.

It highlights the efficiency of the new regulations regarding anchoring on *P. oceanica* in the French Mediterranean Sea. The evolution of anchoring events detected from AIS data well reflects the restrictions enforced by decree n°155/2016 and n°123/2019 regarding boats larger than 80 meters and boats larger than 24 meters respectively.

While a slight decrease is also observed for boats smaller than 24 meters, maybe due to an increasing communication on *P. oceanica* ecological importance and sensitivity to anchoring in the recent years, the anchoring behavior of small boats (smaller than 24 meters) remains almost unchanged with more than 1/3 of the anchoring events on *P. oceanica* in 2021.

AIS data therefore plays a very important role in the management of boating pressures and impacts, in particular those due to anchoring, in the French Mediterranean Sea. It effectively allows quantifying and mapping anchoring pressure but also evaluating the effectiveness of management measures.

Smaller boats are, however, mostly not equipped with AIS and knowledge is still needed on small boats anchoring pressures and impacts.

## Bibliography

- ABADIE A. (2016) Study of intermattes in *Posidonia oceanica* meadows. University of Liège, Liège, Belgium. *PHD Thesis*
- BOUDOURESQUE C.F., BERNARD G., BONHOMME P., CHARBONNEL E., DIVIACCO G., MEINESZ A., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTINI C., RUITTON S., TUNESI L. (2006) - Préservation et conservation des herbiers à Posidonia oceanica. RAMOGE pub.: 1-202. ISBN 2-905540-30-3
- DETER J, LOZUPONE X, INACIO A, BOISSERY P., HOLON H. (2017) Boat anchoring pressure on coastal seabed: Quantification and bias estimation using AIS data. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* 123(1-2):175–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2017.08.065
- HALPERN B.S., WALBRIDGE S., SELKOE K.A., KAPPEL C.V., MICHELI F., D'AGROSA C., BRUNO J.F., CASEY K.S., EBERT C., FOX H.E., FUJITA R., HEINEMANN D., LENIHAN H.S., MADIN E.M., PERRY M.T., SELIG E.R., SPALDING M., STENECK R., WATSON R. (2008) A Global Map of Human Impact on Marine Ecosystems. Science 319(5865):948–952. https://doi.org/10.1126/science. 1149345
- MARBÀ N., DÍAZ-ALMELA E., DUARTE C.M. (2014) Mediterranean seagrass (Posidonia oceanica) loss between 1842 and 2009. *Biological Conservation*, 176: 183–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.05.024

UNEP/MAP (2017) - Mediterranean Quality Status Report: 539 pp.

WALKER T.R., ADEBAMBO O., DEL AGUILA FEIJOO M.C., ELHAIMER E., HOSSAIN T., EDWARDS S.J., MORRISSON C.E., ROMO J, SHARMA N., TAYLOR S. ZOMORODI S. (2019) Environmental Effects of Marine Transportation. In: Sheppard C. (ed.), World Seas: An Environmental Evaluation (Second Edition). Volume III: Ecological Issues and Environmental Impacts, Academic Press:505–530. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-805052-1.00030-9. Charles-François BOUDOURESQUE, MARINIER M., CAVALIER M., DRIANCOURT T., BLANFUNÉ A., PERRET-BOUDOURESQUE M., THIBAUT T. Aix Marseille University, Mediterranean Institute of Oceanography (MIO), CNRS, IRD, Campus of Luminy, 12009 Marseille, France <u>E-mail: charles.boudouresque@mio.osupytheas.fr</u>

# THE PERCEPTION OF *POSIDONIA OCEANICA BANQUETTES* BY BEACHGOERS IN THE FRENCH RIVIERA

#### Abstract

In much of the Mediterranean, banquettes of dead leaves of the seagrass Posidonia oceanica washed up on beaches are removed by local authorities, who claim to do so to satisfy the wishes of beachgoers. This practice has serious consequences: the erosion of beaches, sand-replenishment and the further destruction of seagrass beds constitute a kind of vicious circle. But are beachgoers really demanding beaches without banquettes? A survey of the perception of beachgoers in the French Riviera shows that the people's dislike of the banquettes is much less strong than might be expected. A majority of beachgoers, whether frequent or occasional beach users, are not strongly opposed to beaches with banquettes (100% and 94% respectively), do not consider banquettes to be a nuisance (68% and 52%) and are aware of the importance of banquettes for the protection of beaches against erosion (66%). Once beachgoers are duly informed, this majority becomes overwhelming. By removing the banquettes of P. oceanica, the local authorities are therefore acting on the basis of their own perception rather than that of the real users.

Key-words: Beaches; Banquettes; French Riviera; Posidonia oceanica.

#### Introduction

The *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass, endemic to the Mediterranean Sea, forms extensive meadows from sea level down to 30-40 m depth (Boudouresque *et al.*, 2012). The consumption of leaves by herbivorous sea urchins (*Paracentrotus lividus*) and fish (*Sarpa salpa*) is usually low (Pergent *et al.*, 1994). As a result, after shedding, dead leaves constitute a litter within the *P. oceanica* meadow. Thereafter, according to currents and storms, these leaves are exported to all benthic ecosystems, from the infralittoral to the bathyal stages, where they constitute a significant contribution to the local food webs, *via* detritus-feeders (Boudouresque *et al.*, 2016).

Some of these dead leaves are washed up on the beaches. There, they form *banquettes*, the thickness of which can exceed 2 m. These *banquettes* constitute an important compartment of the Dune-Beach-Banquette (DBB) ecosystem, which characterizes the Mediterranean (Boudouresque *et al.*, 2017). They play a major role in the protection of beaches against erosion: where they are removed (see below), the beaches recede (Vacchi *et al.*, 2017).

All around the Mediterranean, local authorities are removing the *banquettes*. They claim to do so to satisfy the wishes of beachgoers (Simeone & De Falco, 2013; Otero *et al.*, 2018). Dead leaves and the accompanying sand are often pushed with backhoe loaders to the back of the beach, or to one side of the beach. In the worst cases, they are subsequently evacuated to a landfill. More rarely, they are pushed towards the sea or transported

offshore, in a barge, to be dumped there. This last treatment is the least damaging (Conseil Scientifique des Iles de Lérins & CREOCEAN, 2011; Otero *et al.*, 2018).

The removal of *P. oceanica banquettes* is an ecological and economic disaster (Chessa et al., 2000; Boudouresque et al., 2017; Otero et al., 2018; Fontaine et al. (2020); Boudouresque, 2021). (i) A large part of the fauna and flora of the DBB ecosystem is extirpated. (ii) The flow of dead leaves towards the dune, which contributes to both its construction and its supply in nutrients, is compromised. (iii) Sand is an important component of the *banquette* (up to 294 kg/m<sup>3</sup>); removing the *banquette* deprives the beach of large quantities of sand. (iv) The beach, which is no longer protected, recedes; the local authorities then carry out costly and ineffective sand-replenishment operations which, in a sort of vicious circle, accelerate the withdrawal of the beach. (v) Finally, the banquette is a rapidly changing structure: from one storm to another, and depending on the season, leaves arrive, are washed offshore, are washed back and/or change to another beach. Overall, the fate of most of the leaves of the *banquette* is to return to benthic ecosystems, where they constitute a major source of organic carbon and nutrients (Fig. 1). One cubic meter of banquette, once processed via food webs, represents ~35 kg fish (Boudouresque, 2021). For these reasons, several authors have developed the concept of 'ecological beach', based on the non-removal of banquettes (Serantoni, 2015; Boudouresque et al., 2017; Otero et al., 2018; Borrello et al., 2019; Scarpato et al., 2020).





Local authorities claim that they remove the *banquettes* from the beaches at the request of tourists and beachgoers. In doing so, they trigger a vicious circle, a kind of chain reaction, with serious ecological consequences, which may not matter to them, but which have disastrous economic consequences. But are beachgoers really demanding beaches without *banquettes*? Here, on the basis of a questionnaire for beachgoers from one of the most concerned regions, the French Riviera, we have tried to answer this question.

#### Material and methods

The questionnaire was drawn up by the authors. We chose to limit it to a small number of questions, formulated in simple and clear language, so that the response time ( $\sim 10 \text{ min}$ ) would not be a dissuasive factor in selecting respondents (Tab. 1). The questionnaire was

distributed on social networks (Snapchat, Instagram and Facebook) between October and November 2021 and reached about 550 people, 185 of whom responded, which is an acceptable rate in this type of survey. For questions Q7 and Q12, several answers could be given.

After a first round of the survey not accompanied by scientific explanations (questions Q1 through Q9), a brief scientific text was provided to the respondents. This explained: (i) The *banquettes* are part of a unique ecosystem housing many species often endemic to the Mediterranean. (ii) The *banquettes* are not a source of significant nuisance for users. (iii) *Banquettes* protect beaches against erosion. (iv) The dead leaves returning to the sea are a major source of carbon and nutrients for coastal ecosystems. (v) Their removal is costly and triggers a vicious cycle of ecological and economic damage. A second round was then organized for Question 8, with three supplementary questions (Q10 through Q12).

No of the	Question					
question						
Q1	Have you ever seen the banquettes of Posidonia oceanica?					
Q2	If there is a beach with <i>banquettes</i> , do you settle there or do you look for another beach?					
Q3	Do you consider the <i>banquettes</i> of <i>P.oceanica</i> as a nuisance or an inconvenience?					
Q4	In your opinion, do the banquettes house a lot of species?					
Q5 Q6 Q7	In your opinion, how important are <i>banquettes</i> in protecting beaches against erosion?					
Q6	Are the <i>banquettes</i> an unnatural phenomenon that negatively impacts biodiversity?					
Q7	What types of nuisances can the <i>banquettes</i> represent?					
Q8	Is the removal of the <i>banquettes</i> of <i>P. oceanica</i> beneficial for the coast or for the users?					
Q9	Assess the economic cost of removing the banquettes					
Q10	Assess the importance of <i>P. oceanica</i> with regards to the species diversity of coastal ecosystems					
Q11	Would you be ready to change your habits by going to beaches with banquettes?					
Q12	Would you be ready to get involved in the protection of the <i>banquettes</i> ?					

Tab. 1: The questionnaire (the original questionnaire was in French).

Additional questions made it possible to draw up a portrait of the respondents: age, profession, region of origin and frequency of beach visits. This latter information enabled us to divide respondents into two groups of unequal size: frequent users (more than 20 visits/year: n=57) and occasional users (less than 20: n=128). For each question,  $\chi^2$  tests were performed to assess the responses of the users to the questionnaire.

# Results

About 60% of respondents are 18 to 25 years old and 30 % are 40-60. Most of them live in the French *Région Sud* (French Riviera, southern Alps and Provence), but about one fifth comes from other regions or countries. A wide spectrum of professions are represented among the respondents, but the majority are students (56%), which is due to the mode of distribution of the questionnaire. This bias must be taken into account when interpreting the results. It is important to note that age, profession and origin do not differ significantly between the two groups of users (frequent and occasional) (results not presented).

As expected, occasional users know the *banquettes* less well (Q1) and avoid them more (Q2) than frequent users; the ratio of occasional users who find them a nuisance (Q3 and Q7) is higher, but not significantly. A majority of beachgoers, whether frequent or occasional beach users, are not strongly opposed to beaches with *banquettes* (Q2: 100% and 94% respectively), do not consider *banquettes* to be a nuisance (Q3: 68% and 52%) and are aware of the importance of *banquettes* in the protection of beaches against erosion (Q5: 66% and 65%). Once beachgoers are duly informed, this majority becomes

overwhelming (Q8); in addition, they are ready to change their habits (Q11) and even to invest time in the protection of the *banquette* (Q12) (Tab. 2 and 3).

No of	Frequent users $(n = 57)$		Occasional users $(n = 228)$		$\chi^2$
the		.,	occasional users (ii – 228)		$\sim$
question					
Q1	Yes: 95% - No: 5%		Yes: 81% - No: 19%		$\chi^2 = 5.10$ ; p>0.05 Proportion of users who have already seen a <i>banquette</i> significantly different
Q2	I settle there: 55% I look for another beach if not too distant: 45% I look for another beach, even if very distant: 0%		I settle there: 31% I look for another beach if not too distant: 63% I look for another beach, even if very distant: 6%		$\chi^2 = 11.56$ ; p>0.05. Proportion of users who decide to settle on a beach with or without <i>banquettes</i> significantly different
Q3	1 (not inconvenient): 17% 2: 41%. 3: 19%. 4: 21% 5 (very inconvenient): 2%	No: 68% Yes: 32%	1 (not inconvenient): 14% 2: 22%. 3: 31%. 4: 28% 5 (very inconvenient): 5%	No: 52% Yes: 48%	$\chi^2$ = 3.49; p<0.05. Proportion of users inconvenienced (yes) not significantly different
Q4	1 (few species): 2% 2: 12%. 3: 33%. 4: 24% 5 (many species): 29%	Few: 30% Many: 70%	1 (few species): 9% 2: 10%. 3: 32%. 4: 31% 5 (many species): 18%	Few: 35% Many: 65%	$\chi^2 = 0.24$ ; p<0.05. Proportion of users who think that a <i>banquette</i> hosts many species not significantly different
Q5	1 (not important): 7% 2: 14%. 3: 27%. 4: 31% 5 (very important): 21%	No: 34% Yes: 66%	1 (not important): 9% 2: 10%. 3: 32%. 4: 31% 5 (very important): 18%	No: 35% Yes: 65%	$\chi^2 = 0.001$ ; p<0.05. Proportion of users who thing that a <i>banquette</i> is important in protecting beaches against erosion not significantly different
Q6	<ol> <li>natural (no impact on biodiversity): 81%</li> <li>Unnatural without negative impact: 7%</li> <li>Unnatural with negative impact: 12%</li> </ol>		<ol> <li>natural (no impact on biodiversity): 76%</li> <li>Unnatural without negative impact: 8%</li> <li>Unnatural with negative impact: 16%</li> </ol>		$\chi^2 = 0.60; p<0.05.$ Proportion of users who think that a <i>banquette</i> is an unnatural phenomenon that impact biodiversity not significantly different
Q7	No nuisance: 26% Bad smell: 50% Human toxicity: 10% Negative impact on flora and fauna: 14%		No nuisance: 20% Bad smell: 47% Human toxicity: 11% Negative impact on flora and fauna: 22%		$\chi^2 = 2.05$ ; p<0.05. Proportion of users who think that a <i>banquette</i> is a nuisance not significantly different
Q8	1 (no beneficial): 31% 2: 17%. 3: 28%. 4: 14% 5 (very beneficial): 10%	No: 62% Yes: 38%	1 (no beneficial): 20% 2: 20%. 3: 35%. 4: 16% 5 (very beneficial): 9%	No: 57% Yes: 43%	$\chi^2 = 0.22$ ; p<0.05. Proportion of users who think that the removal of a <i>banquette</i> is a benefit not significantly different
Q9	1 (low cost): 0% 2: 7%. 3: 33%. 4: 34% 5 (high cost): 26%	Low: 23% High: 77%	1 (low cost): 3% 2: 8%. 3: 25%. 4: 29% 5 (high cost): 35%	Low: 24% High: 76%	$\chi^2 = 0.01; p < 0.05.$ Proportion of users who think that removing a <i>banquette</i> is cheap not significantly different

Tab. 2: Ar	nswers to questions (fir	rst round). χ² tests:	comparison be	etween frequent and
occasional	users.			
N	Encounter $(n - 57)$		1 - 200	?

000	occasional users.					
No of the question	Frequent users $(n = 57)$		Occasional users (n = 128)		$\chi^2$	
Q8	Not beneficial: 88%. Beneficial: 12%		Not beneficial: 92%. Beneficial: 8%		$\chi^2 = 0.35$ ; p<0.05. Proportion of users who think that the removal of a <i>banquette</i> is a benefit not significantly different	
Q10	1 (not important): 0% 2: 2%. 3: 2%. 4: 17% 5 (very important): 79%	Low: 3% High: 97%	1 (not important): 0% 2: 1%. 3: 2%. 4: 19% 5 (very important): 78%	Low: 2% High: 98%	$\chi^2 = 0.01$ ; p<0.05. Proportion of users who think that a <i>banquette</i> is important in hosting high species diversity not significantly different	
Q11	Never: 2% From time to time: 5% Most of the time: 62% All the time: 31%		Never: 5% From time to time: 28% Most of the time: 39% All the time: 28%		$\chi^2 = 15.3$ ; p>0.05. Proportion of users who are ready to change their habits significantly different	
Q12	I do not want to get involved: 6% Yes, by raising awareness around me: 42% Yes, by seeking to know more: 22% Yes, by choosing beaches with <i>banquettes</i> : 30%		I do not want to get involved: 7% Yes, by raising awareness around me: 43% Yes, by seeking to know more: 21% Yes, by choosing beaches with <i>banquettes</i> : 29%		$\chi^2 = 0.144$ ; p<0.05. Proportion of users who are ready to invest time in protecting <i>banquettes</i> not significantly different	

Tab. 3: Answers to questions (second round).  $\chi^2$  tests: comparison between frequent and occasional users.

## **Discussion and conclusions**

Local authorities who, legally or not, destroy the *banquettes* of *P. oceanica*, sometimes to send them to landfill, have always claimed to do so at the request of the public. This study shows that the people's dislike of *banquettes* is neither as clear nor as massive as local authorities claim. This study is not the first to draw attention to this paradox: is the personal dislike of a handful of managers prevailing over the ecological and economic evidence and the opinion of the users?

So far, studies on the perception of the *banquettes* are unfortunately only available in the gray literature. A study based on users (n = 201) of 17 beaches, from Provence to the French Riviera (France), shows that negative or somewhat negative opinions are given by 44% of respondents, but that 56% have a neutral to positive opinion (Berghthold, 2017). Another study, carried out in five EU countries (n = 1200), illustrates the divergence between the perception of users and that of tour operators and especially local authorities (Otero *et al.*, 2018; Mossone *et al.*, 2019) (Tab. 4). All in all, would the ecological and economic disaster of the removal of *banquettes* on the beaches be mainly decided on by few technocrats and local government officials, ill-informed and reading neither gray literature nor scientific publications (as already suggested by Boudouresque *et al.*, 2017; Boudouresque, 2021)? Furthermore, our survey shows that informing beachgoers regarding the importance of *banquettes* could be an effective solution for managers.

Tab. 4: Divergent perceptions of the <i>banquettes</i> of <i>P. oceanica</i> , between beachgoers, tour
operators and local authorities, in five EU countries (Cyprus, France, Greece, Italy and
Spain). Based upon data from Otero et al. (2018) and Mossone et al. (2019).

		Beachgoers	Tour operators	Local authorities
Perception	Negative	41%	75%	74%
of the presence	Neutral	33%	18%	22%
of banquette ?	Positive	26%	7%	5%
Does the presence	Yes, negatively	43%	75%	80%
of the banquette	No	48%	12%	6%
affect tourism?	Yes, positively	9%	13%	20%

#### **Acknowledgements**

The authors would like to thank Luisa Mangialajo, head of the teaching unit (University of Nice) within the framework of which this study was carried out, and Michael Paul, a native English speaker, for proofreading the text.

#### Bibliography

- BORRELLO P., CHIESA S., MALTESE S., SILVESTRI C., SCARPATO A. (2019) -Management of *Posidonia oceanica* beached accumulations and the 'ecological beach' model. *Rapp. Comm. Intl., Mer Méditerr.*, 42 218.
- BOUDOURESQUE C.F. (2021) La biodiversité à Marseille : les herbiers à *Posidonia oceanica*, leur statut et les services qu'ils rendent. *Marseille, la revue culturelle de la ville de Marseille*, 270: 49-51.
- BOUDOURESQUE C.F., BERNARD G., BONHOMME P., CHARBONNEL E., DIVIACCO G., MEINESZ A., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTINI C., RUITTON S., TUNESI L. (2012) -Protection and conservation of Posidonia oceanica meadow. RAMOGE, Monaco and RAC-SPA publ., Tunis: 1-202.
- BOUDOURESQUE C.F., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTINI C., RUITTON S., THIBAUT T., VERLAQUE M. (2016) - The necromass of the *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass meadow: fate, role, ecosystem services and vulnerability. *Hydrobiologia*, 781: 25-42.
- BOUDOURESQUE C.F., PONEL P., ASTRUCH A., BARCELO A., BLANFUNÉ A., GEOFFROY D., THIBAUT T. (2017) The high heritage value of the Mediterranean sandy beaches, with a particular focus on the *Posidonia oceanica* 'banquettes': a review. Sci. Rep. Port-Cros Natl. Park, 31: 23-70.
- CHESSA L.A., FUSTIER V., FERNANDEZ C., MURA F., PAIS A., PERGENT G., SERRA S., VITALE L. (2000) Contribution to the knowledge of 'banquettes' of *Posidonia oceanica* (L) Delile in Sardinia Island. *Biol. Mar. Mediterr.*, 7 (2): 35-38.
- CONSEIL SCIENTIFIQUE DES ILES DE LÉRINS et CREOCEAN, 2011. Bilan de la gestion des banquettes de posidonie en région Provence-Alpes-Côte d'Azur. Conseil Scientifique des Iles de Lerins et Creocean publ., La Seyne: 1-84.
- FONTAINE Q., PARADIS G., FULLGRABE L., BLAYAC H., MARENGO M., PIAZZA C., CANCEMI G., LEJEUNE P. (2020) - Caractérisation des dépôts de banquettes de posidonie et étude des communautés végétales présentes sur trois plages du Parc Naturel Marin du Cap Corse et de l'Agriate. Contrat Stareso-OEC E09-20, Stareso publ., Calvi: 1-159.
- MOSSONE P., GUALA I., SIMEONE S. (2019) Posidonia banquettes on the Mediterranean beaches: to what extent do local administrators' and users' perceptions correspond? *In: Planning, nature and ecosystem services*, GARGIULO C., ZOPPI C. (eds.), FedOAPress, Naples: 225-234.
- OTERO M.M., SIMEONE S., ALJINOVIC B., SALOMIDI M., MOSSONE P., GERAKARIS V., GIUNTA FORNASIN M.E., MILANO P., HEURTEFEUX H., ISSARIS Y., GUIDO M., ADAMOPOULOU M. (2018) - POSBEMED : gouvernance et gestion des systèmes plages/dunes à posidonie. Rapport final. IUCN publ., Malaga: 1-66 + Annexes.
- PERGENT G., ROMERO J., PERGENT-MARTINI C., MATEO M.A., BOUDOURESQUE C.F. (1994) - Primary production, stocks and fluxes in the Mediterranean seagrass *Posidonia* oceanica. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser., 106: 139-146.
- SCARPATO A., BORRELLO P., CHIESA S., DEVOTI S., MAGALETTI E., MANFRA L., MUGNAI C., PARLAGRECO L., PIERMARINI R., ROTINI A., SILVESTRI C., CAPPUCCI S., CREO C., MIGLIORE L., MAZZARELLI G. (2020) -. La spiaggia ecologica : gestione sostenibile della *banquette* di *Posidonia oceanica* sugli arenili del Lazio. ISPRA publ., Roma: 1-52.
- SIMEONE S., DE FALCO G. (2013) *Posidonia oceanica* banquettes removal: sedimentological, geomorphological and ecological implications. *J. Coast. Res.*, special issue, 65: 1045-1050.
- VACCHI M., DE FALCO G., SIMEONE S., MONTEFALCONE M., MORRI C., FERRARI M., BIANCHI C.N. (2017) - Biogeomorphology of the Mediterranean *Posidonia oceanica* meadows. *Earth Surf. Proc. Landforms*, 42: 42-54.

## Julie DETER, HOUNGNANDAN F., BENKHABCHECHE F., HARDY P.-Y., GUILBERT A., TRIBOT A.-S., POURTAU M., SUTTON G., BARROIL A., HOLON F., BOISSERY P.

Andromède océanologie, 34130 Mauguio (France)/ Université de Montpellier-UMR MARBEC

E-mail: julie.deter@andromede-ocean.com

# PARTICIPATIVE MAPPING AND AERIAL PHOTOGRAPHS HELP TO SHOW THE STRONG DECLINE OF NORTH EASTERN *POSIDONIA OCEANICA* SEAGRASS BEDS (FRENCH OCCITANIE REGION)

#### Abstract

Since the 1960's the French region Occitanie has undergone profound development in order to create a tourism economy. This development have strongly impacted the coastline and consequently the marine ecosystems. However, no monitoring work had been done to measure the impact of human activities on the seagrass beds in this region presently known for its almost total absence of Posidonia meadow. Using bibliographic data, aerial photographs and a survey of local people, we were able to map the historical Posidonia oceanica beds in Occitanie.

Our results confirm that some areas never harboured Posidonia meadows because the local conditions are not favorable (i.e. lagoon outlets, fine sandy bottoms, hydrodynamics), such as the sandy coast from Argelès-sur-mer to Vias. On the other hand, observations have been made on the disappearance of Posidonia meadows in certain areas, such as off Frontignan, where a whole area of meadows has disappeared to make way for dead matte, visible or buried. Meadows of Posidonia oceanica experienced an overall regression of 65% (409.8 ha) in the last 70 years. The main causes cited during the surveys are coastal development, pollution and anchoring. At the same time, all the respondents noted a decrease in fish populations over the last 70 years, the causes of which, according to them, were: overfishing (35%), water quality reduction (31%), and the decline of the P. oceanica meadow (16%).

This work shows the importance of local knowledge and the interest of mixing different methods to establish a baseline in a region. This works brings also a baseline for Posidonia meadows in their French northwestern limit of distribution.

**Key-words:** Participative mapping, *Posidonia oceanica*, Spatial analysis, Local ecological knowledge (LEK)

#### Introduction

Historical data and long time series are important for assessing the magnitude and changes in the long-term evolution of ecosystems (Ellingsen et al., 2017) and for planning and adapting the ecological management strategy (Gatti et al., 2015). The use of historical information is also recommended to establish baselines used for ecological restoration and/or define the good environmental status of marine ecosystems under the European Community Marine Strategy Framework Directive (Borja et al., 2013). In ecology, scientists have understood the importance of indigenous knowledge in assessing the state of biodiversity degradation (Skroblin et al., 2020). This knowledge is also now being used to set up marine protected areas (Strickland-Munro et al., 2016), manage fisheries (Hall-Arber et al., 2009) and for marine spatial planning (Trouillet, 2019). Assessements of long-term changes were recently used to show that one third of European seagrass area has been lost during the last 150 years, due to disease, deteriorated water quality, and coastal development (de los Santos et al., 2019). Losses peaked in the 1970s and 1980s but some reversal seems to be possible since 2000's even for the slow growing seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* (de los Santos et al., 2019). *Posidonia oceanica* (L.) Delile is the most common seagrass species in the Mediterranean. This protected and endemic species forms extensive marine grasslands, an habitat of community interest (92/43 / EEC Habitats Directive, habitat codes 1120: Posidonia). It establishes on the major part of the Mediterranean coastline, between 0 and -40 m deep and occupies 1-2% of the seabed (Pasqualini et al., 1998), i.e. a total area of 1,224,707 ha (Telesca et al., 2015). Here we use a multidisciplinary approach combining local ecological knowlegde (LEK), and the analysis of old aerials pictures in order to investigate the baseline of *P. oceanica* seagrass beds in a region that has known a high development during the last half century. The comparison with the current cover permits to estimate lost areas.

#### Materials and methods

The study is interested in the French Occitanie region (ex Languedoc-Roussillon region, 225 km coastline) which is directly influenced by the Rhone river and therefore has fairly turbid waters. This coastline is artificialized to the extent of 17.06 % (MEDAM). Most of this artificialization is the result of an interministerial mission known as "Mission RACINE" aiming to shift the regional economy from cheap wine growing to tourism. In 20 years (1963-1983), mosquito-infested areas were drained and six tourist units were built on almost virgin land, this led in return to the highest demographic growth in France (between 1982 and 2012) through the development of nearby cities (Montpellier, Béziers, Narbonne and Perpignan) (Sagnes, 2001).

The past distribution of P. oceanica meadows was estimated mixing bibliographic sources (Pergent et al., 1985), surveys targeting old people with a good knowledge of local seabed (fishermen, divers) and old aerial photographs (the oldest was from 1935) analyzed by the method described by (Holon et al., 2015) and (Pasqualini et al., 1998) for seagrass beds above -20 m. Old aerial photographs were obtained from remonterletemps (2021) and Sextant (2021). The questionnaire consisted of 34 semi-structured questions, 19 open questions and several SHOM charts allowing respondents to draw the former distribution areas of the meadows. Respondents were also asked for personal data concerning the age, past and current activity, and hobbies, their knowledge degree about P. oceanica and other seagrass beds within the study area, the major changes that have affected the coastline and their impacts on the seagrass and underwater fauna, and finally their proposals to reduce the observed impacts. The P. oceanica distribution map obtained from old aerial pictures was compared to the participatory maps obtained from the surveys to analyze concordances and discordances. All maps were then combined to build a most complete as possible single map of areas former covered by *P. oceanica*. This latter was compared to the current distribution map (Donia expert 2021) of P. oceanica and dead matte (what remains after the death of P. oceanica) to analyze the spatial changes that occurred over the last 20 to 70 years. Maps were built and compared using ArcGIS software version 10.3.

Five metrics were chosen for the analysis of the current and old seascapes patchiness: the mean patch area, the area-weighted perimeter-area ratio, the landscape division index, the number of patches (Sleeman et al., 2005) and the cohesion index (Houngnandan et al.,

2020). These landscapes indices were calculated using The FRAGSTATS software version 4.2, first developed by (McGarigal and Marks, 1995), at class and seascape level using an eight cells neighborhood rule coupled with no specific sampling strategy to consider the whole part of meadow selected (Abadie et al., 2015).

#### Results

In total 22 responses were obtained in spring 2018 and 14 in spring 2021. The respondents were between 44 and 91 years old but in majority older than 60.

Our results confirm that some areas never harboured Posidonia meadows because the local conditions are not favorable (i.e. lagoon outlets, fine sandy bottoms, hydrodynamics), such as the sandy coast from Argelès-sur-mer to Vias. On the other hand, observations have been made on the disappearance of Posidonia meadows in certain areas, such as off Frontignan, where an entire part of the meadows has disappeared to make way for dead matte, visible or buried (Fig. 1). In Carnon 99 % of the known meadows have disapeared (Fig. 1). In the last 70 years *Posidonia oceanica* meadows experienced an overall regression of 65% (409.8 ha) in the region.

For all areas, the landscape indices showed that *P. oceanica* seagrass knew a process of fragmentation between 1954 and 2014: reduction in the number of patches (-5 to -64%), in the average patch area (-5 to-96%) and in the cohesion between patches has (0 to - 36%). On the other hand, the fragmentation of the seagrass beds was linked to an increase in the complexity of patch's shape (0 to 85%) and a higher fragmentation of the landscape (0 to 63%). The main causes for the lost areas and fragmentation cited during the surveys were coastal development, trawling, pollution and anchoring. At the same time, all the respondents noted a decrease in fish populations over the last 70 years, the causes of which, according to them, were: overfishing (35%), water quality reduction (31%), and the decline of the *P. oceanica* meadow (16%).



Fig 1. Map showing the entire study area and the distribution of P. oceanica according aerial photos, survey data and current distribution. Data concerning the current distribution were obtained from the MEDTRIX platform (https://plateforme.medtrix.fr, Project DONIA expert)

#### **Discussion and/or conclusions**

While the use of aerial photographs was already demonstrated to assess the decline and degradation status of seagrass beds (Holon et al., 2015; Nahirnick et al., 2019), the present study showed the interest to combine it with a complementary survey approach. Although the old photographs were too patchy to allow complete mapping because their acquisition program focused on lagoons and coastlines and not on seagrass beds, they confirmed and/or filled in the gaps in the participatory maps. Moreover, the cartographic recollections of the respondents were surprisingly accurate and consistent. Given the age and experience of the people, it is important to have this kind of information that could have been lost. The low number of people in the sample showed the rarity of the data and the importance of having this participatory mapping.

We showed for the first time that *P oceanica* was anciently well developed in the region. Our study made it possible to quantify its distribution along 225 km of the western French Mediterranean coastline. The decline in covered area was huge: 65 % in mean (0.03 to 99 % depending on the sites) in 70 years for the upper part of the meadows i.e. 409.8 ha. This percent is similar to that estimated by Holon et al. (2015), i.e. 73 % in 85 years, estimated in the eastern French Mediterranean coastline for the upper part of the meadows. However, it is more than the global decline (13-38%) found by a comparative study in Mediterranean (Marbà et al., 2014).

In addition to the reduction of the covered area, this process of degradation, was also manifested in terms of configuration by a decrease in the number of patches, cohesion between the patches, changes in shape and an increased fragmentation. This confirms the usefulness of habitat fragmentation indices to detect the decline of habitats (Abadie et al., 2015; Houngnandan et al., 2020; Sleeman et al., 2005).

Such a fragmentation and huge lost in covered area should have produce important ecological and economic consequences given the essential roles of *P. oceanica*. The 22 respondents of this present study all agreed to affirm that according to their personal experience, fish abundance (number, size and weight) had decreased as confirmed by (Chaboud et al., 2015). In addition, the decline of *P. oceanica* beds could explain the increased coastal erosion observed over the last decades in the region (Boudouresque et al., 2012) like for example in the bay of Aigues-Mortes where a significant attenuation of the waves was measured where *P. oceanica* seagrass was still present (Leredde et al., 2016).

#### Acknowledgments

This work was funded by Agence de l'eau Rhône Méditerranée Corse and Occitanie region.

#### Bibliography

- ABADIE A., GOBERT S., BONACORSI M., LEJEUNE P., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTINI C. (2015) - Marine space ecology and seagrasses. Does patch type matter in *Posidonia oceanica* seascapes? *Ecological Indicators* 57, 435–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.05.020
- BORJA A., ELIOTT M., ANDERSEN J.H., CARDOSO ANA C., CARSTENSEN J., FERREIRA J.C., HEISKANEN A.-S., MARKES J.C., NETOF J.M., TEIXEIRA H., UUSITALO L., UYARRAA M.C., ZAMPOUKAS N. (2013) Good Environmental Status of marine ecosystems: What is it and how do we know when we have attained it? *Marine Pollution Bulletin* 76, 16–27.
- BOUDOURESQUE C.-F., BERNARD G., BONHOMME P., CHARBONNEL E., DIVIACCO G., MEINESZ A., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTINI C., RUITTON S., TUNESI L. (2012) -

Protection and conservation of *Posidonia oceanica* meadows. RAMOGE and RAC/SPA publisher, Tunis: 202pp.

CHABOUD C., CAZALET B., REYES N., RUBIN A. (2015) - Enquête sur les petits métiers de la pêche en Languedoc-Roussillon. Programme Polypêche. IRD: 331 pp.

- DE LOS SANTOS C.B., KRAUSE-JENSEN D., ALCOVERRO T., MARBA N., DUARTE C.M., VAN KATWIJK M., PEREZ M., ROMERO J., SANCHEZ-LIZASO J.L., ROCA G., JANKOWSKA E., PEREZ-LLORENS L., FOURNIER J., MONTEFALCONE M., PERGENT G., RUIZ J.M., CABAÇO S., COOK K., WILKES R.J., MO, F.E., MUÑOZ-RAMOS TRAYTER G., SEGLAR ARAÑO X., DE JONG D.J., FERNANDEZ-TORQUEMADA Y., AUBY I., VERGARA J.J., SANTOS R. (2019) - Recent trend reversal declining European meadows. for seagrass Nat. Commun., 10: 1 - 8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-11340-4
- DONIA Expert (2021) Cartographie détaillée des habitats marins. https://medtrix.fr/portfolio page/donia-expert/
- ELLINGSEN K.E., YOKKOZ N.G., TVERAA T., HEWITT J.E., THRUSH S.F. (2017) Longterm environmental monitoring for assessment of change: measurement inconsistencies over time and potential solutions. *Environ. Monit. Assess.*,189(11):595. doi: 10.1007/s10661-017-6317-4. PMID: 29086027.
- GATTI G., BIANCHI C.N., PARRAVICINI V., ROVERE A., PEIRANO A., MONTEFALCONE M., MASSA F., MORRI C. (2015) - Ecological Change, Sliding Baselines and the Importance of Historical Data: Lessons from Combing Observational and Quantitative Data on a Temperate Reef Over 70 Years. *PLoS ONE* 10(3): e0118581. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0123268
- HALL-ARBER, M., POMEROY, C., CONWAY, F. (2009) Figuring out the human dimensions of fisheries: Illuminating models. *Marine and Coastal Fisheries* 1, 300–314.
- HOLON F., BOISSERY P., GUILBERT A., FRESCHET E., DETER J. (2015) The impact of 85 years of coastal development on shallow seagrass beds (*Posidonia oceanica* L. (Delile)) in South Eastern France: A slow but steady loss without recovery. *Estuarine*, *Coastal and Shelf Science* 165: 204–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2015.05.017
- HOUNGNANDAN F., KEFI S., DETER J. (2020) Identifying key-conservation areas for *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass beds. *Biological Conservation* 247: 108546.
- LEREDDE Y., BEGNY, K., MICHAUD H., JACOB C., SCHVARTZ T., THORIN S., MARSALEIX P. (2016) - L'atténuation des vagues par les herbiers de Posidonies, un service écosystémique contre l'érosion côtière. XIVèmes Journées Nationales Génie Côtier – Génie Civile
- MARBA, N., DIAZ-ALMELA, E., DUARTE, C.M. (2014) Mediterranean seagrass (*Posidonia oceanica*) loss between 1842 and 2009. *Biological Conservation*, 176: 183–190. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.05.024
- MCGARIGAL K., MARKS B. (1995) FRAGSTATS: spatial pattern analysis program for quantifying landscape structure. *Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW-GTR-351*. US Department of Agriculture, Forest Service, Pacific Northwest Research Station., Portland :122 pp.
- MEDAM (2022) Côtes mediterrannéennes françaises. Inventaire et impact des aménagements gagnés sur le domaine marin. http://www.medam.org/index.php/fr/123-medam-le-bilan/124-taux-d-artificialisation-du-littoral-par-les-amenagements-gagnes-sur-la-mer
- NAHIRNICK N.K., RESHITNYK L., CAMPBELL M., HESSING-LEWIS M., COSTA M., YAKIMISHYN J., LEE, L. (2019) Mapping with confidence; delineating seagrass habitats using Unoccupied Aerial Systems (UAS) *Remote Sensing in Ecology and Conservation*, 5: 121–135.
- PASQUALINI V., PERGENT-MARTINI C., CLABAUT P., PERGENT G. (1998) Mapping of *Posidonia oceanica* using Aerial Photographs and Side Scan Sonar: Application off the Island of Corsica (France). *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*, 47(3): 359–367.

Fabrice HOUNGNANDAN, FERY C., BOCKEL T., DELARUELLE G., BOISSERY P., KEFI S., DETER J.

MARBEC, Univ Montpellier, CNRS, IFREMER, IRD, Montpellier, France <u>E-mail: houngnandan@gmail.com</u>

# A HIERARCHICAL SCALE-BASED APPROACH FOR INFERRING THE ECOLOGICAL QUALITY OF A MARINE ECOSYSTEM FROM ITS SPATIAL COMPOSITION AND CONFIGURATION

#### Abstract

Numerous indicators exist to measure changes in marine water quality and evaluate whether progress towards these objectives has been made; some focus on seagrass meadows, which are key marine ecosystems. This study aimed to analyse the relationships between different indicators used to evaluate the environmental status of marine waters. We used data from Posidonia oceanica, which conservations status was monitored by biotic indicators (BiPo "Biotic index based on P. oceanica" and PREI "P. oceanica rapid easy index"), and its spatial distribution was described through landscape indicators: one composition index (the decline) and three configuration indexes (patch cohesion, landscape shape and landscape division). We found a strong and significant linear relationship between the two biotic indicators. These results suggest a way of optimising the acquisition efforts and sampling strategy for the evaluation of the environmental status of marine waters using data from seagrass meadows

**Key-words**: Ecological indicators, habitat condition, decline index, conservation status, good environmental status

#### Introduction

Human activity is the primary driver of current biodiversity loss worldwide (Jungblut, 2020). A growing world population (expected to reach 9.7 billion in 2050 and could peak at nearly 11 billion around 2100, United Nations, 2019, https://www.un.org/) and increasingly destructive lifestyles threaten all oceans and seas (Halpern *et al*, 2019; 2015) and lead to a decline in global marine life. It is therefore urgent to effectively track the environmental status of ecosystems, in order to detect, stop and, if possible, reverse these losses by appropriate management actions (Martínez-Crego *et al*, 2010). Monitoring programmes aiming to assess the conservation status of seagrass meadows are increasing worldwide (Martínez-Crego *et al*, 2008; Orth *et al*, 2006; Short *et al*, 2006). They use a wide diversity of indicators representing different structural, functional and trophic levels and different spatial scales (Marbà *et al*, 2013). Because of their abundance, wide distribution along the Mediterranean coast and sensitivity to anthropogenic pressures (Balestri *et al*, 2003), *P. oceanica* meadows are a biological quality element used to assess coastal water quality in the European Union Water Framework Directive (WFD; EU, 2000).

Therefore, a first approach to assessing coastal water quality consists of using a range of European indicators based on the condition of the *P. oceanica* habitat, such as, for example, the *P. oceanica* multivariate index (POMI, Romero *et al*, 2007), the biotic index based on *P. oceanica* (BiPo, Lopez y Royo *et al*, 2010), the *P. oceanica* rapid easy index (PREI, Gobert *et al*, 2009) or the PosWare (cited as PoSte in some publications) (Buia *et* 

*al*, 2004). A second approach consists of measuring the areas covered by seagrass meadows, based on maps on which landscapes indicators, i.e. configuration and composition indicators, can also be calculated: the decline index (Holon *et al*, 2018; Houngnandan *et al*, 2020; Moreno *et al*, 2001), the cohesion index (Moore *et al*, 2011; Prada *et al*, 2008), the landscape shape index (Teixidó *et al*, 2007) and the landscape division index (McGarigal, 1994; Sleeman *et al*, 2005). The indicators of the first approach provide a punctual synthetic measure of ecological quality, based on a combination of local metrics. In contrast, landscape indicators allow assessment on a large spatial scale. They can be calculated on the complete spatial distribution of the species if maps are available.

Both approaches present advantages and inconveniences, although each one requires significant implementation efforts. However, the abundance of existing indicators makes it difficult for managers and stakeholders to choose the best indicators according to the objectives to assess the ecological quality of water bodies in Mediterranean Sea. Logically, the cost–efficiency ratio is considered in the context of limited means in terms of people and/or money.

The objective of this work was to analyse the relationships between biotic indicators and landscape indicators used to assess the environmental status of marine waters. To achieve this, we studied *P. oceanica*, a species and marine habitat for which various biotic indicators have been surveyed along the French coastline since 2014 and for which an entire 1:10000 distribution map is available for the calculation of landscape indicators. Landscape indicators were calculated at different scales around 47 study stations to identify the scale at which the best correlations could be obtained. We aimed to contribute to a better understanding of the relationships between the different indicators, in order to optimise the acquisition efforts and sampling strategies for evaluation of the environmental status of marine waters. Indeed, if landscape indicators accurately reflect biotic indicators, they could be used at the scale of the entire distribution of the habitat and increase what is known about the habitat studied.

# **Materials and Methods**

# Study area

This study was carried out along the 1700 kilometres of French Mediterranean coastal areas including Corsica (see Fig. 1). Three regions composing the French *P. oceanica* distribution area were surveyed: the (i) Occitanie, (ii) Provence-Alpes-Côte d'Azur (PACA) and (iii) Corse regions, between a depth of 0 and 40 m, which is the bathymetric growth limit of *P. oceanica* seagrass in France (Boudouresque *et al*, 2012).

# Sampling design and data acquisition

# Biotic indicators based on P. oceanica vitality parameters

As part of the TEMPO program (data available at https://plateforme.medtrix.fr), PREI and BiPo monitoring are conducted during June every year in one of the three regions outlined in section 2.1. Three consecutive years are thus needed to obtain comparable data for the entire monitored area. We used data from 2014 to 2019, which corresponded to one year of survey per region. During this period, a total of 47 stations were surveyed at a depth of -15 m along the French Mediterranean coast.

#### Landscape indicators based on marine habitat distribution

The spatial distribution data of *P. oceanica* beds and dead matte (which is what remains of the plant after its death) come from the 1:10 000 map of 11 marine habitats available

on the MEDTRIX platform (https://plateforme.medtrix.fr, Project DONIA expert, see Holon *et al.* (2015) for details concerning data and map building).

Around each sampling station, we defined joined cells of identical sizes representing the different scales using the ArcGIS software version 10.07. At all six different scales (i.e., cell dimensions) were used for the analyses:  $100 \text{ m} \times 100 \text{ m}$ ,  $200 \text{ m} \times 200 \text{ m}$ ,  $400 \text{ m} \times 400 \text{ m}$ ,  $600 \text{ m} \times 600 \text{ m}$ ,  $800 \text{ m} \times 800 \text{ m}$ , and  $1000 \text{ m} \times 1000 \text{ m}$ . Four landscape indicators were calculated for each scale, from the rasters of the marine habitats maps to characterise the landscape configuration of *P. oceanica*: i) the landscape division index, ii) the landscape shape index, iii) the cohesion index and iv) the decline index. These indicators were computed with the SDMtools package (Vanderwal *et al*, 2019) using the "R" statistical software (R Core Team, 2018). For each index, values are expected to vary according to the conservation status of the habitat.

# Statistical analyses

# Correlations between landscape and biotic indicators at different scales

A Pearson correlation was used to assess the relationship between the different biotic indicators because the data fitted a Gaussian distribution, while a Spearman correlation was used to assess the relationship between landscape indicators calculated at different scales and biotic indicators, because the distribution between them did not fit a particular distribution and were not Gaussian. The strengths of the correlations (Pearson and Spearman) were evaluated as recommended by Akoglu (2018) and Schober and Schwarte (2018). The cell dimension for which we identified the strongest correlation between two different indicators, and for which this correlation was the most significant in terms of P-value (<0.05), was used to explore the nature of the relationship (see below). Correlations with values inferior to 0.4 were not considered further.

## Use of the landscape indicators to predict the biotic indicators of the meadow

The relationships between biotic indicators (variables to be predicted = BiPo, PREI) and landscape indicators were explored using simple linear regression "LR" models and nonlinear models (i.e., polynomial regressions "PR" and generalized additive models' «GAM"). The choice of the best model was based on the AIC (Akaike Information Criterion) estimated by the maximum likelihood method. The AIC is defined as: AIC = $-2 \log(L) + 2K$ ; where L is the maximised likelihood and K is the number of free parameters in the model. With this criterion, the model deviation is penalised by twice the number of free parameters. The best model is therefore the one with the lowest AIC (Parzen *et al*, 1998).

# Results

# Correlation between the biotic indicators

The Pearson correlation between PREI and BiPo was strong and highly significant (r=0.76; P= $2.1 \times 10^{-4}$ ). The relationship was best described by a polynomial regression model (FI1).

#### Correlation between biotic and landscape indicators

The analysis of the correlations between biotic and landscape indicators for all the scales tested showed that only PREI correlated significantly with all landscape indicators. Moreover, these correlations were all found at the scale of 1000 m  $\times$  1000 m, except for the decline index, where the highest and most significant correlation was found at 200 m  $\times$  200 m. In addition, the BiPo presented moderate and significant correlations with all landscape indicators except the landscape shape index; these correlations were found at the 600 m  $\times$  600 m scale and the 800 m  $\times$  800 m scale.

The values of the biotic indicators both increased with decreasing decline index and landscape division index values. In contrast, the values of the patch cohesion index and the landscape shape index increased with the values of the biotic indicators. The strongest relationships observed were between PREI and the decline index at a scale of 200 m  $\times$  200 m (adjusted R<sup>2</sup>=0.82) and between the PREI and the patch cohesion index at a 1000  $\times$  1000 m scale (adjusted R<sup>2</sup>=0.48). The lowest explained variance (R<sup>2</sup>=0.0006) was between BiPo and the patch cohesion index at a scale of 600 m  $\times$  600 m.

#### Discussion

#### Landscape indicators accurately reflect habitat condition

The objective of this study was to quantify the strength and nature of the relationships between landscape indicators estimated at different scales and biotic indicators calculated for a key species, *P. oceanica* seagrass. To our knowledge, no study had studied these relationships despite the relevance of the question.

Using a hierarchical approach based on the estimation of landscape indicators at different scales (6) our results showed that there is a strong and significant correlation between landscape indicators (4 indicators calculated at 6 different scales) and biotic indicators firstly and secondly between biotic indicators: PREI and BiPo. The strong and significant relationship found between PREI and BIPO is consistent with what Gerakaris et al. (2017) showed and is explained in particular by the fact that the vitality parameters used in their estimation are almost the same at the lower limit. The same author had also shown that PREI and BiPo accurately measure the cumulative pressures impact (Gerakaris et al, 2017) on the P. oceanica meadow as previously shown by Gobert et al, (2009) for the PREI and Lopez y Royo et al. (2010) for the BiPo. More recently, Güreşen et al, (2020) have also confirmed the effectiveness of BiPo in large-scale assessment of P. oceanica meadows conservation status. We also showed that PREI was the biotic index having a strong and significant relationship with all landscape indicators, and all these strong correlations were observed for large scales. More specifically, composition (decline index) and configuration (patch cohesion index, landscape shape index, landscape division index) accurately reflected the P. oceanica habitat conditions estimated by PREI and BiPo, mostly using relatively large scales ( $800 \text{ m} \times 800 \text{ m}$  to  $1000 \text{ m} \times 1000 \text{ m}$ ). Our results confirm the observations of previous studies (Abadie et al, 2018; Güreşen et al, 2020a) on landscape indicators relevance in the monitoring of seagrass meadows. This means that we could calculate these landscape indicators over large study areas - in fact everywhere where a distribution map is available – and thereby obtain information on habitat conditions. For calculation of these landscape indicators the scale and map resolution are critical, because they influence ecological processes and statistical relationships (McGarigal et al, 2002).

Because of the multitude of indicators used to assess the status of coastal marine ecosystems and their possible redundancy, in this study we quantified the strength and nature of the relationships between biotic and landscape indicators using a data set from *P. oceanica* seabeds in the Mediterranean Sea. Our results, obtained at around 15 m (the sampling depth for biotic indicators) along the entire French coastline, need to be confirmed in other countries and at other depths. This study further underlines the complementary nature of data acquired within the framework of the WFD and the multiple descriptors and criteria targeted by the MSFD to assess coastal water quality and environmental status of marine waters.

The simultaneous use in *P. oceanica* studies of several indicators that provide complementary information still seems to be the best strategy to meet different management objectives.

#### Acknowledgement

This work was carried out as part of a project of InToSea (ANR Labcom2), the joint laboratory uniting Andromède Océanologie and the University of Montpellier (UMR MARBEC). We are grateful to Agence de l'Eau Rhône-Méditerranée-Corse and Région Occitanie for funding this research. We thank Laure PARADIS (UMR ISEM) for GIS data analysis. Data used to build the 1:10 000 habitat map were collected by Andromède Océanologie, Agence de l'Eau RMC, Conservatoire du Littoral, DREAL PACA, Egis Eau, ERAMM, GIS Posidonie, IFREMER, Institut océanographique Paul Ricard, Nice Côte d'Azur, TPM, Programme CARTHAM—Agence des Aires Marines Protégées, ASCONIT Consultants, COMEX-SA, EVEMAR, IN VIVO, Sentinelle, Stareso, Programme MEDBENTH, Université de Corse (EQEL), Ville de St Cyr-sur-mer, Ville de Cannes, Ville de Marseille, Ville de St Raphaël and Ville de St Tropez. We would like to thank all those who participated in the collection of field data under the TEMPO programme carried out by Andromède Océanologie with the support of Agence de l'Eau Rhône-Méditerranée-Corse.

#### Bibliography

- ABADIE A. (2018) Seascape ecology in Posidonia oceanica seagrass meadows: Linking structure and ecological processes for management. Ecol. Indic. 87, 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2017.12.029
- AKOGLU H. (2018) User's guide to correlation coefficients. Turkish J. Emerg. Med. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tjem.2018.08.001
- BALESTRI E. (2003) Spatial variation in Posidonia oceanica structural, morphological and dynamic features in a northwestern Mediterranean coastal area: A multi-scale analysis, Marine Ecology Progress Series. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps250051
- BOUDOURESQUE C.-F. (2012) Protection and conservation of Posidonia oceanica meadows. RAMOGE and RAC/SPA.
- BUIA M. (2004) Seagrass systems Physiological adaptation and plasticity to acidification in marine invertebrates living around shallow water CO2 vent systems View project Restauro Ambientale e Balneabilità del SIN Bagnoli-Coroglio (ABBaCo) View project.
- COLL M. (2012) The Mediterranean Sea under siege: Spatial overlap between marine biodiversity, cumulative threats and marine reserves. Glob. Ecol. Biogeogr. 21, 465–480. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2011.00697.x
- GERAKARIS V. (2017) Effectiveness of Posidonia oceanica biotic indices for assessing the ecological status of coastal waters in the Saronikos Gulf (Aegean Sea, Eastern Mediterranean). Mediterr. Mar. Sci. 18, 161–178. https://doi.org/10.12681/mms.1893
- GOBERT S. (2009) Assessment of the ecological status of Mediterranean French coastal waters as required by the Water Framework Directive using the Posidonia oceanica Rapid Easy Index: PREI. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 58, 1727–1733. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2009.06.012
- GÜREŞEN A. (2020) Evaluating the coastal ecosystem status of two Western and Eastern Mediterranean islands using the seagrass Posidonia oceanica. Ecol. Indic. 108, 105734. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2019.105734
- HALPERN B. (2019) Recent pace of change in human impact on the world's ocean. Sci. Rep. 9, 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-47201-9
- HALPER B. (2015) Spatial and temporal changes in cumulative human impacts on the world's ocean. Nat. Commun. 6, 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms8615
- HOLON F. (2018) A predictive model based on multiple coastal anthropogenic pressures explains the degradation status of a marine ecosystem: Implications for management and conservation. Biol. Conserv. 222, 125–135. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2018.04.006
- HOUNGNANDAN F. (2020) Identifying key-conservation areas for Posidonia oceanica seagrass beds. Biol. Conserv. 247, 108546. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108546
- JUNGBLUT S. (2020) YOUMARES 9 *The Oceans: Our Research, Our Future, YOUMARES* 9 The Oceans: Our Research, Our Future. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-20389-4
- LEONI V. (2007) Physiological responses of Posidonia oceanica to experimental nutrient enrichment of

the canopy water. J. Exp. Mar. Bio. Ecol. 349, 73-83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jembe.2007.05.006

- LOPEZ Y ROYO C. (2010) A biotic index using the seagrass Posidonia oceanica (BiPo), to evaluate ecological status of coastal waters. Ecol. Indic. 10, 380–389. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2009.07.005
- MARBÀ N. (2013) Diversity of European seagrass indicators: Patterns within and across regions. Hydrobiologia 704, 265–278. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-012-1403-7
- MARTÍNEZ-CREGO B. (2010) Biotic indices for assessing the status of coastal waters: A review of strengths and weaknesses. J. Environ. Monit. 12, 1013–1028. https://doi.org/10.1039/b920937a
- MARTÍNEZ-CREGO B. (2008) Selection of multiple seagrass indicators for environmental biomonitoring. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. https://doi.org/10.3354/meps07358
- MCGARIGAL K. (1994) FRAGSTATS: spatial pattern analysis program for quantifying landscape structure. USDA For. Serv. Gen. Tech. Rep. PNW 2, 128.
- MCGARIGAL K. (2002) FRAGSTATS: Spatial Pattern Analysis Program for Categorical Maps. Analysis 3.3, The following citation is recommended by the autho. https://doi.org/Cited By (since 1996) 586\rExport Date 3 May 2012
- MILLENNIUM ECOSYSTEM ASSESSMENT (Program), 2005. Our human planet: summary for decision-makers. Island Press.
- MOORE J. (2011) Nutrient fluxes and the recent collapse of coastal california salmon populations. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 68, 1161–1170. https://doi.org/10.1139/f2011-054
- MORENO D. (2001) Assessment of the conservation status of seagrass (Posidonia oceanica) meadows : implications for monitoring strategy and the decision-making process. Biol. Conserv. 102, 325–332.
- OPDAM P. (2003) Landscape cohesion: An index for the conservation potential of landscapes for biodiversity Landscape cohesion: an index for the conservation potential of landscapes. Landsc. Ecol. https://doi.org/10.1023/A
- ORTH J. (2006) A Global Crisis for Seagrass Ecosystems. Bioscience 56, 987. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2006)56[987:agcfse]2.0.co;2
- PARZEN E. (1998) Selected Papers of Hirotugu Akaike, Journal of the American Statistical Association. https://doi.org/10.2307/2670083
- PERGENT G. (1995) Utilisation de l'herbier a Posidonia oceanica comme indicateur biologique de la qualité du milieu littoral en méditerranée: état des connaissances. Mésogée 54, 3–27.
- PRADA M. (2008) The effects of minimum map unit in coral reefs maps generated from high resolution side scan sonar mosaics. Coral Reefs 27, 297–310. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00338-007-0328-5
- ROMERO J. (2007) Corrigendum to "A multivariate index based on the seagrass Posidonia oceanica (POMI) to assess ecological status of coastal waters under the framework directive (WFD)" [Marine Pollution Bulletin 55 (2007) 196-204] (DOI:10.1016/j.marpolbul.2006.08.032). Mar. Pollut. Bull. 54, 631. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2007.02.008
- RUIZ J. (2003) Effects of disturbances caused by coastal constructions on spatial structure, growth dynamics and photosynthesis of the seagrass Posidonia oceanica. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 46, 1523–1533. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2003.08.021
- SCHOBER P. (2018) Correlation coefficients: Appropriate use and interpretation. Anesth. Analg. 126, 1763–1768. https://doi.org/10.1213/ANE.00000000002864
- SHORT F. (2006) SeagrassNet monitoring across the Americas: Case studies of seagrass decline. Mar. Ecol. 27, 277–289. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0485.2006.00095.x
- SLEEMAN C. (2005). Measuring fragmentation of seagrass landscapes: which indices are most appropriate for detecting change? Mar. Freshw. Res. 56, 851–864.
- TEIXIDÓ A. (2007). Iceberg disturbance and successional spatial patterns: The case of the shelf Antarctic benthic communities. Ecosystems 10, 142–157. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-006-9012-9
- VANDERWAL A. (2019). Package 'SDMTools .'

Sara KALEB, DESCOURVIÈRES E., BANDELJ V., CIRIACO S., ORLANDO-BONACA M., FALACE A.

DSV – University of Trieste, Italy <u>E-mail: sara.kaleb@gmail.com</u>

# *EX SITU* PILOT EXPERIMENT TO ASSESS THE FEASIBILITY OF ECOLOGICAL RESTORATION OF *FUCUS VIRSOIDES* IN THE GULF OF TRIESTE (NORTHERN ADRIATIC)

#### Abstract

Fucus virsoides J. Agardh, which is endemic to the Adriatic Sea, has experienced dramatic declines or local extinctions. The lack of adult plants producing recruits hinders the natural recovery of impacted areas. Therefore, active restoration is recommended to restore populations within a reasonable time frame.

In this study, an ex situ pilot experiment was carried out by outplanting cultivated recruits at two sites (Miramare MPA in Italy and Piran in Slovenia) to test the efficiency of seedling culture in the laboratory, the effectiveness of an intermediate step in the field in hanging structures, and subsequent anchorage on the rocky substrate by quantifying germlings cover and growth. This study extends the biological knowledge of the early life and juvenile stages of F. virsoides and provides some practical considerations for implementing restoration measures.

Key-words: Fucus virsoides, ex situ restoration, fucoid, macroalgae, marine forests

#### Introduction

Canopy-forming algae of the order Fucales and Laminariales (Phaeophyceae) are among the most ecologically and socio-economically valuable marine species in temperate waters. They provide a structural and trophic framework that supports rich biodiversity (Fabbrizzi *et al.*, 2021). *Fucus* species are brown macroalgae that live in the intertidal of rocky coasts and provide a number of important ecosystem services, including high primary productivity and carbon sequestration, shelter and nursery for fauna, direct sources for many traditional and commercial uses, aesthetic beauty and intrinsic evolutionary value (van den Hoek *et al.* 1995, Rindi & Guiri 2004; Frederiksen *et al.*, 2005; Watt & Scrosati, 2013). They also play a central role in the growth of understorey assemblages by influencing light, desiccation, water movement and the rate of transport and deposition of suspended sediments.

*Fucus virsoides* J. Agardh (Fucales, Phaeophyta), endemic to the Adriatic Sea (Linardić, 1949; Giaccone & Pignatti, 1967; Munda, 1972), is a glacial relict that has survived in the Adriatic Sea thanks to the specificities of this basin (Munda, 1972, Orlando-Bonaca *et al.*, 2013). In the past, its range extended from the Venice Lagoon to the Boka Kotorska (Mačić, 2006).

Recently, it has experienced dramatic declines or local extinctions (e.g. Battelli, 2016; Falace *et al.*, 2010; Mačić, 2006; Orlando-Bonaca *et al.*, 2013). Due to its endangered status and ecological role, it has been included in the "List of Threatened or Endangered Species" of the Barcelona Convention (amended Annex II of the Protocol on Specially Protected Areas and Biological Diversity in the Mediterranean, UNEP; 2019).

This study aimed to improve the knowledge of the early life stages of *F. virsoides* by studying embryonic development to develop an *ex situ* protocol to investigate the

possibility of reintroducing this species on the Italian and Slovenian coasts of the Gulf of Trieste through a pilot project.

#### Material and methods

Mature receptacles of *F. virsoides* were harvested in winter 2022 at low tide in the tidal marsh of Marina Julia (northern Adriatic - eastern Mediterranean) ( $45^{\circ}46'37.7$  "N  $13^{\circ}32'02.6$  "E), which represents the last known population in the Gulf of Trieste (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1: Map showing the geographical location of the donor site, the laboratory culture site, the lantern net culture site, and the receiving sites in northern Adriatic.

As this population is threatened with extinction, only a limited number of receptacles were collected for these preliminary trials.

The receptacles were taken to the laboratory of the University of Trieste, where they were rinsed with seawater to remove epibionts and stored in the dark at 4°C within 1 hour after collection.

A first culture was carried out to test the best conditions (i.e., temperature and culture medium) for seedling growth. According to Munda & Kremer (1977), the optimum temperature for *F. virsoides* growth is probably higher than 15°C, so two temperatures were tested: 15°C (T-) and 22°C (T+). Two culture media were also tested: von Stosch's enriched filtered seawater (VS) (Falace *et al.*, 2018) and Provasoli Enriched Seawater (PES) (Munda, 1977). The photoperiod was set to a 15:9 hour light-dark cycle and the light irradiance to 125 µmol photons m-2s-1. Light was supplied by LED lamps (AM366 Sicce USA Inc., Knoxville, USA) and irradiance was measured using a LI-COR LI - 190/R photometer (LICOR-Biosciences, Lincoln, NE, USA).

For each condition, two mature receptacles were placed in 5 Petri dishes. After 24 hours, the zygotes were released, and the receptacles removed. Ten days after release (AR), the number of seedlings at different growth stages (Fig. 1) was counted by processing photographic data. For each Petri dish, 5 randomly selected areas (1278 mm<sup>2)</sup> were photographed using a Canon Powershot G9 on an inverted microscope (Leica, DM IL LED). To analyze the differences among conditions, a PERMutational multivariate ANalysis Of VAriance (PERMANOVA) (Anderson, 2001) was applied using the percentage of individuals at each stage as a response variable and conditions as factors.

A second culture was then established based on the results of the first experiment. Ten clay tiles were covered with two receptacles each and cultivated in 4L aquaria in triplicate. The aquaria were filled with VS and the culture medium was renewed every three days to minimise nutrient limitation. The culture medium was oxygenated with pumps (Mimouse Circulation Pump SICCE) and aerators (Airlight Silent Air Pump 3300 SICCE). The laboratory culture lasted 14 days. The tiles were then transported to the C-

zone of the Miramare MPA, where they were attached to hanging lantern nets (Savonitto *et al.*, 2021) in the intertidal zone for 4 months. Tile coverage and thalli length were measured after 16 days (T1), 1 month (T2), 3 months (T3) and 4 months (T4). Subsequently, half of the tiles were placed on the rocky shores in the A zone of Miramare MPA (Italy) and the other half in Piran (Slovenia) (Fig. 1).

Tile cover and thalli length were measured after 1 month (T5) and 2 months (T6). The tile cover has been calculated with the tile where *F. virsoides* was still present (n = 14 at T5 and n = 11 at T6). Germlings were observed with a stereo microscope (Leica, MZ 6) and photographed with a Nikon Coolpix 4500 camera. The juvenile length and cover measurements were carried out with the software ImageJ (Schneider *et al.*, 2012).

## Results

## Laboratory cultivation

The percentage of individuals was calculated for each of the four developmental stages observed in the Petri dishes (Fig. 2). PERMANOVA confirmed significant differences in embryonic development between the two temperatures tested (p-value < 0.001), with the T- condition characterised by a higher number of more developed individuals (stage IV) than T+. Conversely, no significant differences were found between the two culture media (VS, PES) or within the interaction terms.



Fig. 2: Percentage of embryo developmental stages after 10 days under the different conditions.

#### Lantern net and outplanting in the field

After two weeks in the lantern net (T1), thalli were 0.39 mm  $\pm$  0.06 SD long and 0.12 mm  $\pm$  0.01 SD wide, while after four months of suspended culture (T4), they reached an average length of 4.94 mm  $\pm$  0.97 SD and a width of 1.63 mm  $\pm$  0.42 SD, with a maximum of 6.53 mm (Fig. 3). The average cover at T4 was 44.26 % ( $\pm$  17.14 SD) (Fig. 4). One month after outplanting on the rocky intertidal in Piran (T5), thalli increased rapidly in size, reaching a maximum length of 11.47 mm and a width of 4.87 mm, with a mean length of 6.11 mm  $\pm$  2.07 SD and a mean cover of 50.44 % ( $\pm$ 22.78 SD). At T6, a reduction in cover was observed (44.49%  $\pm$ 23.23 SD), probably due to grazing. Indeed, signs of grazing were visible on many juveniles (Fig. 5). Nevertheless, the average length was 7.81 mm  $\pm$  2.46 SD with a width of 2.49 mm  $\pm$  0.81 SD. The frequency of clay tiles with *F. virsoides* was 92,86% at T5 and 78,57% at T6.

In contrast, no thalli were found in Miramare MPA at T5.



Fig. 3: Thalli length (mm) in the lantern net (light gray) and attached on the intertidal rocky shore at Piran (dark gray). Juveniles were moved to the receiving site after 4 months of suspended culture in lantern net.



Fig. 4: Percent coverage of germlings in lantern net and at the Piran receiving site.



Fig. 5: Juveniles of *F. virsoides* at the Piran receiving site two month after outplanting (T6).

#### Discussion

*F. virsoides* is a glacial relict (Giaccone, 1991) and evolutionarily closely related to *F. spiralis* (Coyer *et al.*, 2006). Although tolerant to variations in many environmental factors (such as salinity, wave exposure, etc.) and once one of the most abundant intertidal species (Orlando-Bonaca *et al.*, 2013), it has completely disappeared from Slovenian coasts (Battelli, 2016). It has drastically declined in many areas of its range due to dystrophic conditions, grazing, emerging pollutants, and probably also climate change (e.g., Sfriso & La Rocca, 2005; Maĉić, 2006; Munda, 2008; Falace *et al.*, 2010; Battelli, 2016; Felline *et al.*, 2019). Therefore, the inclusion of this species in the IUCN Red List, which classifies it as "vulnerable", as proposed by Verlaque *et al.* (2019), could allow its conservation and management to be prioritized to prevent the extinction of this endemic species.

The development of early life stages of *F. virsoides* was favoured by the lowest temperature (*i.e.*,  $15^{\circ}$ C), at which 96.85% (VS) and 94.05% (PES) of individuals were well developed (stage IV).

The suspended culture in the field allowed to reduce the culture time required for the seedlings to reach a "refuge size" (Savonitto *et al.*, 2021), thus avoiding bacterial or
microalgal outbreaks common to prolonged culture in mesocosms (Orlando-Bonaca et al., 2021; Lardi et al., 2022).

At the Miramare site, no thalli survived one month after outplanting. As observed in previous restoration experiments here, the sharp decline in macroalgae has not only affected the Fucales, as the benthic system has shifted into an alternative state dominated by turf algae and other grazing-resistant species (Falace *et al.*, 2010; Bevilacqua *et al.*, 2022).

In the Piran receiving site, a decrease in the frequency (14,29 %) and in the coverage (5,95 %) of *F. virsoides* probably due to mollusc feeding was observed in July. The anomalously high temperatures recorded throughout the Adriatic basin during the summer of 2022 may have affected the cold-affinity *F. virsoides* germlings making them more prone to grazing by limpets.

Control of grazers with protective cages is not feasible in the intertidal zone, but removal of grazers before planting and regular maintenance could be a suitable solution.

# Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank the colleagues from the National Institute of Biology, Marine Biology Station Piran, and Fabrizio Gianni for their fieldwork.

# Bibliography

- ANDERSON M.J. (2001) Permutation tests for univariate or multivariate analysis of variance and regression. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.* 58 (3): 626-639.
- BATTELLI C. (2016) Disappearance of *Fucus virsoides* J. Agardh from the slovenian coast (Gulf of Trieste, Northern Adriatic). *Annals for Istrian and Mediterranean Studies*. 26: 1-12. doi.org/10.19233/ASHN.2016.1.
- BEVILACQUA S., VELLANI V., FABBRIZIO P., FALACE A., CIRIACO S., SEGARICH M., SPOTO M. (2022) - Multidecadal monitoring highlighted long-term stability of protected assemblages within a Mediterranean marine reserve. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 274: 107946. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2022.107946
- WATT C.A., SCROSATI R.A. (2013) Bioengineer effects on understory species richness, diversity, and composition change along an environmental stress gradient: Experimental and mensurative evidence. *Estuarine, Coastal and Shelf Science*. 123: 10-18.
- https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecss.2013.02.006.
- COYER, J.A., HOARAU, G., OUDOT-LE SECQ, M.-P., STAM, W.T. & OLSEN, J.L. (2006a). A mtDNA-based phylogeny of the brown algal genus *Fucus* (Heterokontophyta; Phaeophyta). *Mol. Phyl. Evol.*, 39: 209–222.
- FABBRIZZI E., SCARDI M., BALLESTEROS E., BENEDETTI-CECCHI L., CEBRIAN E., CECCHERELLI G., DE LEO F., DEIDUN A., GUARNIERI G., FALACE A., FRAISSINET S., GIOMMI C., MAČIĆ V., MANGIALAJO L., MANNINO A.M., PIAZZI L., RAMDANI M., RILOV G., RINDI L., RIZZO L., SARÀ G., SOUISSI J.B., TASKIN E., FRASCHETTI S. (2020) - Modeling Macroalgal Forest Distribution at Mediterranean Scale: Present Status, Drivers of Changes and Insights for Conservation and Management. *Front. Mar. Sci.* 7: 1-18. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmars.2020.00020.
- FALACE A., ALONGI G., CORMACI M., FURNARI G., CURIEL D., CECERE E., PETROCELLI A. (2010) - Changes in the benthic algae along the Adriatic Sea in the last three decades. *Chemistry and Ecology*, 26: 77 - 90.
- FALACE A., KALEB S., DE LA FUENTE G., ASNAGHI V., CHIANTORE M. (2018) *Ex situ* cultivation protocol for *Cystoseira amentacea* var. *stricta* (Fucales, Phaeophyceae) from a restoration perspective. *PLoS One*. 13(2): e0193011. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0193011
- FELLINE S., DEL COCO L., KALEB S., GUARNIERI G., FRASCHETTI S., TERLIZZI A., & FANIZZI F., FALACE. (2019) The response of the algae *Fucus virsoides* (Fucales,

Ochrophyta) to Roundup® solution exposure: A metabolomics approach. *Environmental Pollution*. 254. 112977. 10.1016/j.envpol.2019.112977.

- FREDERIKSEN S., CHRISTIE H., SÆTHRE B.A. (2005) Species richness in macroalgae and macrofauna assemblages on Fucus serratus L. (Phaeophyceae) and Zostera marina L. (Angiospermae) in Skagerrak, Norway. Mar. Biol. Res. 1: 2-19.
- GIACCONE G. (1991) Biogeografia di alghe brune e tettonica a zolle. *Boll. Ace. Gioenia*, Catania. 24: 65-86.
- GIACCONE G., PIGNATTI S. (1967) Studi sulla produttività primaria del fitobentos nel Golfo di Trieste. II. La vegetazione del Golfo di Trieste. *Nova thalassia*. 3(2): 1-28.
- LARDI P.I., VARKITZI I., TSIAMIS K., ORFANIDIS S., KOUTSOUBAS D., FALACE A., SALOMIDI M (2022) - Early development of *Gongolaria montagnei* (Fucales, Phaeophyta) germlings under laboratory conditions, with a view to enhancing restoration potential in the Eastern Mediterranean. *Bot. Mar.* doi: 10.1515/bot-2021-0105
- LINARDIĆ J. (1949) Studije o jadranskom fukusu (Fucus virsoides). Acta Botanica, 12: 13: 7-131.
- MAČIĆ V. (2006) Distribution of seaweed Fucus virsoides J. Agardh in Boka Kotorska Bay (South Adriatic Sea). Annales, Ser. Hist. Nat., Koper., 16: 1-4.
- MUNDA M.I. (1972) Seasonal and ecologically conditioned variations in the *Fucus virsoides* association from the Istrian coast (Northern Adriatic). *Dissertationes Slovenska Akademija Znanosti in Umetnosti.*, 15: 1-33.
- MUNDA I.M., KREMER B.P. (1977) Chemical composition and physiological properties of fucoids under conditions of reduced salinity. *Mar. Biol.*, 41: 4-15.
- MUNDA I.M. (2008) Benthic marine algae as reflection of environmental changes in the Northern Adriatic Sea. *Climate warming and related changes in Mediterranean marine biota Helgoland*, 27-31 May 2008, *CIESM Workshop Monogr.*, 35: 65-72.
- ORLANDO-BONACA M., MANNONI P.A., POLONIATO D., FALACE A. (2013): Assessment of *Fucus virsoides* distribution in the Gulf of Trieste (Adriatic Sea) and its relation to environmental variables. *Botanica Marina*, 56(5-6): 451-459. https://doi.org/10.1515/bot-2013-0027
- ORLANDO-BONACA M., PITACCO V., SLAVINEC P., ŠIŠKO M., MAKOVEC T., FALACE A. (2021) - First restoration experiment for *Gongolaria barbata* in Slovenian coastal waters. What can go wrong? *Plants* 10(2), 239. doi: 10.3390/plants10020239.
- RINDI F.,GUIRI M.D. (2004) Composition and spatio temporal variability of the epiphytic macroalgal assemblage of *Fucus vesiculosus* Linnaeus at Clare Island, Mayo, western Ireland. *J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol.*, 311: 233-252.
- SAVONITTO G., DE LA FUENTE G., TORDONI E., CIRIACO S., SRIJEMSI M., BACARO G., CHIANTORE M., FALACE A. (2021) - Addressing reproductive stochasticity and grazing impacts in the restoration of a canopy-forming brown alga by implementing mitigation solutions. *Aquat. Conserv.: Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst.*, 31(7): 1611-1623. doi: 10.1002/aqc.3555
- SCHNEIDER C.A., RASBAND W.S., ELICEIRI K.W. (2012) NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nature Methods*, 9(7): 671-675. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.2089
- SFRISO A, LA ROCCA B. (2005) Aggiornamento sulle macroalghe presenti lungo i litorali e sui bassofondali della laguna di Venezia. *Lavori Soc. Ven. Sc. Nat.*, 30: 45-56.
- VAN DEN HOEK C., MANN D.G., JAHNS H.M. (1995) Algae: an introduction to phycology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. pp. xiv 623.
- VERLAQUE M., BOUDOURESQUE C., PERRET-BOUDOURESQUE M. (2019) -Mediterranean seaweeds listed as threatened under the Barcelona Convention: A critical analysis. Sci. Rep. Port-Cros natl. Park, 33: 179-214.

# Onur KARAYALI, AKÇALI B., BİZSEL K.C., KABOĞLU G.

Department of Marine-Inland Water Sciences and Technology, Institute of Natural and Applied Science Ege University, Faculty of Fisheries, Erzene Mah., 35100 Bornova Izmir, TURKIYE

E-mail: onurkarayali@gmail.com

# NEED OF REFERENCE CONDITIONS FOR COMPARABLE MONITORING OF *POSIDONIA OCEANICA* AT ECO-REGIONAL SCALE INCLUDING THE SLIDING BASELINE SYNDROME: A DISCUSSION OVER FOCA SEPA

# Abstract

Posidonia oceanica meadows are one of the most important habitats to be protected in the Mediterranean Sea. Several studies and monitoring programs have been carried out over the last decades. As a result, i) a comprehensive guideline and protocol on monitoring has been developed, ii) the progressive performance for implementing them in the Eastern Mediterranean could not match those in the Western Mediterranean, and iii) the problems in determining the baseline (reference) conditions could not be solved yet. The purpose of this study is to highlight and discuss the challenges in assessing reference conditions of P. oceanica meadows in the Foca Special Environmental Protected Area (SEPA, Turkiye) by comparing the variations in the upper limits of the meadow between 2005 and 2019. While studying the detected regression, uncertainties in determining or even using baseline (reference) conditions have been observed. This regression seems to indicate the sliding baseline syndrome (SBS) even though the area has been a SEPA since 1990. Considering that the uncertainties are driven by the SBS together with the discrepancies and failures in monitoring, it is safe to assert that the issue is not unique to this particular site. Therefore, this study underlines the significance of spatial representability, which should be based on an appropriately reliable scale, i.e., eco-regional scale. In this way, the baseline (reference) conditions can be determined by using the more realistic and reliable variations driven by natural and anthropogenic impacts within the same scale. A strategic approach for determination of eco-regions within the Mediterranean Sea by using recently emerged technologies has been emphasized in order to obtain and implement reliable and comparable baseline conditions for improving efficiency in monitoring and management.

Key-words: Mediterranean Sea, seagrass regression, GIS, MPA, habitat loss, reference conditions

# Introduction

Among marine ecosystems, seagrass meadows are thought to provide more than half of the total value of the world's natural capital and services (Costanza *et al.*, 1997; Holon *et al.*, 2015). *Posidonia oceanica* L. (Delile) meadows are among the prominent, as well as vulnerable habitats under stress, mainly due to critical functional roles in coastal ecosystems such as protection against erosion, turbidity, de-oxygenation, whilst creating and maintaining spawning and nursery grounds for diverse biological communities, in spite of their slow growth properties (Boudouresque *et al.*, 2012; 2016). Any change that has a negative impact on the environment cause a stress on the meadow health and hence on its distribution patterns and area (Marba *et al.*, 2006; Madden *et al.*, 2009; Conte *et al.*, 2021). Being distributed over the upper shelf area along coasts, *P. oceanica* meadows

have been exposed to intensive human exploitation, especially after the second half of the 20th century (Boudouresque *et al.*, 2012; Pergent-Martini *et al.*, 2021), such as eutrophication, turbidity, pollution, and coastal erosion resulting in severe loss of coastal habitats and biodiversity (Benoit & Comeau, 2005; Marba *et al.*, 2014). Currently *P. oceanica* is classified as a 'Least Concern' species on the IUCN Red List (IUCN, 2021), and as recognized and cited in several international (*e.g.*, Habitats Directive, Bern, and Barcelona Conventions), as well as national legislations.

The monitoring studies on *P. oceanica* meadows started in 1980 at the French Riviera (Boudoresque *et al.*, 2000; Lopez y Royo *et al.*, 2010) and then promptly spread in almost all the Mediterranean countries, particularly along the Western Mediterranean coasts. On the contrary, in the Eastern Mediterranean coasts these efforts did not reach a similar momentum in their monitoring performances. In addition, the analysis by Lopez y Royo *et al.* (2010) has revealed a number of issues concerning data quality, reliability, and comparability in the Western Mediterranean efforts, which still remains unsolved. Particularly, the information about historical reference points and consequences of ongoing pressures are essentially important in pursuing a sustainable path. Recently, the problem of the "sliding or shifting baseline syndrome (SBS)" (Montefalcone *et al.*, 2015), which affects the monitoring efforts, has demonstrated the deadlock state of the challenges towards a successful monitoring and management for protection and conservation of *Posidonia oceanica* meadows. This study is to explore these challenges over our experiences in Foca SEPA and discuss on the possibilities for overcoming them by benefiting from the recent technological advancements on observation systems.

# **Materials and Methods**

Foca, located in the mid-eastern Aegean coasts of Turkiye (Fig. 1), is a touristic destination and one of the major fishing towns in the region. At the north-east edge of the Izmir Bay, it has complex marine morphological characteristics due to the formation of nearshore islands and rocks (Fig. 1). It was declared as one of the coastal/marine SEPAs of Turkiye in 1990 (Anonymous, 1990), and its boundaries were enlarged to its present borders in 2007 (Anonymous, 2007). The upper limits of the *P. oceanica* meadows in Foca have been mapped in 2005 and in 2019 and they have been compared by overlay analysis on a Geographic Information System (GIS). The 2005 distribution was mapped using high resolution satellite imagery, whereas the 2019 distribution was mapped using high resolution side scan sonar imagery, both with ground-truth data. Details on the mapping methodologies can be found in Akçalı *et al.* (2019) and in SPA/RAC–UN Environment/MAP (2020), respectively. The meadow regression in three selected locations (distinguished according to the exposure and to the occurrence of some prominent human impacts) was calculated in GIS by means of linear distances and as the total lost area (Fig. 1).

# **Results and Discussion**

In Location 1, the disappearance of some existing patches and the regressed upper limit corresponds to a total loss of  $13790 \text{ m}^2$ . In Location 2, the disappearance of some existing local patches corresponds to a total loss of  $11426 \text{ m}^2$ . In Location 3, the regressed upper limit and increased patchiness in the meadows corresponds to a total loss of  $12166 \text{ m}^2$ . In Location 1, the loss seems to be attributed to the intensive recreational activities along the beach. In Location 2, the reason seems to be the coastal structures built, while the main impact is likely to be the anchoring in the Location 3, since the zone is one of the

most preferred anchoring spots for the touristic boats during tourist season. However, there are also some regressed areas that cannot be attributed to any of such human impacts. For instance, shores of the Foca SEPA have some segments that are exposed to waves with varying long fetch distances, while some others are quite enclosed and sheltered at varying degrees by the capes, islands, and rocks. Such environmental features jeopardize efforts for inferring how much of the observed regression and deterioration in the upper limits of the meadows is due to the human impacts. The resulted uncertainties on the reference status and depth of the upper limit of P. oceanica meadows have important consequences for coastal zone management, since they are fundamental in the current protocols for seagrass monitoring activities (Montefalcone, 2009; Boudouresque et al., 2012). Then, reliable reference conditions to track their evolution under natural and anthropogenic influences are needed. This is much more crucial when the monitoring is carried out in a protected area that potentially and expectedly plays a role as a potential reference site providing baseline conditions for local and regional or even for the Mediterranean wide assessments. All these uncertainties have undoubtedly suggested a need for a more efficient sampling design based on the appropriate spatial scale representing spatial variation, well selected set of descriptors, and well-defined objectives, *i.e.*, conservation, water quality and mapping, satisfying the targeted ecological and managing expectancies.



Fig. 1: Foca SEPA in Turkiye and the three selected locations for comparing the upper limits observed in 2005 and 2019.

As Lopez y Royo *et al.* (2010) identified, there are a number of issues concerning data quality, reliability and comparability in monitoring efforts. Each may have varying effects by introducing errors at their own relevance and this is particularly important in assignment of the baseline reference condition for descriptors and hence in data comparison. The risks caused by such issues inevitably magnify when they have been applied to larger areas as management measures. Moreover, the SBS appeared due to the climate change driven stresses, and this describes the incremental lowering of ecological standards. Assessing long-term changes become a dilemma and thus a major concern because an already-degraded-environment status could be accepted as a reference, as emphasized by Montefalcone *et al.* (2015). Those related with spatial representability of

the data and results seem the most essential and critical one for achieving efficient management results for securing the future of the meadows. In comprehensive discussions in Lopez y Royo et al. (2010), all those issues were addressed and for the potential importance of data analysis at eco-regional scale and hence monitoring efficiency were emphasized. However, the adoption of different sampling designs, spatial scales and sampling methods in different monitoring programs or efforts, as a fact, can particularly increase data variability and affect data reliability and interpretation, within and between monitoring programs. Moreover, their conclusive remarks on the difficulties in assessing the magnitude of the errors introduced at this stage, so that the quality assurance issues may limit the potential of P. oceanica as an ecological indicator at ecoregional level, was very appropriate and inspiring the way forward. Our main concern is exactly at this important and accurate inference since the difficulty to cope with the implementation of protection. Conservation measures based on well-developed scientific expertise into the managerial decision-making processes is the ultimate target that has still been challenging. Such processes by their nature require an area with defined boundaries. Considering the continuing debates and discussions on the definition of the boundaries of a protected zone, defining an eco-region sounds more challenging. In spite of the perceived magnitude of this challenge, the recent Global Ocean Observation Systems (GOOS) and related technologies have made possible the provision of up-to-date data offers new merits to deal with those challenges. Information on Mediterranean water masses via several platforms and models, e.g., Copernicus, Poseidon, DieCast, offer the possibility to produce more resolute information and knowledge on formation and circulation patterns of the Mediterranean waters (Millot & Taupier-Letage, 2005). This is a promising progress towards defining eco-regions within the Mediterranean. Such information and knowledge, which have been continuously improving, have important potential in determining the eco-regions within the basins of the whole Mediterranean Sea, which enables the determination of reference (= threshold) values or ranges of descriptors that represent each eco-region reliably and comparably. Thus, the efforts for the protection and conservation of *Posidonia oceanica* meadows in the Mediterranean can improve their potential contribution to the management plans at national and international scales. Nevertheless, this should not lead us to overlook the other issues identified in Lopez y Royo et al. (2010), in particular for those on the sampling design, the selection of the set of descriptors, and the monitoring efficiency. The latter is highly critical since the many monitoring performance thresholds have usually been expressed as management objectives rather than ecological condition thresholds, *i.e.*, baselines (Hilton & Cook, 2022).

#### Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge all the efforts and contributions for the 2005 and 2019 mapping campaigns. 2005 *P. oceanica* mapping was conducted as a part of the project entitled "The Development of the Foça Marine Protected Area Management Plan and Increasing Local Awareness", and financed by the Regional Environment Centre REC-Turkiye (REC NT-0063), performed by Foça Municipality, Underwater Research Society (SAD) and DEU-IMST. 2019 *P. oceanica* mapping was performed within the MedKeyHabitats II project "Mapping of marine key habitats and assessing their vulnerability to fishing activities in Foça Special Environmental Protection Area, Turkey". The MedKeyHabitats II project activities in Turkey were implemented by the Specially Protected Areas Regional Activity Centre (SPA/RAC), UN Environment/Mediterranean Action Plan (MAP) and the Ministry of Environment, Urbanization

and Climate Change, the General Directorate for Protection of Natural Assets, funded by the MAVA foundation.

# Biobliography

- AKÇALI B., KABOĞLU G., BİZSEL K.C., KAVCIOĞLU R., SAVAŞ Y., BENGİ F., ÖZAYDINLI M., KAYAALP J., SÖNMEZ FLITMAN R., ERGÜN G., GÜÇLÜSOY H. (2019) - Habitat mapping in marine protected areas: contributions to management plans in Foça and Kaş-Kekova special environmental protection areas. *In*: LANGAR H., OUERGHI A. (eds), *Proceedings of the 6<sup>th</sup> Mediterranean Symposium on Marine Vegetation* (Antalya, Turkey, 14-15 January 2019). SPA/RAC publ., Tunis: 23-28.
- ANONYMOUS. (1990). Official gazetted No. 20702, 21 Nov. 1990. https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/arsiv/20702.pdf.
- ANONYMOUS. (2007). Official gazetted No. 26551, 13 June 1997. https://www.resmigazete.gov.tr/eskiler/2007/06/20070613.htm.
- BENOIT G., COMEAU A. (2005) A sustainable future for the Mediterranean. In: GUILLAUME B., COMEAU A. (Eds), The Blue Plan's Environment and Development Outlook. Earthscan, London, UK, 450 pp.
- BOUDOURESQUE C.F., CHARBONNEL E., MEINESZ A., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTIN C., CADIOU G., BERTRANDY M.C., FORET P., RAGAZZI M., RICO-RAIMONDINO V. (2000) - A monitoring network based on the seagrass Posidonia oceanica in the Northwestern Mediterranean Sea. *Biol. Mar. Medit.*, 7 (2): 328–331.
- BOUDOURESQUE C.F., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTINI C., RUITTO S., THIBAUT T., VERLAQUE M. (2016). The necromass of the *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass meadow: fate, role, ecosystem services and vulnerability. *Hydrobiologia*, 781 (1): 25-42.
- LOPEZ Y ROYO C., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTIN C., CASAZZA G. (2010) Seagrass (*Posidonia oceanica*) monitoring in western Mediterranean: implications for management and conservation. *Environ. Monit. Assess.*, 171(1): 365-380.
- BOUDOURESQUE CF., BERNARD G., BONHOMME P., CHARBONNE E., DIVIACCO G., MEINESZ A., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTINI C., RUITTO S., TUNESI L. (2012) -*Protection and conservation of* Posidonia oceanica *meadows*. RAMOGE and RAC/SPA publ., Tunis: 1-202.
- MILLOT C., TAUPIER-LETAGE I. (2005) Circulation in the Mediterranean Sea: Updated description and schemas of the circulation of the water masses in the whole Mediterranean Sea. *In*: Saliot, A. (ed), The Mediterranean Sea. Handbook of Environmental Chemistry, vol 5K. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg: 29-66. https://doi.org/10.1007/b107143
- CONTE C., ROTINI A., MANFRA L., D'ANDREA M.M., WINTERS G., MIGLIORE L. (2021)
  The seagrass holobiont: what we know and what we still need to disclose for its possible use as an ecological indicator. *Water*, 13(4): 406.
- HALPERN B.S., WALBRIDGE S., SELKOE K.A., KAPPEL C.V., MICHELI F., D'AGROSA C., BRUNO J.F., CASEY K.S., EBERT C., FOX H.E., FUJITA R., HENINEMANN D., LENIHAN H.S., MADIN E.M.P., PERRY M.T., SELIG E.R., SPALDING M., STENECK R., WATSON R. (2008) A Global map of human impact on marine ecosystems. *Science*, 319 (5865): 948-952.
- HILTON M., COOK C.N. (2022) Defining performance thresholds for effective management of biodiversity within protected areas. *Conserv. Biol.*, in press.
- HOLON F., BOISSERY P., GUILBERT A., FRESCHET E., DETER J. (2015). The impact of 85 years of coastal development on shallow seagrass beds (*Posidonia oceanica* L. (Delile)) in Southeastern France: A slow but steady loss without recovery. *Est. Coast. Shelf Sci.*, 165: 204-212.
- IUCN. (2021) The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species, Version 2021-3.

- MADDEN C.J., RUDNICK D.T., MCDONALD A.A., CUNNIFF K.M., FOURQUREAN J.W. (2009) Ecological indicators for assessing and communicating seagrass status and trends in Florida Bay. *Ecol. Ind.*, 9(6): S68-S82.
- MARBÀ N., DÍAZ-ALMELA E., DUARTE C.M. (2014) Mediterranean seagrass (*Posidonia* oceanica) loss between 1842 and 2009. *Biol. Conserv.*, 176: 183-190.
- MICHELI F., HALPERN B.S., WALBRIDGE S., CIRIACO S., FERRETTI F., FRASCHETTI S., LEWISON R., NYKJAER L., ROSENBERG A.A. (2013) Cumulative human impacts on mediterranean and black sea marine ecosystems: assessing current pressures and opportunities. *PLoS One*, 8(12): e79889. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0079889. PMID: 24324585; PMCID: PMC3850916
- MARBÀ N., SANTIAGO R., DÍAZ-ALMELA E., ÁLVAREZ E., DUARTE C.M. (2006) -Seagrass (*Posidonia oceanica*) vertical growth as an early indicator of fish farm-derived stress. *Est. Coast. Shelf Sci.*, 67(3): 475-483.
- MONTEFALCONE M., VACCHI M., MORRI C., FERRARI, M., BIANCHI C.N. (2015) -Seagrass ecosystems status between the sliding baseline syndrome and the need for reference conditions. *PeerJ PrePrints*, 3: e1018v1. https://doi.org/10.7287/peerj.preprints.1018v1
- PAULY D. (1995) Anecdotes and the shifting baseline syndrome of fisheries. *Trends Ecol. Evol.*, 10: 430. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0169-5347(00)89171-5
- PERGENT-MARTINI C., PERGENT G., MONNIER B., BOUDOURESQUE C.F., MORI C., VALETTE-SANSEVIN A. (2021) - Contribution of *Posidonia oceanica* meadows in the context of climate change mitigation in the Mediterranean Sea. *Mar. Environ. Res.*, 165: 105236.
- PERGENT G., SEMROUD R., DJELLOULI A., LANGAR H., DUARTE C. (2010) The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2014.1. www.iucnredlist.org (accessed 11. 07.14.).
- SPA/RAC–UN Environment/MAP. (2020) Turkey: Foça Special Environmental Protection Area. Final report. *In:* KABOĞLU G., AKÇALI B., KIZILDAĞ N., TIRAŞIN EM., ATGIN O., ÖZEL Ö., OĞUZ KABOĞLU S., CIHANGIR B., ÖZDAŞ AH., AÇIK ÇINAR Ş., YILMAZ F., ÖNEN S., BITLIS B., YILMAZ E.C., BIZSEL K.C., YILDIZ İ., KARAYALI O., ÖZGEN Ö. (eds.), SPA/RAC. MedKeyHabitats II Project, Tunis: xxi + 274 pages + VII Digital Annexes.
- UNDERWOOD A.J. (1992) Beyond BACI: the detection of environmental impacts on populations in the real, but variable, world. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol., 161: 145e178.

Marie LA RIVIERE, DELAVENNE J., DE BETTIGNIES T., MICHEZ N., JANSON A.-L., ANDRES S., GAUDILLAT V.

PatriNat, OFB/MNHN/CNRS, France. <u>E-mail: mlariviere@mnhn.fr</u>

# BENTHIC HABITATS ID AND POLICY CROSS-LINKS TO IMPROVE MARINE CONSERVATION

## Abstract

Identifying benthic habitat and providing clear definition of management units is central to the effective conservation of the marine environment. After the creation of a French marine habitat classification providing a comprehensive list of benthic habitats possibly occurring in national waters, we described each habitat unit (biocenosis and associated sub-units). At the same time, in order to facilitate the implementation of the Habitat Directive in the marine environment and clearly establish which habitat units should be considered as natural Habitat types of Community Interest (HCI), a national marine HCI definition was specified, as long as correspondences with habitats units of the national typology. These tools based on the best scientific knowledge available allowed to highlight knowledge gaps and will ease the assessment, management and reporting tasks both at local and national scales. By sharing these units' definitions with other Member States, and sharing the outputs of these projects internationally, we hope to facilitate the identification of common benthic habitat units and help to achieve a harmonised interpretation of HCI to be managed in the framework of the Habitat Directive.

Key-words: benthic habitats, classification, habitats directive, habitat units, description

# Introduction

Identifying benthic habitat is central to the effective conservation of the marine environment. The use of habitats classifications as common language amongst decisionmakers, managers and researchers is necessary to:

- define homogenous working units at local, national or regional scales;
- collect and share habitats occurrence and distribution trends data;
- identify which habitats should be monitored, assessed and managed under national or European regulations.

European directives and international conventions have developed their own list of habitats (European Commission, 2013; European Commission, 2017; OSPAR, 2008; PNUE *et al.*, 2006), but they do not encompass the variability of all habitats at the national level. A national marine habitat classification was thus created in order to provide a comprehensive and hierarchical list of benthic habitats possibly occurring in French waters for both seafronts: Mediterranean (Michez *et al.*, 2014) and North Sea-English Channel-Atlantic (Michez *et al.*, 2019). To ensure an appropriate identification of those habitats, we undertook the description of each habitat unit (biocenosis and associated sub-units) of the Mediterranean classification.

The Habitats Directive (HD, 92/43/CEE) defines natural Habitat types of Community Interest (HCI) whose conservation requires the designation of special areas of conservation, but the definitions of the marine HCI are broad and do not represent appropriate management and conservations units for Natura 2000 site managers and policy makers to work with. In order to clearly establish which habitat units should be considered as HCI, we specified national marine HCI definitions for the nine marine HCI present in national waters (de Bettignies *et al.*, 2021) and made crosswalks with the French national marine habitat classification.

All published information on French habitats will be available online through the HabRef repository (Gaudillat *et al.*, 2021). These tools based on the best scientific knowledge available allow to highlight knowledge gaps and will ease the assessment, management and reporting tasks both at local and national scales, and hopefully also at an international scale.

# Materials and methods

The French national benthic habitats classification uses a hierarchical structure of 4 levels (biological depth zone-level 1, substrate type and/or salinity-level 2, biocenosis-level 3, facies/association-level 4). Habitat units were described at the levels 3 and 4.

The description of the national habitat units has been undertaken in two phases, first in 2016-2017 and then in 2020. After the creation of a template, the description for each habitat unit of the national Mediterranean classification was based on existing information (Bellan-Santini *et al.*, 1994; Bensettiti *et al.*, 2004; Pérès & Picard, 1964; PNUE *et al.*, 2006), updated or completed by French benthic scientists (Universities, CNRS, Ifremer, MNHN, etc.). The taxonomy has been updated in 2020.

The national reinterpretation of HCI types was undertaken in a second stage, involving Natura 2000 site managers and national benthic habitat experts. Existing approaches for interpreting HCI types from other EU member States were reviewed to serve as a basis (BFN, 2021; European Commission, 2007; 2013; JNCC, 2021; VV.AAAA., 2009).

Nine marine HCI types are present in the French waters (EU Codes 1110, 1120\*, 1130, 1140, 1150\*, 1160, 1170, 1180, 8330), two of those being considered as priority habitat types (\*). All the HCI are defined by the European Commission in a unique document referred to as "EUR28" (European Commission, 2013). The reinterpretation work consisted in the description of each HCI type based on the EUR28 definition, and the identification of possible overlays between different types, following a defined template.

# Results

All descriptions of the national classification habitat units were published in a common PDF catalogue (La Rivière *et al.*, 2021), as long as on each habitat webpage on the INPN (National Inventory of Natural Heritage) website through the HabRef repository (v6, Gaudillat *et al.* 2021) https://inpn.mnhn.fr/programme/referentiel-habitats?lg=en.

All level 3 and 4 habitats units of the French classification were described except for one association (level 4) due to the lack of knowledge and qualified available experts to provide a description. A total of 152 habitat units were published, with each index card providing pictures and information for each identification categories (abiotic factors, distinctive features, variability, characteristic species, associated species, risks of habitat confusion, natural dynamics and geographical distribution) when available (Fig. 1).

#### 7th Mediterranean Symposium on Marine Vegetation (Genoa, Italy, 19-20 September 2022)



Fig. 1: Extract of the descriptive index card of the Association with *Cymodocea nodosa*, *Zostera noltei*, *Caulerpa prolifera* and *Caulerpa ollivieri* (III.2.3.a) within the Biocenosis of Mediterranean superficial muddy sands in sheltered waters (III.2.3) – from La Rivière *et al.*, 2021

When no information was available in one of the descriptive categories, whether due to a lack of knowledge or a lack of relevant information to provide, the section was not displayed. It should be noted that the descriptive content is not homogenous amongst all habitat units because of the heterogeneity of knowledge.

This work allowed to update the classification with taxonomical evolutions since its original publication in 2014, and the deletion of one unit for which no proof of existence could be found.

The national reinterpretation for each HCI type occurring in French waters was published in a common PDF catalogue (de Bettignies *et al.*, 2021), and will be available on each HCI type webpage on the INPN website through the HabRef repository by the end of 2022 (v7, in prep.). Each marine HCI type is endowed with an index card providing the following information: code and official name from EUR28, alternative French name (when the official French translation is not explicit), reminder of the EUR28 definition, definition of the habitat type according to the French interpretation and details (identification and distinctive criteria, possible overlays, national specificities, reference to other Member States definitions), references used and pictures illustrating the variability of the habitat type that can be encountered in French waters (Fig. 2-3). Unless stated otherwise, all identification criteria should be met in order to qualify a habitat as the considered HCI type.



Fig. 2: Overlay possibilities between the 9 HCI types encountered in French national waters. Dotted lines indicate geomorphological types that can never overlap with each other – from de Bettignies *et al.*, 2021



Fig. 3: Extract of the French interpretation index card of the HCI type 1110 "Sandbanks which are slightly covered by sea water all the time"– from de Bettignies *et al.*, 2021

#### **Discussion and/or conclusions**

These benthic habitats definition projects provided a description for all habitat units of the French Mediterranean national classification and a clarification of the definition for each Habitats Directive's HCI type based on a national interpretation. Level 3 (biocenosis) of the national classification is generally suitable for conservation and management issues, notably for mapping exercises. Level 4 (dominant lifeforms/communities) is more difficult to map at a large scale but can provide important details and knowledge of ecosystem functioning and environmental status and at a more local scale.

Following these two projects, we were able to establish 550 correspondences between the national classification and the HCI list in order to clearly identify which biocenosis should be managed within the framework of the HD and improve consistency in the management of Natura 2000 sites and reporting at the biogeographical scale.

Although only published in French for now, we hope this work can also be helpful to other Mediterranean countries that share similar benthic habitats to better identify habitats units in their waters. The interpretation of HCI types and the correspondences with the national classification could also improve the comparison of conservation status and/or management measures efficiency assessments across Member States by clarifying which biocenosis are encompassed into each HCI type.

## Acknowledgments

Part of these projects has been financed by the Life Integrated Project Marha – LIFE16 IPE/FR001. The authors acknowledge all scientific experts who contributed to the description of the Mediterranean benthic habitat units and all experts and managers who contributed to the national interpretation of HCI.

## **Bibliography**

- BELLAN-SANTINI D., LACAZE J.-C., POIZAT C. (1994) Les biocénoses marines et littorales de Méditerranée. Synthèse, menaces et perspectives. Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle, Paris, 246 pp. (Patrimoines naturels; 19).
- BENSETTITI F., BIORET F., ROLAND J., LACOSTE J.-P. (COORD.) (2004) « Cahiers d'habitats » Natura 2000. Connaissance et gestion des habitats et des espèces d'intérêt communautaire. Tome 2 - Habitats côtiers. MEDD/MAAPAR/MNHN. Éd. La Documentation française, Paris: 399 pp. + cédérom.
- BFN (German Federal Agency for Nature Conservation) (2021) Habitats Directive habitat types. https://www.bfn.de/en/natura-2000-habitats/.
- DE BETTIGNIES T., LA RIVIERE M., DELAVENNE J., DUPRE S., GAUDILLAT V., JANSON A.-L., LEPAREUR F., MICHEZ N., PAQUIGNON G., SCHMITT A., DE ROTON G., TOISON V. (2021) - *Interprétation française des Habitats d'Intérêt Communautaire marins*. PatriNat (OFB-CNRS-MNHN), Paris: 58 pp.
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION (2007) Guidelines for the establishment of the Natura 2000 network in the marine environment. Application of the Habitats and Birds Directives: 112 pp.
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION (2013) Interpretation manual of European Union habitats. EUR 28. European Commission, DG Environment: 146 pp.
- EUROPEAN COMMISSION (2017) Commission Decision (EU), 2017/848 of 17 May 2017 laying down criteria and methodological standards on good environmental status of marine waters and specifications and standardised methods for monitoring and assessment, and repealing Decision 2010/477/EU (Text with EEA relevance).
- GAUDILLAT V., SADOUNI R., ANDRES S., LA RIVIERE M., VALLEZ E. (2021) HABREF v6.0, référentiel des typologies d'habitats et de végétation pour la France. Guide méthodologique. PatriNat (OFB-CNRS-MNHN), Paris: 34 pp.
- JNCC (2021) JNCC Habitats pages. https://sac.jncc.gov.uk/habitat/
- LA RIVIERE M., MICHEZ N., DELAVENNE J., ANDRES S., FREJEFOND C., JANSON A-L., ABADIE A., AMOUROUX J-M., BELLAN G., BELLAN-SANTINI D., CHEVALDONNE P., CIMITERRA N., DEROLEZ V., FERNEZ T., FOURT M., FRISONI G-F., GRILLAS P., HARMELIN J-G., JORDANA E., KLESCZEWSKI M., LABRUNE C., MOURONVAL J-B., OUISSE V., PALOMBA L., PASQUALINI V., PELAPRAT C., PEREZ T., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTINI C., SARTORETTO S., THIBAUT T., VACELET J., VERLAQUE M. (2021) - Fiches descriptives des biocénoses benthiques de Méditerranée. UMS PatriNat (OFB-CNRS-MNHN), Paris: 660 pp.
- MICHEZ N., FOURT M., AISH A., BELLAN G., BELLAN-SANTINI D., CHEVALDONNE P., FABRI M.-C., GOUJARD A., HARMELIN J.-G., LABRUNE C., PERGENT G., SARTORETTO S., VACELET J., VERLAQUE M. (2014) - *Typologie des biocénoses benthiques de Méditerranée - Version* 2. Rapport SPN 2014 - 33, MNHN, Paris: 26 pp.

- MICHEZ N., THIEBAUT E., DUBOIS S., LE GALL L., DAUVIN J.-C., ANDERSEN A. C., BAFFREAU A., BAJJOUK T., BLANCHET H., DE BETTIGNIES T., DE CASAMAJOR M.-N., DERRIEN-COURTEL S., HOUBIN C., JANSON A.-L., LA RIVIERE M., LEVEQUE L., MENOT L., SAURIAU P.-G., SIMON N., VIARD F. (2019) - Typologie des habitats marins benthiques de la Manche, de la Mer du Nord et de l'Atlantique - Version 3. UMS PatriNat, MNHN, Paris: 52 pp.
- OSPAR (2008) OSPAR List of Threatened and/or Declining Species and Habitats. OSPAR Agreement 2008-06 amended in 2021: 5 pp.
- PERES J. M., PICARD J. (1964) Nouveau manuel de bionomie benthique de la Mediterranée. *Recueil des Travaux de la Station marine d'Endoume*, 31 (47): 1-137.
- PNUE, PAM, CAR/ASP (2006) Classification des biocénoses benthiques marines de la région Méditerranéenne. CAR/ASP, Tunis: 13 pp.
- VV.AAAA. (2009) Bases ecológicas preliminares para la conservación de los tipos de hábitat de interés comunitario en España. Madrid: Ministerio de Medio Ambiente, y Medio Rural y Marino: 129 pp.

# Alice OPRANDI, MANCINI I., BIANCHI C.N., MORRI C., AZZOLA A., MONTEFALCONE M.

SEL (Seascape Ecology Lab), DiSTAV (Department of Earth, Environment and Life Sciences), University of Genoa, C. so Europa 26, 16132, Genova, Italy <u>Email: alice.oprandi@edu.unige.it</u>

# INDICES FROM THE PAST: RELEVANCE IN THE STATUS ASSESSMENT OF *POSIDONIA OCEANICA* MEADOWS

# Abstract

Biotic indices are major tools recommended by European Directives for assessing the ecological status of marine coastal ecosystems. Although they have a relatively recent history, ecological indices have been widely used since their appearance in the 2000s under the requirements of the Water Framework Directive. The synergistic effect of anthropogenic pressures and global change in recent years caused an accelerated rate of change in marine ecosystems such as Posidonia oceanica meadows, which is detectable through the comparison with past data. Nevertheless, historical information is often scarce and fragmentary, then hardly to find. In this work, the availability of historical data on three P. oceanica meadows along the Ligurian coast (NW Mediterranean Sea) made it possible to evaluate the change over time in their environmental status. A number of indicators and ecological indices at different levels of ecological complexity, including the multimetric PREI (Posidonia Rapid Easy Index) were employed and compared through a novel approach named RESQUE (RESilience and QUality of seagrass Ecosystem). RESQUE is a graphical approach that allows obtaining a measure of the overall environmental quality and of consistency among indices. Indices resulted inconsistent when considered individually, leaving little scope for a proper interpretation of meadows' ecological status, whereas an effective measure of the ecosystem complexity was possible applying RESOUE. All the meadows showed an improvement over time. This study confirmed the need of using multiple descriptors for the status assessment of P. oceanica meadows and the potential of the RESQUE approach that is here applied for the first time to historical data.

**Key-words**: Biotic indices, historical data, ecological quality, *Posidonia oceanica*, Mediterranean Sea

#### Introduction

*Posidonia oceanica* meadows represent one of the most threatened marine ecosystems of the Mediterranean Sea due to anthropogenic pressures. Coastal development has resulted in a generalized regression of seagrass beds over the last century that has been particularly severe in some areas of the basin, such as the Ligurian Sea (Burgos *et al.*, 2017). Although rare, first information regarding the status of seagrass beds in Liguria dates back to the late 1980s. But it was only with the Habitats Directive (92/43/CEE) that, starting in the 1990s, monitoring of *P. oceanica* meadows became a routine activity, allowing even more data to be collected.

Subsequent European directives, such as the Water Framework Directive, WFD (2000/60/EC) and the Marine Strategy Framework Directive MSFD (2008/56/EC) emphasized the importance of biological indicators to determine the ecological quality of coastal waters and advocated for the use of biotic indices to pursue the seafloor integrity (Borja *et al.*, 2000).

Seeing that *P. oceanica* is deemed an excellent indicator of water quality, several indices and descriptors have been developed basing on the features of the plant or on the structure of its meadows (Gobert *et al.*, 2009; Montefalcone, 2009). Despite the large availability of biotic indices, getting reliable information about status of seagrass can be a challenge because metrics are often not very comparable. Previous works where more indices were applied together displayed difficulties in assembling too differing responses and in drawing conclusions about the status of the habitat (Mancini *et al.*, 2020; Rigo *et al.*, 2020; Rigo *et al.*, 2021).

Although scarce and fragmentary, historical data are valuable because their comparison with the current conditions of the habitats allows change over time to be detected (Bianchi *et al.*, 2022). Of course, no historical data about *P. oceanica* biotic indices exist before 2000 but it is still possible to compute them when past information on seagrass meadows are available.

In this work, the availability of historical information on three *P. oceanica* meadows of Liguria, made it possible to calculate a set of 9 indices and descriptors on the past status of *P. oceanica*, and to evaluate habitat change over time by comparing them with current data through a novel graphical approach named RESQUE (RESilience and QUality of seagrass Ecosystem) (Oprandi *et al.*, 2021). RESQUE is able to incorporate all the different indices' responses allowing the integration of relevant meadow information into an overall expression of meadow health.

# Material and methods

The investigated P. oceanica meadows were located along the coast of Liguria, an administrative Italian region facing the northernmost part of the western Mediterranean Sea. The three study sites were selected basing on the availability of historical information on P. oceanica, which specifically date back to 1992 for Bergeggi (Sandulli et al., 1994), 1994 for Monterosso (Peirano et al., 2001; Peirano et al., 2011), and 2003 for Prelo (Lasagna et al., 2006a, b). In 2017, following previous field methods, data were collected along depth transects (Bianchi et al., 2004), laid between the lower and the upper limit of the meadows. Additionally at 15 m depth, shoots density was estimated within a sampling area of 40 cm  $\times$  40 cm (0.16 m<sup>2</sup>) in nine replicates and 18 *P. oceanica* shoots were sampled. Field and laboratory activities allowed to obtain a set of 9 indices and descriptors working at different level of ecological complexity and commonly used for the monitoring of *P. oceanica* meadows. Leaf surface LS (cm<sup>2</sup>·shoot<sup>-1</sup>) was considered as a descriptor at individual level; shoot density SD (number of shoots m<sup>-2</sup>), lower limit depth LLD (m), and the percent cover at the lower limit LLC (%) were considered as descriptors at population level; epiphyte biomass EB, expressed as the ratio between the mean epiphyte weight per shoot and the mean leaf surface per shoot (mgdw·cm<sup>2</sup>) was considered as a descriptor at community level; Conservation Index CI, Substitution Index SI and Phase Shift Index PSI were considered as seascape indices (Montefalcone, 2009) and finally, PREI (Posidonia Rapid and Easy Index), due to its formula combining more metrics, was considered as a multilevel descriptor (Gobert et al., 2009).

The 9 indices and descriptors were compared among themselves and over time through the RESQUE approach (Oprandi *et al.*, 2021). All data were normalized to get comparable values in the range between 0 and 1 and then graphically depicted on radar charts. According to the RESQUE approach, the total area inscribed in the resulting polygons was considered as a measure of the overall environmental quality, while circularity of the polygon perimeter was considered as an expression of consistency between indices and as a measure of the meadow resilience. Relative Area Index (RAI) and Relative Circularity Index (RCI) were calculated by dividing the area and circularity of each meadow' polygon for those of a regular nonagon representing an ideal polygon whose scores were all equal to 1 (maximum quality and consistency combination).

# Results

Indices showed very variable responses in the three meadows in both the time periods, as confirmed by the common edgy profile of the polygons (Fig. 1) and by the general low values of circularity (Tab.1). Radar charts resulted from the plotted EQR scores revealed, however, an overall improvement over time in all the meadows according to the size and shape of the polygons (Fig. 1). The most irregular ones, corresponding to the lowest values of circularity were Bergeggi 2017 and Prelo 2003 (respectively, 0.500 and 0.517) (Tab. 1). Monterosso, whether past or current, had the maximum values of both, area (20554 in 1994, 28509 in 2017) and circularity (0.696 in 1994, 0.721 in 2017) (Tab. 1). Area of the polygons always increased through time by approximately 35 %. Similarly, circularity increased in Monterosso and Prelo by about 5% but showed a negative trend in Bergeggi with a slight decrease (6%). Finally, even when considered together, RAI and RCI, confirmed an improvement over time in the three meadows (Tab. 1), that was definitely more pronounced in Prelo (+22%) followed by Monterosso (+14%) and Bergeggi (+8%).



Fig. 1: Polygons resulting from the EQR scores of all the indices in the 3 meadows for the two time periods. An ideal nonagon is represented in the last diagram as a reference

	AREA (pixels)	RELATIVE AREA INDEX (RAI)	CIRCULARITY	RELATIVE CIRCULARITY INDEX (RCI)	AVERAGE RAI - RCI
BERGEGGI 1992	9428	0.193	0.533	0.615	0.404
BERGEGGI 2017	14585	0.299	0.500	0.577	0.438
MONTEROSSO 1994	20554	0.421	0.696	0.804	0.612
MONTEROSSO 2017	28509	0.584	0.721	0.833	0.708
PRELO 2003	9650	0.198	0.517	0.597	0.397
PRELO 2017	18243	0.374	0.555	0.641	0.507
	Reference	e Area: 48815	Reference Cir	cularity: 0.866	

Tab. 1 – Area and circularity of polygons and their corresponding indices. Reference values of area and circularity correspond to those of the regular nonagon whose 9 EQR scores are all equal to 1.

# **Discussion and Conclusions**

Among the three P. oceanica meadows, Monterosso was found to be, on the whole, the best-preserved ones according to both historical and recent data. Its good conditions were consistent with previous studies (Peirano et al., 2011), as it has been extensively investigated in the past years, being the largest *P. oceanica* meadow in the eastern Liguria included in the Cinque Terre Marine Protected Area (MPA). Additionally, Cinque Terre is the first Ligurian MPA, and since its establishment in 1997, P. oceanica has benefited from more than 20 years of protection regime that surely encouraged the improvement of Monterosso meadow. Bergeggi and Prelo, while similarly showed an improvement over time, had a significantly lower health status than Monterosso. Although the meadows suffered from various local impacts in recent decades, their reduced resilience, confirmed by the low circularity values, probably has the same origin. Indeed, both meadows in the past experienced substitution by the ruderal seagrass Cymodocea nodosa and/or by the invasive algal species of the genera Caulerpa that caused a moderate phase-shift in the ecosystem (Montefalcone et al., 2007; Oprandi et al., 2014). Regression of P. oceanica meadows in Liguria, indeed, started long before we bothered to measure it. Bergeggi MPA has a comparatively recent establishment than Cinque Terre MPA but the meadow has been heavily affected by the construction of a large artificial beach in the 1970s and by yearly beach replenishments (Montefalcone, 2009). Prelo is the only meadow that is not located within a MPA. Although it has been affected in the past by anchoring and by the construction of a jetty that altered the local hydrodynamics with negative consequences on the seagrass (Lasagna et al., 2006b), to date, it seems to be the meadow that proportionally recovered more.

However, the overall recovery trend resulted in all sites is consistent with other evidences in the Mediterranean Sea (De los Santos *et al.*, 2019). If in Monterosso, the recovery is a natural consequence of the enforcement of conservation policies that in last decades made ceased or slowed down the decline of *P. oceanica* meadows, in Prelo and Bergeggi, the recovery is definitely linked to the, recently observed, reduction in the spatial distribution of substitute species.

Due to the complexity of seagrass habitat, the use of more indices and metrics has already been recognized as a pivotal method for the status assessment of *P. oceanica* meadows (Bianchi *et al.*, 2022). Nevertheless, differently from any other approach before, RESQUE provide an easy way to compare and interpret the different indices responses through a real portrayal of the habitat quality. The graphical approach confirmed the

potential of RESQUE, here applied for the first time to historical data, in returning a concise but comprehensive measure of ecosystem complexity, which is even more appreciated in the comparison over time.

# Bibliography

- BIANCHI C.N., PRONZATO R., CATTANEO-VIETTI R., BENEDETTI-CECCHI L., MORRI C., PANSINI M., CHEMELLO R., MILAZZO M., FRASCHETTI S., TERLIZZI A., PEIRANO A., SALVATI E., BENZONI F., CALCINAI B., CERRANO C., BAVESTRELLO G. (2004) - Hard bottoms. *Biol. Mar. Medit.*, 11(1): 185-215.
- BIANCHI, C. N., AZZOLA, A., COCITO, S., MORRI, C., OPRANDI, A., PEIRANO, A., SGORBINI S., MONTEFALCONE, M. (2022) - Biodiversity monitoring in Mediterranean marine protected areas: Scientific and methodological challenges. *Diversity*, 14(1): 43.
- BORJA A., FRANCO J., PEREZ V. (2000) A marine biotic index to establish the ecological quality of soft-bottom benthos within European estuarine and coastal environments. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.* 40 (12): 1100–1114.
- BURGOS E., MONTEFALCONE M., FERRARI M., PAOLI C., VASSALLO P., MORRI C., BIANCHI C.N. (2017) - Ecosystem functions and economic wealth: trajectories of change in seagrass meadows. J. Clean. Prod., 168: 1108–1119.
- DE LOS SANTOS C.B., KRAUSE-JENSEN D., ALCOVERRO T., MARBA N., DUARTE C.M., VAN KATWIJK M.M., PEREZ M., ROMERO J., SANCHEZ-LIZASO J.L., ROCA G., JANKOWSKA E., PEREZ-LLORENS J.L., FOURNIER J., MONTEFALCONE M., PERGENT G., RUIZ J.M., CABAÇO S., COOK K., WILKES R.J., MOY F.E., TRAYTER G.-R., ARANO' X.S., DE JONG D.J., FERNANDEZ-TORQUEMADA Y., AUBY I., VERGARA J.J., SANTOS R. (2019) Recent trend reversal for declining European seagrass meadows. *Nat. Commun.*, 10 (1).
- GOBERT S., SARTORETTO S., RICO-RAIMONDINO V., ANDRAL B., CHERY A., LEJEUNE P., BOISSERY P. (2009) - Assessment of the ecological status of Mediterranean French coastal waters as required by the Water Framework Directive using the *Posidonia* oceanica Rapid Easy Index: PREI. Mar. Pollut. Bull., 58 (11): 1727–1733.
- LASAGNA R., MONTEFALCONE M., BIANCHI C.N., MORRI C., ALBERTELLI G. (2006a)
   Approccio macrostrutturale alla valutazione dello stato di salute di una prateria di *Posidonia* oceanica. Biol. Mar. Medit., 13: 379-385.
- LASAGNA R., MONTEFALCONE M., BIANCHI C.N., MORRI C., ALBERTELLI G. (2006b) - Morphology of a *Posidonia oceanica* meadow under altered sedimentary budget. *Biol. Mar. Medit.*, 13: 245- 249.
- MANCINI I., RIGO I., OPRANDI A., MONTEFALCONE M., MORRI C., PEIRANO A., VASSALLO P., PAOLI C., BIANCHI C.N. (2020) What biotic indices tell us about ecosystem change: Lessons from the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica*. *Vie et Milieu*, 70 (3-4): 55-61.
- MONTEFALCONE M. (2009) Ecosystem health assessment using the Mediterranean seagrass *Posidonia oceanica*: a review. *Ecol. Indic.* 9 (4): 595–604.
- MONTEFALCONE M., MORRI C., PEIRANO A., ALBERTELLI G., BIANCHI C.N. (2007) -Substitution and phase shift within the *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass meadows of NW Mediterranean Sea. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.* 75 (1–2): 63–71.
- OPRANDI A., BIANCHI C.N., KARAYALI O., MORRI C., RIGO I., MONTEFALCONE M. (2021) RESQUE: A novel comprehensive approach to compare the performance of different indices in evaluating seagrass health. *Ecol. Indic.*, 131: 108118.
- OPRANDI A., MONTEFALCONE M., FERRARI M., MORRI C., BIANCHI C.N. (2014) -Invasion of the alien green alga *Caulerpa racemosa* and phase shift within the *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass meadow of Bergeggi. *Biol. Mar. Medit.*, 21(1): 75-78.
- PEIRANO A., BIANCHI C.N., SAVINI D., FARINA G. (2001) A long-term monitoring activity on a *Posidonia oceanica* meadow at Monterosso al Mare (Ligurian Sea). *Arch. Oceanogr. Limnol.*, 22: 145-148.

- PEIRANO A., COCITO S., BANFI V., CUPIDO R., DAMASSO V., FARINA G., LOMBARDI C., MAURO R., MORRI C., RONCAROLO I., SALDAÑA S., SAVINI D., SGORBINI S., SILVESTRI C., STOPPELLI N., TORRICELLI L., BIANCHI C.N. (2011) Phenology of the Mediterranean seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* (L.) Delile: medium and long-term cycles and climate inferences. *Aquat. Bot.*, 94: 77-92.
- RIGO I., PAOLI C., DAPUETO G., PERGENT-MARTINI C., PERGENT G., OPRANDI A., MONTEFALCONE M., BIANCHI C.N., MORRI C., VASSALLO P. (2021) - The natural capital value of the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* in the North-Western Mediterranean. *Diversity*, 13(10): 499.
- RIGO I., DAPUETO G., PAOLI C., MASSA F., OPRANDI A., VENTURINI S., MEROTTO L., FANCIULLI G., CAPPANERA V., MONTEFALCONE M., BIANCHI C.N., MORRI C., PERGENT-MARTINI C., PERGENT G., POVERO P., VASSALLO P. (2020) Changes in the ecological status and natural capital of *Posidonia oceanica* meadows due to human pressure and extreme events. *Vie et Milieu*, 70 (3-4): 137-148.
- SANDULLI R., BIANCHI C.N., COCITO S., MORGIGNI M., PEIRANO A., SGORBINI S., SILVESTRI C., MORRI C. (1994) - Status of some *Posidonia oceanica* meadows on the Ligurian coast influenced by the "Haven" oil spill. *Proc. Ital. Ass. Oceanol. Limnol.*, 10: 277-286.

# Christine PERGENT-MARTINI, ACUNTO S., ANDRÉ S., BARRALON E., CALVO S., CASTEJÓN-SILVO I., CULIOLI J.M., LEHMANN L., MOLENAAR H., MONNIER B., OBERTI P., PEY A., PIAZZI L., SANTONI M.C., TERRADOS J., TOMASELLO A., PERGENT G.

EqEL, UMR CNRS SPE 6134, Université de Corse, Campus Grimaldi, 20250 Corte, France. <u>E-mail: pmartini@univ-corse.fr</u>

# *POSIDONIA OCEANICA* RESTORATION, A RELEVANT STRATEGY AFTER BOAT ANCHORING DEGRADATION?

# Abstract

The anchoring of large pleasure boats constitutes one of the main threats in shallow marine habitats and particularly for seagrass beds. In the Mediterranean, this activity has seen constant development during the last decades, causing major physical disturbances in Posidonia oceanica meadows and associated ecosystem services, notably in terms of climate change mitigation (i.e. carbon fixation and sequestration capacities). In this context, the aims of the present study are to estimate the impact of these anchoring activities on P. oceanica meadows in a particularly highlyfrequented area (Sant'Amanza gulf, SE Corsica Island) and to set up a strategy to restore this major carbon sink. Since the last decade, time-series of marine habitat maps revealed an important regression of P. oceanica meadows, with a loss of 72.9 ha, corresponding to 11% of the meadow surface and 9% decline in the total carbon fixation and sequestration performed each year. Moreover, in the most impacted part of the bay (Balistra bay), a loss of 16.6 ha (28%) has been recorded between 2011 and 2022. Following recent enforcement of anchoring regulation, prohibiting the anchoring of large units (greater than 24 m), and the lockdown linked to the COVID-19 pandemic, anchorages in the seagrass reduced by 92%, between 2018 and 2022. Natural recovery was observed at the edge of the meadow (plagiotropic rhizomes) but this growth is slow and the areas to recover are large. As a result, a transplant experiment, from cuttings harvested from the adjacent meadows, was initiated in the spring 2021. Four restoration techniques are being tested in the some pilot sites and the development of these transplants will be monitored and compared to the natural recovery.

Key-words: Anchoring, seagrass, regression, transplantation, Corsica

#### Introduction

In the Mediterranean Sea, the endemic seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* (L.) Delile forms extensive meadows from the surface to more than 40 m depth. The *P. oceanica* meadows play a major role in coastal areas by providing ecosystem functions and services notably in climate change mitigation associated with the formation of an outstanding organic deposit, the matte. This belowground structure, composed of intertwined rhizomes, roots and leaf sheaths embedded in the sediment, exhibits a very low decay rate in relation with the highly refractory nature of the organic matter and the anoxic conditions. The accretion of organic material in coastal sediments beneath the *P. oceanica* meadows constitutes one of the largest carbon sinks in coastal areas worldwide and can reach several meters in height and remain over millennia (Monnier *et al.*, 2022).

Although this species is one of the main targets of conservation actions, the regression of *P. oceanica* meadows is well-documented over the whole Mediterranean basin. As for other seagrasses worldwide, mechanical impacts, particularly related to anchoring by large boats, are of increasing importance. Despite the relatively small size of the

Mediterranean Sea, more than half of the world fleet of large pleasure boats (>24 m in length) frequent Mediterranean waters for at least eight months per year (Carreño and Lloret, 2021), mainly in the Western Mediterranean basin. In Corsica, an increase of this activity has been recorded during the last decade. Out of nearly 2,000 of these large pleasure boats counted in 2018 around the coasts of Corsica, 44% of them anchored in the southern part of the island, in Bonifacio strait, and 77% of them on the *P. oceanica* meadows (Fontaine *et al.*, 2019). The aims of this study are to estimate the impact of this anchoring on *P. oceanica* meadows in a particularly highly-frequented area (Sant'Amanza gulf, Corsica Island) and to set up a strategy to restore this carbon sink.

# Materials and Methods

The study site is located in the south-eastern part of Corsica in Sant'Amanza gulf (41.436°N, 9.246°E), an area included in the Specially Protected Area of Mediterranean Importance (SPAMI) Natural Reserve of the Strait of Bonifacio. The site covers a surface area of 1,466 ha and is notably frequented, during the summer season, by recreational boats due to its orientation, which makes it a sheltered site, especially for Balistra bay.

The information concerning the identification, movements and location of boats was based on Automatic Identification Systems (AIS), from 2010 to 2021. Eight fields of the dataset were used: Maritime Mobile Service Identity (MMSI), ship name, length, status (anchored = 1; moored = 5), speed, latitude, longitude, date, and time. Incorrect data (*e.g.*, anchored with moving speed) were removed according to Deter *et al.* (2017) and classification was made according to vessel length (20-40 m, 41-60 m, 61-80 m, and >80 m). The location of each boat was reported on a Geographical Information System (GIS; ArcGIS 10.8® software) to perform a spatial analysis. The anchoring pressure of recreational boats, in the gulf of Sant'Amanza and the bay of Balistra, was estimated from AIS data covering the period between 1<sup>st</sup> April and 30<sup>th</sup> September, corresponding to the main period of frequentation (more than 95% of the year) of the site.

The mapping of the gulf of Sant'Amanza was achieved between 0 and 50 m depth. The identification of the main marine benthic biocoenoses was based on the typology from Michez *et al.* (2011). The shallow area (<15 m depth; 627 ha) was mapped using a complete photographic coverage (BD ORTHO® 2016 – French National Geographic Institute (IGN)) with a 50 cm pixel resolution. The deeper area (>15 m depth, 839 ha) was mapped using exhaustive acoustic coverage acquired by side-scan sonar Klein  $3000^{TM}$  during the Carbonsink oceanographic survey (Ifremer) in August 2018. Ground-truth data (n = 560) were acquired using various tools according to depth (bathyscope, Remotely Operated Vehicle, underwater photo quadrat, scuba diving, Van Veen grab). These *in situ* observations were reported on ArcGIS 10.8®.

The mapping of the bay of Balistra was achieved using the BD ORTHO® 2011 (IGN, 50 cm pixel resolution), and four drone images carried out annually (12/06/2019; 16/02/2020; 24/02/2021, and 18/02/2022). These drone images, covering about 117.5 ha of the shallow waters (0-20 m depth), were acquired with a DJI Phantom 4 Pro 2.0 unmanned aerial vehicle (UAV) flying at an altitude of 30 m above sea level. The data were georeferenced with a GNSS RTK Spectra® SP 60 system (Lepont Instruments), offering centimeter level accuracy positioning, and compiled to obtain an orthomosaic with a 5 cm pixel resolution (Agisoft Metashape Professional 1.7 software). All the aerial imagery was processed using Envi 4.7® software following the method described by Bonacorsi *et al.* (2013) and integrated into ArcGIS 10.8® software. The estimation of the

surface areas occupied by the different marine benthic habitats was determined using the RGF 1993 – Lambert-1993 projection system (EPSG: 2154).

Carbon fixation and sequestration estimates were performed in 12 stations located along two transects oriented perpendicular to the coast at the central part (T1) and entrance part of the bay (T2). At the following depths (5 m, 10 m, 15 m, 20 m, 25 m, and 30 m), shoot density was measured using a 40 cm ×40 cm quadrat (5 replicates randomly distributed within the seagrass meadow) and orthotropic shoots (n = 10) were collected in June 2020. Phenological and a lepidochronological analyses were carried out. Net primary production was estimated using the lepidochronological cross method (Vela et al., 2006) taking into consideration the biomass of foliar tissues produced during a one-year period. Rhizome production was evaluated from segments of the rhizome, with roots inserted, between two dead sheaths with a minimum thickness. The carbon content (% C) was determined for each sample using elemental analysis (Elementar Vario Micro Cube®). The global estimates of carbon fixation (blades, sheaths and rhizomes) and sequestration (sheaths and rhizomes) were achieved by fitting logarithmic regression curves using the mean carbon fixation and sequestration values, determined at each depth interval along the two transects. The corresponding equations were integrated into a morphobathymetric Digital Terrain Model in ArcGIS 10.8®.

In the spring of 2021, four *P. oceanica* transplant experiments were being carried out in Balistra bay, on a site occupied by dead matte (at 15 m depth) with anchoring prohibited. The cuttings used come from a seagrass bed located at an equivalent depth in the bay (Pergent *et al.*, 2021). In total, more than 3,600 cuttings, or nearly 11,500 shoots, were transplanted over an area of 900 m<sup>2</sup>, using four different protocols (Molenaar and Meinesz, 1995; Calvo *et al.*, 2020, 2022; Castejón-Silvo and Terrados 2021; Piazzi *et al.*, 2021).

# Results

The attendance of large pleasure boats (>20 m) in the bay of Balistra experienced a very significant increase in the early 2010s (Fig. 1). In total, 371 boats over 20 m were anchored in the *P. oceanica* meadow in this area, with boats between 40 m and 60 m length being the most numerous. However, over the past three years, their number has dropped significantly from 63 boats in 2018 to 5 boats in 2021. The peak in attendance is also increasingly late with a peak in the first week of August in 2019 and in the third week of August in 2020 and 2021 (data not shown).



Fig. 1: Number and length of boats anchoring in the *P. oceanica* meadow in the bay of Balistra. R19: Decree N°123/2019; R20: Decree N°206/2020; Covid: COVID-19 pandemic.

The cartography of biocoenoses of the gulf of Sant'Amanza reveals a *P. oceanica* meadow that develops preferentially between 5 m and 30 m depth, that is the 45% of the surface area of the bay (649.7 ha), but also large areas of dead matte in the central area of the bay of Balistra, associated with anchoring (72.9 ha, 11%). The time series map of Balistra bay, between 2011 and 2022, shows an important regression of the seagrass meadows, which reached 16.6 ha, *i.e.*, nearly -28% of the original surface covered by *P. oceanica* (Fig. 2). This regression is significant (Mann-Kendall trend test) between 2011 and 2020 (-15.9 ha; -1.8 ha yr<sup>-1</sup>) and then stabilizes between 2020 and 2022 (-0.7 ha; -0.3 ha yr<sup>-1</sup>). At the same time, the surfaces of dead matte increased by 13.7 ha and the soft bottom (*e.g.*, well calibrated fine sand covering some dead matte areas) by 3.4 ha.



Fig. 2: Distribution of main biocoenoses and associations in 2011 (a), 2022 (b) in Balistra bay and carbon fixation in the gulf of Sant'Amanza (c).

Carbon fixation by the leaves of *P. oceanica* decreases with depth and varies between 1,035.2 mg C shoot<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (T2, 5 m) and 382.9 mg C shoot<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> (T1, 30 m). The mean density of *P. oceanica* meadows classically decreases with depth and it is, on average ( $\pm$  S.E.), always lower along T1 (351.0  $\pm$  194.4 shoots m<sup>-2</sup>) than along T2 (422.5  $\pm$  186.4 shoots m<sup>-2</sup>). The mean annual carbon fixation by the meadow varies between 726.2 g C m<sup>-2</sup> (5 m) and 95.4 g C m<sup>-2</sup> (30 m), reaching in average ( $\pm$  S.E.) 325.8  $\pm$  95.8 g C m<sup>-2</sup>. The annual carbon sequestration in the matte varies between 202.3 g C m<sup>-2</sup> (5 m) and 16.4 g C m<sup>-2</sup> (30 m) and is on average ( $\pm$  S.E.) 84.4  $\pm$  29.1 g C m<sup>-2</sup> (23.6% of total carbon fixation). The integration of the carbon fixation and sequestration equations over the entire bathymetric range of the *P. oceanica* meadow at the study site provides a basis for estimation of the total fixation rate at 1,531.4  $\pm$  349.3 t C yr<sup>-1</sup> for the entire gulf in 2021 (5,620.2  $\pm$  1,281.9 t CO<sub>2e</sub>; Fig. 2). The quantity of carbon sequestered reaches 373.2  $\pm$  104.1 t C yr<sup>-1</sup> (1,369.6  $\pm$  382.2 t CO<sub>2e</sub>).

The monitoring of the transplants, after one year, shows a survival rate of the cuttings that varies between 86% and 100% (Tab. 1). The greatest increase in shoot density (+22.3%)

is observed at the level of protocol 1, only protocol 3 experiences a regression in the density of the shoots (-9.4%).

 Tab. 1. Evolution of cutting survival and shoot density, between May 2021 and May 2022.

 Cutting survival and shoot density, between May 2021 and May 2022.

Cutting survival	Protocol 1	Protocol 2	Protocol 3	Protocol 4
- July 2021	89%	100%	90%	81%
- May 2022	89%	100%	87%	70%
Shoot density				
- July 2021	79%	99%	122%	91%
- May 2022	97%	108%	111%	97%

## Discussion

After an increase in the attendance of large recreational boats in the bay of Balistra, from 2010 to 2018, the number of boats declined from 2019 and started later in the summer season in 2020 and 2021 (Fig. 1). This pattern could be explained (i) by the recent regulations, relative to the anchoring of the largest boats (>24 m), in force since June 2019 (*e.g.* French Naval Prefecture, Decrees N°123/2019 and N°206/2020), and (ii) the COVID-19 pandemic and the corresponding spring lockdowns, as observed in both the Mediterranean basin and worldwide. Anchoring regulations appear to be mostly respected and constitute an effective measure to limit the impact of large recreational boating on Sant'Amanza *P. oceanica* meadow. However, such regulations are still scarce at the scale of the Mediterranean with the exception of France, Croatia and Spain – Balearic Islands (*e.g.*, Official Bulletin of the Balearic Islands, Decree N° 25/2018, 28 July 2018).

As regards more specifically the loss of the carbon sink provided by *P. oceanica* meadows, the consequences can be subdivided into two main categories: (i) a reduction in living meadow areas, which directly leads to a loss of carbon fixation and sequestration capacity, estimated respectively at  $141.3 \pm 37.1$  t C and  $33.0 \pm 9.8$  t C, or 9% of the total fixation and sequestration of the meadows from the gulf of Sant'Amanza; and (ii) a destruction of the matte, under the combined action of anchors and chains, which results in a remineralization of carbon accumulated for thousands of years in the sediments of seagrass meadows (Monnier *et al.*, 2022). In addition, the measurements carried out within the anchor tracks, showed a furrowing of the matte of 20 to 30 cm, over a width of 1 to 2 m, which is a volume of lost matte estimated on average at 0.37 m<sup>3</sup> per linear meter. Considering the average amount of carbon stored in the first 30 centimeters of *P. oceanica* matte ( $107 \pm 5$  t C ha<sup>-1</sup>; Monnier *et al.*, 2022) and the surface areas destroyed within the bay (72.9 ha), boat anchoring would be responsible for the loss of more than 7,800  $\pm 365$  t C ( $28,627 \pm 1,338$  t CO<sub>2e</sub>), *i.e.* all of the carbon sequestered by the *P. oceanica* meadow of the gulf of Sant'Amanza over the past 20 years.

Even if the protection of the *P. oceanica* meadow in the gulf of Sant'Amanza is likely to allow the natural recolonization of the seabed covered today by dead matte (measurements are in progress), the low growth rate of the plant (a few centimeters per year) and the large areas of dead matte to colonize (several tens of hectares) will require a colonization period of several decades to several centuries (Pergent-Martini *et al.*, 1995). So, the use of transplantation of cuttings of *P. oceanica* could be considered to restore this habitat and the associated ecosystem services more quickly. The preliminary results from the experiments set up in 2021 in the bay of Balistra are very encouraging

with very high survival rates (>95% in average) and mostly a multiplication of the shoots in three of the four protocols. Of course, a regular monitoring over at least three years is essential to assess the success and the interest of this approach and above all to compare it to the natural colonization. Finally, full compliance with the decree is expected, to achieve zero boat anchoring in the *P. oceanica* meadow in this protected area.

## Acknowledgments

This research has been co-financed by INTERREG program (GIREPAM), Collectivity of Corsica Corse (PADDUC-CHANGE), SETEC Foundation, Environment Office of Corsica and the French Office of Biodiversity (RenforC program). Authors thank V. Raimondi, M. Assenzo and G. Pipitone from Biosurvey S.r.l., and M.G. De Luca, M.F. Cinti, L.M. Leone and F. Pinna, researchers from ISSD, for their contribution to field works.

## **Bibliography**

- BONACORSI M., PERGENT-MARTINI C., BREAND N., PERGENT G. (2013) Is Posidonia oceanica regression a general feature in the Mediterranean Sea? *Mediterr. Mar.Sci.*, 14(1): 193-203.
- CALVO S., PIRROTTA M., TOMASELLO A. (2020) Letter to the editor regarding the article *"Taking advantage of seagrass recovery potential to develop novel and effective meadow rehabilitation methods"* by Alagna et al., published on Marine Pollution Bulletin, 149: 2019 (110578). *Mar. Pollut. Bull.*, 158: 111395.
- CALVO S., CALVO R., RAIMONDI V., ASSENZO M., PIPITONE G., TOMASELLO A. (2022) - I supporti modulari biodegradabili. In: Bacci T., La Porta B. (eds), Manuale delle tecniche e delle procedure operative per il trapianto di Posidonia oceanica. LIFE SEPOSSO (LIFE 16 GIE/IT/000761), Roma: 58-70.
- CARREÑO A., LLORET J. (2021) Environmental impacts of increasing leisure boating activity in Mediterranean coastal waters. *Ocean Coast.*, 209, 105693: 514 pp.
- CASTEJON-SILVO I., TERRADOS J. (2021) Poor success of seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* transplanting in a meadow disturbed by power line burial. *Mar. Env. Res.*, 170: 105406.
- DETER J., LOZUPONE X., INACIO A., BOISSERY P., HOLON F. (2017) Boat anchoring pressure on coastal seabed: quantification and bias estimation using AIS data. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.*, 123: 175-181.
- FONTAINE Q., MARENGO M., LEDUC M., LEJEUNE P. (2019) Étude relative à la plaisance et aux mouillages en Corse : Rapport final Année 2018/2019. Contrat OEC/STARESO: 190 pp.
- MOLENAAR H., MEINESZ A. (1995) Vegetative reproduction in *Posidonia oceanica*: survival and development of transplanted cuttings according to different spacings, arrangements and substrates. *Bot. Mar.*, 38: 313-322.
- MONNIER B., PERGENT G., MATEO M.Á., CLABAUT P., PERGENT-MARTINI C. (2022) -Quantification of blue carbon stocks associated with *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass meadows in Corsica (NW Mediterranean). *Sci. Total Environ.*, 838: 155864.
- PERGENT G., MONNIER B., PERGENT-MARTINI C. (2021) Séquestration du carbone bleu : une solution pour réduire les impacts du changement climatique? *Travaux*, 973: 54-57.
- PERGENT-MARTINI C., PASQUALINI V., PERGENT G. (1995) Monitoring of *Posidonia* oceanica meadows near the outfall of the sewage treatment plant at Marseilles (Mediterranean – France). *EARSeL Advances Remote Sens.*, 4: 128-134.
- PIAZZI L., ACUNTO S., FRAU F., ATZORI F., CINTI M.F., LEONE L., CECCHERELLI G. (2021) - Environmental engineering techniques to restore degraded *Posidonia oceanica* meadows. *Water*, 13: 661.
- VELA A., LEONI V., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTINI C. (2006) Relevance of Leaf matter loss in the functioning of *Posidonia oceanica* system. *Biol. Mar. Medit.*, 13(4): 102-106.

# Dimitris POURSANIDIS, IOSSIFIDIS S., VASSILOPOULOU V.

terraSolutions Marine Environment Research, Archimidous 63 Heraklion, Crete, Greece <u>E-mail: dpoursanidis@gmail.com</u>

# DETERIORATION OF PRECIOUS BLUE CARBON ECOSYSTEMS IN A NATURA 2000 SITE: THE IMPACT OF ANCHORAGE IN THE SEAGRASS MEADOWS OF THE NATIONAL MARINE PARK OF ALONISSOS NORTHERN SPORADES

## Abstract

Climate, oceanographic and seascape factors define where, how and to what extent, seagrass meadows in the Mediterranean Sea grow and thrive. The same characteristics define where touristic boats find shelter during windy and stormy weather conditions all year around when they sail in the Aegean Sea. There, islands, and islets form complex archipelago, where human and nature coexist for millennia. Among them, Sporades Archipelagos is a unique system, where the National Marine Park of Alonnisos Northern Sporades has been established in 1992. There, extended seagrass meadows cover almost all sites with low wind effects and developing on soft sediment bottoms up to 35 m depth, while in deep waters, where the dim light reach, elusive coralligenous formations with gorgonian forests thrive. During summer period, the Park is among the most famous destinations for sailing and short-term holidays using boats and sailings. In absence of eco mooring systems, the impacts of the anchorage to the seagrass meadows are expected to be concerning; however, until now no information was available. During the period 2018-2021, under the project INTERREG MED AMAre and a funded initiative by the Management Body, a non-destructive protocol has been used by means of scientific scuba diving to collect data for the characterization of the ecological status of the meadows in selected sites of the two zones of the Marine Park, based on the pressure exerted by vessels. In almost all sites, at depths shallower than 15 m, the meadows showed a bad ecological status with destroyed parts and invasion by alien algae, while in the deep portions the situation was better than in shallow waters, showing clear impacts of the anchorage to the critical blue carbon ecosystem. The need for monitoring is imperative in order to catch upon early signs of habitat degradation and plan mitigation measures.

Key-words: anchorage, ecosystem services, human activity, scientific diving, seagrass.

# Introduction

One of the most effective means of protecting marine and coastal biodiversity is through the establishment and effective management of marine protected areas (MPAs). According to IUCN's definition, a protected area "*is a clearly defined geographical space, recognized, dedicated and managed, through legal or other effective means, to achieve the long-term conservation of nature with associated ecosystem services and cultural values*". In Greece, two areas have been declared as MPAs, the Zakynthos Marine Park putting conservation emphasis on the loggerhead turtle *Caretta caretta*, and the National Marine Park of Alonnisos Northern Sporades (NMPANS) established for the preservation of the monk seal *Monachus monachus*. The latter is the largest coastal marine park in the Mediterranean and has been declared as a marine park under a Presidential Degree in 1992, while the final declaration was endorsed by the official paper of the government 621/19.6.203. The NMPANS has been selected as the Greek case study of the INTERREG MED project AMAre, followed by a back-to-back project from the Management Body of the Marine Park in 2021 with the aim to provide concrete scientific results, useful towards drafting an effective management plan for the MPA. Emphasis has been given to the priority habitat 1120\* (*Posidonia oceanica*) as it is the dominant seagrass species in the Marine Park with a wide distribution in the area and early signs of pressure have been already identified from the Management Body. The aim of this work is to provide insights on the spatial distribution of the seagrass ecosystem status using non-destructive methods that are widely used in the Mediterranean Sea, which can be handled over by non-experts as citizen scientists to provide robust results and quantitative and replicable data on the ecosystem status of the precious seagrass meadows (Boudouresque et al. 2012; Vassallo et al. 2013). The results are intended to be used for local scale maritime spatial planning and future steps towards the installation of eco mooring systems. All in all, the work sets the baseline for the current status during the period 2018-2021 aiming at the continuous monitoring of the priority habitat and setting a policy-society discussion panel on the needs for the conservation of seagrass meadows.

# **Materials and Methods**

Field work took place during the summer of 2021, in June and July (postponed due to the pandemic, as it was initially planned for 2020). Based on the previous expeditions during the AMAre project (Poursanidis and Vassilopoulou, 2019), field work has been designed in order to survey old stations and to also include new ones in sites that have not been investigated in the previous work due to logistics and weather constrains. At each station at 10, 15, and 20 m depth, the following data have been collected: a) shoot density using a frame of 20 cm  $\times$  20 cm in five replicates per depth; b) 25 m long transects, using a topographic tape, for collecting data for the estimation of the Conservation Index (Moreno et al., 2001) only at 10 m depth in three replicates; c) lower limit depth and typology; d) occurrence of invasive alien species; e) occurrence of marine litter; and f) signs of human destruction such as anchorage by boats or other bottom contact that caused significant and severe impacts in seagrass meadows. Data interpretation follows the recommendation by UNEP/MAP on the Common Indicators 1 & 2 for the Ecological Objective 1 (EO1) for the Posidonia oceanica meadows (UNEP/MAP, 2019). The selection of these metrics was based on the non-destructive nature of them, the potential use by non-experts after minimum training and the absence of wet laboratory requirements for the drawing of insights. The developed indicators that link the seagrass ecological status with the EQR scale would provide additional value, but these analyses require more sampling effort, logistics and fundings. When availability of time and laboratory infrastructures are limited, the metrics here adopted can anyway provide fast and efficient insights on seagrass status for each sampling site.

# Results

Fourteen stations have been visited during the latest campaign in 2021. Three of them are in the Zone A and eleven in the Zone B. The unbalanced distribution among the two zones of the MPA is due to the distance from the main harbor (only one in the south part of the Zone B), the operational capacity of the available inflatable boat and the weather conditions during fieldworks. Almost all the stations showed a good to excellent status in the deep portions of the meadows (at 20 m depth) and gradually changed to moderate and bad in the shallower portions (15 m and 10 m depth) (Fig. 1; Tab. 1).



Fig. 1: Boxplots of the mean  $(\pm sd)$  shoot density per depth in all the stations.

The Conservation Index showed a moderate variability among depths and stations (Fig. 2). The majority of the stations showed signs of anchorage, dead noble shells, invasive alien macroalgae and seagrass along with marine litter. The invasive seagrass *Halophila stipulacea* was present in situations where *P. oceanica* meadow has been dredged by the repeated anchorage and the integrity has been lost. The green alien macroalgae *Caulerpa cylindracea* was also present mostly in sites that were protected by winds. Marine litter was present mostly in shallow waters of all stations, with origins either from the oceanographic circulation or the tourism activities from yachting and boating.



Fig. 2: Conservation Index per station.

The noble shell (*Pinna nobilis*) was dead in all sites of the Marine Park. The first signs of its decline have been recorded in 2019 when the mortality has been spread in the Aegean Sea (Zotou et al., 2020). The shallow portions of the majority of the stations have scars of anchorage or even anchored boats. These are of variable size and extent, while in some locations, deep trenches from repeated anchorage and large yachts have caused severe dredges and destructions. In few stations, the meadow until 15 m depth has been almost disappeared and the sediments have been pulverized from the heavy repeated anchorage.

	mean sl	mean shoot density per m <sup>2</sup>	per m <sup>2</sup>			
Station	20m	15m	10m	lower limit depth	lower limit typology	pressures/threats
Agios Petros	<u>400</u>	305	470	31	Natural Shaded	Dead noble shells, marine litter, signs of anchorage
Leftos Gyalos	<u>410</u>	<u>500</u>	<u>680</u>	31	Natural Shaded	Dead noble shells, marine litter, signs of anchorage, <i>Halophila stipulacea</i>
Tzortzi Gyalos	<u>425</u>	335	295	32	Natural Shaded	Dead noble shells, signs of anchorage, marine litter
Vasiliko	200	<u>45</u>	40	31	Natural Shaded	Dead noble shells, <i>Halophila stipulacea</i> , <i>Caulerpa cylindracea</i> , signs of anchorage, destroyed meadow, marine litter
Peristera South	235	<u>45</u>	<u>40</u>	31	Natural Shaded	Dead noble shells, <i>Halophila stipulacea</i> , <i>Caulerpa cylindracea</i> , signs of anchorage, destroyed meadow, marine litter
Milia	<u>405</u>	390	440	33	Natural Shaded	Dead noble shells, <i>Halophila stipulacea</i> , <i>Caulerpa</i> <i>cylindracea</i> , signs of anchorage
Agios Dimitrios North	230	<u>80</u>	<u>55</u>	31	Natural Shaded	Dead noble shells, <i>Halophila stipulacea</i> , <i>Caulerpa cylindracea</i> , signs of anchorage, destroyed meadow, marine litter
Vala at Gioura island	280	305	555	32	Natural Shaded	Signs of anchorage
Agios Petros at Kyra Panagia Island	<u>280</u>	445	640	33	Natural Shaded	Dead noble shells, <i>Halophila stipulacea</i> , <i>Caulerpa cylindracea</i> , signs of anchorage, destroyed meadow, marine litter
Gerakas	<u>360</u>	385	480	32	Natural Shaded	Dead noble shells, signs of anchorage
Kalamakia	<u>240</u>	320	295	31	Natural Shaded	Dead noble shells, Halophila stipulacea, Caulerpa cylindracea, signs of anchorage
Roussoum	<u>285</u>	<u>515</u>	405	33	Natural Shaded	Dead noble shells, signs of anchorage
Skatzoura	<u>405</u>	<u>440</u>	<u>560</u>	32	Natural Shaded	No pressures
Dyo Adelfia	385	<u>435</u>	<u>540</u>	33	Natural Shaded	No pressures

This situation already appeared from the expedition of 2018, during the Interreg MED AMAre project and initiated the needs for a thorough investigation of the conditions, using scientific diving and protocols but also Earth Observation data, which allowed us to count boats at the study locations using daily Planet SuperDove data at 3 m pixel size.

## Discussion

In view of the NMPAS, from the perspective of a visitor looking at the map, the largest coastal marine protected area of the European waters appears as an attractive destination, far away from the anthropocentric crowded islands. There are expectations of "pristine" seas and elusive habitats occur, allowing a dream of a seascape full of life. However, when zooming into the coves and bays and counting the amount of the boats that everyday cross over the marine area, the enemies of Poseidon appear and show they dark faces. Repeated anchorage for years, without any regulation or rules, have the power to destroy the shallow portions of seagrass meadows, a habitat of priority importance for the European Union that quite recently has taken the place in the position of the blue carbon as among the most important habitats to compensate for carbon offsets. However, given the slow growth of this plant, any anchorage activity that destroys an area of 20  $m^2$  each time will take at least some decades to recover the seagrass appearance, also including the banning of anchorage and restoration activities. No robust information is available up to now on the time needed to recover again the stored carbon in the rhizomes and the matte. By that, there is an urgent need for harmonized action among the Mediterranean countries, to halt this behavior and promote the sustainable use of permanent mooring systems in any cove and bay of our sea.

## Acknowledgments

Part of this research has been funded by the Management Body of Alonnisos Northern Sporades Marine Park. Special thanks to Giorgos Koulopoulos for his tremendous support during the fieldwork.

# Bibliography

- BOUDOURESQUE C.F., BERNARD G., BONHOMME P., CHARBONNEL E., DIVIACCO G., MEINESZ A., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTIN C., RUITTON, C., TUNESI L. (2012) -Protection and conservation of Posidonia oceanica meadows. Ramoge and RAC/SPA Publishers, Tunis: 202 pp.
- VASSALLO P., PAOLI C., ROVER A., MONTEFALCONE M., MORRI C., BIANCHI C.N. (2013) - The value of the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica*: a natural capital assessment. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.*, 75(1-2): 157-167. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.marpolbul.2013.07.044
- ZOTOU M., GKRANTOUNIS P., KARADIMOU E., TSIRINTANIS K., SINI M., POURSANIDIS D., AZZOLIN M., DAILIANI T., KYTINOU E., ISSARI Y., GERAKARIS V., SALOMIDI M., LARDI P., RAMFOS A., AKRIVOS V., SPINOS E., DIMITRIADIS C., PAPAGEORGIOU D., LATTOS A., GIANTSIS I., MICHAELIDIS B., VASSILOPOULOU V., MILIOU A., KATSANEVAKIS S. (2020) *Pinna nobilis* in the Greek seas (NE Mediterranean): on the brink of extinction? *Medit. Mar. Sci.*, 21(3): 575-591. https://doi.org/10.12681/mms.23777
- MORENO D., AGUILERA P.A., CASTRO H. (2001) Assessment of the conservation status of seagrass (*Posidonia oceanica*) meadows: implications for monitoring strategy and the decision-making process. *Biol. Conserv.*, 102: 325-332. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(01)00080-5
- UNEP/MAP (2019) Agenda Item 8: Monitoring Protocols for IMAP Common Indicators related to Pollution and Guidance on monitoring concerning IMAP Common Indicators related to

*Biodiversity and Non-Indigenous Species. Monitoring Protocols for IMAP Common Indicators related to Biodiversity and Non-Indigenous species.* 7th Meeting of the Ecosystem Approach Coordination Group, Athens, Greece, 9 September 2019: 293 pp.

POURSANIDIS D., VASSILOPOULOU V. (2019) - The National Marine Park of Alonnisos Northern Sporades: an area of rich natural and cultural heritage facing human and climatic pressures. *In:* Conference Proceedings of the International Conference in Management of Accessible Underwater, Cultural and Natural Heritage Sites: "Dive in Blue Growth", *Athens, Greece, 16-18 October 2019*: 217 - 225 Francesca ROSSI, ROMERO G., PEY A., VENTURA P., LOQUES F., DERIJARD B., COTTALORDA J.M., DI FRANCO E., GUIDETTI P., BUSSOTTI S. Université Côte d'Azur, CNRS, UMR 7035 ECOSEAS, Nice, France

E-mail: francesca.rossi@cnrs.fr

# THE TROPHIC ROLE OF THE NECROMASS OF *POSIDONIA* OCEANICA (L) DELILE IN THE SURF ZONE OF SANDY SHORES

## Abstract

In the Mediterranean, the detritus (necromass) of the endemic seagrass Posidonia oceanica (L) Delile accumulates on the seafloor of sheltered and embayed sandy shores, where it forms organically-enriched patches interspersed within an unvegetated bare sandy matrix. This habitat is often considered important as food and refuge for both invertebrates and fishes, yet it is little studied. We present here results from an ongoing study where we have sampled patches of seagrass detritus and sandy substrate across 6 beaches with a different degree of urbanisation in the area of Cote d'Azur, North-Western Mediterranean, France. We compared assemblages of fishes (with in situ non-destructive visual censuses) associated with bare sand to those found in P. oceanica wrack beds and we examined the trophic relationships between detritus, invertebrates and two dominant invertivorous fishes, through stomach content (fish) and stable isotopes (not shown). We have found, so far, more fishes on the detritual patches. Stomach contents of these fish taxa were often composed of invertebrates found in the detritus. Stable isotope samples are in progress. We will discuss the ecological role of this habitat derived from the natural cycle of the iconic Mediterranean seagrass P. oceanica and the importance of extending conservation initiatives to its necromass.

Key-words: macrophyte, wrack, sandy shores, UVC, Mediterranean Sea

# Introduction

Seagrass primary production often exceeds herbivore consumption and the often large amount of seagrass detritus contribute to carbon burial and to foodweb subsidies locally or in other ecosystems, where detritus is drifted by water current (Mateo & Romero, 1997; Polis et al., 1997; Heck et al., 2008). On Mediterranean sheltered and embayed sandy shores, the detritus of the iconic and endemic seagrass Posidonia oceanica (L) Delile derived from local meadows may accumulate on both the supralittoral and the surf zone (Colombini & Chelazzi, 2003). On the supralittoral beach, they form berm-like structures, sometimes called banquettes, whereas in the surf zone they form patches of an organically-enriched brown bed interspersed within an unvegetated bare sandy matrix (Vacchi et al., 2017). These accumulations are recognised to be important for coastal carbon cycling, for habitat and food provision to many marine and terrestrial invertebrates (Gallmaetzer et al., 2005; Costa et al., 2019) and for limiting beach erosion (Vacchi et al., 2017). Moreover, it is generally recognised that fish species might use them as a habitat providing food and refuge (Personnic et al., 2014; Boudouresque et al., 2016), as for other seagrass detritus (Baring et al., 2018). But scientific evidence for P. oceanica wrack beds is limited and, only recently, Bussotti et al. (2022) observed in the surf zone of Sardinian waters more omnivore and invertivore fishes on Posidonia patches than on bare sediment, often acting like feeding on the detritus. The study however did not investigate invertebrate distribution and fish diet. In this study, we investigate

invertebrate and fish assemblage distribution and the diet of most abundant fishes across sandy embayed beaches of the Cote d'Azur. We also plan to use stable isotopes to investigate fish and invertebrate diet, but these results will not be presented here. Here, in particular, we expect more fishes associated with the *Posidonia* detritus than the sand and that the invertebrate assemblage associated with detritus resembles that found in the fish gut content.

## Materials and methods

During June - September 2021 we sampled 6 sandy shores (hereafter Sites), along the Côte d'Azur, between Cap d'Antibes ( $43^{\circ} 32' 59'' \text{ N}$ ,  $7^{\circ} 07' 48'' \text{ E}$ ) and Cap Ferrat ( $43^{\circ} 41' 0'' \text{ N}$ ,  $7^{\circ} 20' 0'' \text{ E}$ ) (Western Mediterranean Sea, France). The sites were all pocket beaches, embedded around artificial groynes or natural rocky shores, where seagrass accumulation on the emerging beach was removed during spring-summer. They had, however, a different level of artificialization, being the sites of Galice and Passable the most artificial and the sites of Paloma and Ondes the least ones (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1: Study sites

At each site, we selected 3 similar *Posidonia* detritus patches and 3 sandy patches, by snorkeling. Fish assemblages were quantitatively assessed 3 times by means of the "stationary point counts" of 3 m radius (Bohnsack & Bannerot, 1986). Abundance, size and behavior (swimming/feeding and hiding/camouflage behaviors) of fishes was estimated. Here we only analyze fish density at the second sampling campaign, when we captured the 2 most abundant and widespread invertivores fish species (up to 5 fishes per site) using a fishing harpoon in and sampled for seagrass detritus using a 20 cm diameter fishnet. We collected 3 replicate fishnets at each of 3 patches per site. In the laboratory, we analysed fish stomach content, sorted and identified invertebrate species for both the fish stomach and the detritus. We also prepared all the samples for stable isotope analyses, which are still in progress and they will not be presented here.

We assessed the distribution patterns of both invertebrate and fish assemblages by means of generalized linear models for the multivariate density data with the function 'manyglm' from the mvabund R package (Wang *et al.*, 2012). As predictor variables, we considered "Habitat" (2 levels: detritus and sand) and "Site" (6 levels) as crossed factors with 3 replicated transects for fish assemblages; "Site" and "patches" (nested in Site for the invertebrates found in the detritus and "patches" for the gut content for each of the 2 fish

species). Non-metric multidimensional scaling (nMDS, Bray–Curtis distances) was used to visualize the results of the multivariate generalized linear models (r package vegan).

#### Results

We counted 18 fish taxa across sites and habitats (sand vs detritus) and there were differences in the interaction Habitat x Site in the density distribution of fishes (Deviance5,23 = 64.17, p= 0.01). The distribution of fishes differed between habitats at all sites except one (Galice beach). The differences among habitats were mainly due to the fact that more species and individuals were more associated with the detritus than the sand (Fig. 2). *Mullus surmuletus* and *Symphodus tinca*, together with *Diplodus sargus* were among the most abundant (20, 9 and 24% of the total density, respectively) and most spread species across sites (42, 40 and 69% of total transects). We examined the two invertivorous species for stomach content.



Fig. 2: nMDS for fish density. Points indicate the sites and the type of patches, the names are the most important fishes.

There were differences in prey items abundance and taxa among species and sites (Deviance 5,27=30.64, p= 0.046). Both species showed similar prey items, except in the Salis beach (Deviance 1,7=11.08, p = 0.05) and there were differences among sites only for *M. surmuletus* (Deviance 5,9=67.2 p=0.01). Some detritus leaves were also collected in the gut, especially for *S. tinca* (90% of specimens captured). Overall, Gammaridae (especially *Gammarus* sp) and Isopoda (especially *Idotea* sp.) characterised the gut of both species, especially for 3 out of the 6 sites, whereas Ophiuroidea and Polychaeta were found in fishes fished in the Galice beach. Gastropods (*Bittium* sp) characterised more often the gut of the fishes collected in the Passable and Fosses Beaches (Fig. 3a). We collected 47 species and 2338 individuals of macrofauna invertebrates in the detritus patches. There was a lot of variation among patches, but there were clear differences among sites in the invertebrate distribution associated with the presence of detritus of *Posidonia* (Deviance 5, 41= 324,0 p = 0.01, Fig. 3b). The differences among sites were

mainly due to the abundance of the bivalve *Loripes lacteus* at the Galice site and to the abundance of Gammaridae (*Gammarus* sp and *Gammarella fucicola*) and Isopoda (*Idotea balthica*) at the 3 sites of Ondes, Paloma and Salis. The gasteropoda *Bittium* sp and *Jujubinus* sp characterized some of the patches at the remaining sites (Fig 3b).



Fig. 3: nMDS (Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index after log transformation) for (a) the gut content of the two fish species across sites and (b) the invertebrate assemblage associated with the seagrass detritus. Analyses for the invertebrate assemblage were done with the matrix of species. Here we indicate high level taxa for analogy with the gut content

## **Discussion and conclusions**

Fish associations to macrophyte detritus have been little examined (Baring *et al.*, 2018), especially for the Mediterranean Sea (Bussotti et al., 2022), where P. oceanica detritus is recognized as an important habitat (Boudouresque et al., 2016; Vacchi et al., 2017). The surf zone, in particular, represents an important habitat to forage or hide in for coastal fishes during a part of their life cycle (Esposito et al., 2015). In this study, most species, which included the numerically dominant Diplodus sargus, Symphodus tinca, and Mullus surmuletus, were more abundant on the detritus. This result is consistent with data reported by Bussotti et al. (2022) suggesting as a general pattern that detritus is an important habitat component for these species in the surf zone. These taxa are well known to mostly inhabit rocky reefs and P. oceanica meadows (e.g. Guidetti, 2000) and they might move between adjacent rocky reefs and P. oceanica meadows using detritus patches as shelter, as observed by Barings et al. (2018). Bussotti et al. (2022) observed that along Sardinian coasts several fishes showed more frequent feeding acts on detritus than on sand, including the invertivorous fishes *M. surmuletus*, *S. tinca*, omnivorous sparids (ex Diplodus spp.) and the piscivorous Serranus scriba. We observed a large number of invertebrate species, especially crustaceans, inhabiting the Posidonia detritus. Even if similar studies are lacking for the Mediterranean Sea, some papers report significant abundances of prey for invertivorous fishes (e.g., crustaceans, mollusks, meiofauna species) within the detritus accumulating within P. oceanica meadows or within bottom depressions, between stones or boulders (Gallmetzer et al., 2005; Remy et al., 2018, Costa et al., 2019). The same invertebrates found within the detritus were found in the stomachs of the fishes studied. Studies conducted in southwestern Australia reported particularly high densities of crustacean amphipods in wrack accumulations and in the stomachs of fish feeding on them (Baring *et al.*, 2018).
Vanderklift and Jacoby (2003), moreover, reported a significant relationship between species number, abundance or biomass of invertivorous fishes and the amount of drifting plant material in sandy substrates adjacent to seagrass beds. In addition, in our study some detritus was found in the stomach of both fish species, further indicating that detritus and invertebrates living in there constitute feeding items. Very likely, the detritus supported invertebrate assemblages and provided invertebrate preys to invertivorous fishes. In turn, this might increase the availability of small fishes for piscivorous predators. Further evidence on the feeding role of the detritus for fishes will be provided using stable isotopes, which may help estimating the carbon contribution of detritus to fish diet, especially for commercially interesting fishes. In conclusion, this study highlights the importance of detritus as a foraging area for even commercially important fishes. The current decline of several vegetated habitats could thus have negative consequences far beyond the areas where seagrasses grow and conservation efforts should consider seagrass detritus. We should also notice that the wrack in the surf zone does not come only directly from the Posidonia meadows. but also from the accumulations on the supralittoral beach (Vacchi et al., 2017). In touristic regions like the Mediterranean, beach wracks are often perceived as unpleasant and as an ecosystem 'disservice', driving beach grooming and sand nourishment procedures for their removal (Ruiz Frau et al., 2020). Improving ecological knowledge on the role of this detritus and demonstrating its role as feeding ground for fishes of commercial interest should contribute to making stakeholders more aware that this practice is a threat for the shore and for biodiversity.

#### Acknowledgements

This study is part of the project ECoMéd (*Région SUD*; project number 2020\_06227). We thank the colleagues and the students that took part in the field campaigns.

#### Bibliography

- BARING R. J., FAIRWEATHER P. G., LESTER R. E. (2018) Trophic relationships among animals associated with drifting wrack. *Mar. Freshw. Res.*, 69: 1248-1258. https://doi.org/10.1071/MF17274
- BOHNSACK J.A., BANNEROT S.P. (1986) A stationary visual census technique for quantitatively assessing community structure of coral reef fishes. NOAA Technical Report NMFS, 41: 1–15.
- BOUDOURESQUE C.F., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTINI, C., RUITTON, S., THIBAUT T., VERLAQUE M. (2016) The necromass of the *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass meadow: fate, role, ecosystem services and vulnerability. *Hydrobiologia* 781: 25-42. DOI 10.1007/s10750-015-2333-y
- BUSSOTTI S., GUIDETTI P., ROSSI F. (2022) *Posidonia oceanica* wrack beds as a fish habitat in the surf zone. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.,* 272. 107882. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecss.2022.107882
- COLOMBINI I., CHELAZZI L. (2003) Influence of marine allochthonous input on sandy beach communities. *Oceanogr. Mar. Biol.*, 41: 115-159.
- COSTA V., MAZZOLA A., ROSSI F., VIZZINI S. (2019) Decomposition rate and in vertebrate colonization of seagrass detritus along a hydrodynamic gradient in a Mediterranean coastal basin: The Stagnone di Marsala (Italy) case study. *Mar. Ecol.*, 40: e12570. https://doi.org/10.1111/maec.12570
- ESPOSITO V., CASTRIOTA L., BATTAGLIA P., CONSOLI P., ROMEO T., SCOTTI G., ANDALORO F. (2015) Fish community in a surf zone of the northern Sicilian coast (Mediterranean Sea): diversity and functional guild composition. *Mediterr. Mar. Sci.*, 16: 502-512. https://doi.org/10.12681/mms.1139

- GALLMETZER I., PFLUGFELDER B., ZEKELY J., OTT J.A., (2005) Distribution and diversity of mobile macrofauna in shallow sublittoral accumulations of *Posidonia oceanica* detritus. *Mar. Biol.*, 147: 517-523.
- GOLANI D., GALIL B. (1991) Trophic relationships of colonizing and indigenous goatfishes (Mullidae) in the eastern Mediterranean with special emphasis on decapod crustaceans. *Hydrobiologia*, 218: 27-33.
- GUIDETTI P. (2000) Differences among fish assemblages associated with nearshore *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass beds, rocky-algal reefs and unvegetated sand habitats in the Adriatic Sea. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.*, 50: 515-529.
- HECK K.L., CARRUTHERS T.J., DUARTE C.M., HUGHES A.R., KENDRICK G., ORTH R.J., WILLIAMS S.W. (2008) Trophic transfers from seagrass meadows subsidize diverse marine and terrestrial consumers. *Ecosystems*, 11: 1198-1210.
- MATEO M.A., ROMERO J. (1997) Detritus dynamics in the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica*: Elements for an ecosystem carbon and nutrient budget. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 151: 43-53.
- PERSONNIC S., BOUDOURESQUE C.F., ASTRUCH P., BALLESTEROS E., BLOUET S., BELLAN-SANTINI D., BONHOMME P., THIBAULT-BOTHA D., FEUNTEUN E., HARMELIN-VIVIEN M., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTINI C., PASTOR J., POGGIALE J.C., RENAUD F., THIBAUT T., RUITTON S. (2014) - An ecosystem-based approach to assess the status of a Mediterranean ecosystem, the *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass meadow. *PlosOne*, 9: 1-17 (e98994).
- POLIS G.A., ANDERSON W.B., HOLT R.D. (1997) Towards an integration of landscape and food web ecology: the dynamics of spatially subsidized food webs. *Annu. Rev. Ecol. Evol. Syst.*, 28: 289-316.
- REMY F., MASCART T., DE TROCH M., LOÏC M.N., LEPOINT G. (2018) Seagrass organic matter transfer in *Posidonia oceanica* macrophytodetritus accumulations. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.*, 212: 73-79.
- RUIZ-FRAU A., TORSTEN K., MARBÀ N. (2019) In the blind-spot of governance Stakeholder perceptions on seagrasses to guide the management of an important ecosystem services provider. *Science of The Total Environment*, 688: 1081-1091
- VACCHI M., DE FALCO G., SIMEONE S., MONTEFALCONE M., MORRI C., FERRARI M., BIANCHI C.N. (2017) Biogeomorphology of the Mediterranean *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass meadows. *Earth Surf. Process. Landf.*, 42: 42-54.
- VANDERKLIFT, M.A., JACOBY, C.A. (2003) Patterns in fish assemblages 25 years after major seagrass loss. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 247: 225-235.
- WANG, Y., NAUMANN, U., WRIGHT, S.T. AND WARTON, D.I. (2012) mvabund– an R package for model-based analysis of multivariate abundance data. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 3: 471-474. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2041-210X.2012.00190.x

#### Andrea TURSI, MASTROTOTARO F., BOTTALICO A., DE GIOSA F., MONTESANTO F., LISCO A., CHIMIENTI G.

Department of Biology, University of Bari Aldo Moro, Italy. <u>E-mail: andrea.tursi@uniba.it</u>

# THE INFLUENCE OF HUMAN ACTIVITIES ON *POSIDONIA* OCEANICA AT TREMITI ISLANDS MARINE PROTECTED AREA (ADRIATIC SEA, ITALY)

#### Abstract

Posidonia oceanica meadows represent one of the richest and most diverse infralittoral habitats in the Mediterranean Sea, being highly widespread all over the coastal zones of the basin. Although these meadows provide many ecosystems goods and services, they are suffering an alarming decline mostly due to human activities such as coastal development, anchoring, bottom fishing, and dumping. We monitored a P. oceanica meadow at Tremiti Islands Marine Protected Area (Adriatic Sea, Italy) in 2003, 2015, and 2020 to assess the conservation status of the meadow in relation to human disturbances. Meadow density, coverage, extent, lower limit dynamics (balisage), as well as phenological and lepidochronological parameters were analyzed. A general decrease in rhizome density, total leaf area, and meadow extent from 2003 to 2020 was observed, most likely due to anchoring practices, as well as the mudding conditions related to the recent harbor implementation. Nevertheless, some encouraging signs of improvement were observed in presence of appropriate management strategies recently put in place, such as the establishment of a mooring buoy field to prevent anchoring practices, underlying the crucial role of protection measures in the conservation of this fundamental coastal habitat.

**Key-words:** seagrass meadow, coastal management, infralittoral habitat, meadow monitoring, anthropogenic disturbances

#### Introduction

Coastal habitats are considered among the most diverse and productive areas in the world, showing levels of biodiversity and primary production comparable to rainforests (Duarte and Cebrian, 1996). Despite their key role in the conservation of marine life (Hughes et al., 2009), these habitats are experiencing a global massive decline due to human activities and climate changes. While in certain circumstances global changes represent the main cause of degradation, such as in the case of tropical coral reefs (Hoegh-Guldberg et al., 2007) and of Mediterranean gorgonian forests (Chimienti et al., 2021), other coastal ecosystems are deteriorating due to local disturbances, as in the case of semi-submerged marine caves (Nepote et al., 2017) and seagrass meadows (González-Correa et al., 2007). At the Mediterranean scale, the meadows of the endemic seagrass Posidonia oceanica represent one of the most extensive and widespread habitats in coastal areas, covering an approximative surface of 37,000 km<sup>2</sup> of the infralittoral seabed (Telesca et al., 2015). Posidonia oceanica is a key species of the infralittoral zone, being the base of a rich trophic network involving about the 25% of the Mediterranean marine species, which rely on these meadows as spawning, nursery, feeding, and refuge areas (Francour et al., 1997; Buia et al., 2000). Hence, healthy meadows represent valuable hotspots of biodiversity and are considered habitats of great conservation value. Moreover, P. oceanica provides several ecosystem goods and services, contrasting ocean acidification and the greenhouse effect (Pergent-Martini et al., 2021), stabilizing the seabed and antagonizing coastal

erosion (Guala et al., 2006). Unfortunately, meadows extent has diminished by at least 34% throughout the Mediterranean Sea in the last 50 years (56% in the western basin) (Telesca et al., 2015). Such meadows depletion is mostly related to human activities, locally and synergically causing the disappearance of these habitats (De los Santos et al., 2019). The main anthropogenic stressors include anchoring (Montefalcone et al., 2008), bottom-contact fishing (Vlachopoulou et al., 2013), and coastal development (Ruíz et al., 2003), causing direct and indirect damage to the meadows. Other disturbances are intensive aquaculture activities and dumping (Panayotidis et al., 1990; Pazzaglia et al., 2020), as well as other human-related stressors such as the spread of competitive alien species (Piazzi et al., 2001; Ballesteros et al., 2007), mucilaginous blooms and global warming (Marín-Guirao et al., 2019). The awareness of such decline led to the establishment of EU directives, such as the Habitat Directive (92/43/CEE), Water Framework Directive (WFD, 2000/60/EC), and Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD, 2008/56/EC), which listed P. oceanica meadows as priority habitats for conservation. Moreover, Marine Protected Areas (MPAs) and marine Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) have been designed in areas with seagrass meadows. In fact, despite the overall decline observed in the last decades, effective management measures have locally led to the partial recovery of the meadows, especially in MPAs, proving the crucial role of human actions on meadow conservation status (Guillén et al., 2013; De los Santos et al., 2019). In this context, our study is focused on the monitoring of P. oceanica at Tremiti Islands MPA, which hosts the northernmost meadow of the Italian coasts in the Adriatic Sea. The monitoring was carried out in 2003, 2015, and 2020 to assess the ecological status of the meadow over time. It allowed to understand the influence of human disturbances on P. oceanica in the MPA, as well as the effectiveness of management actions (e.g., establishment of mooring buoy fields).

#### Materials and methods

The monitoring of *P. oceanica* was carried out at Tremiti Islands MPA ( $42^{\circ}7.38$ ' N,  $15^{\circ}30.02$ ' E), in the southern Adriatic Sea, 12 nautical miles north of the Gargano Promontory (Apulia, Italy), where a fragmented meadow is present. This meadow is divided into three main submeadows, here called submeadow A, B, and C. Submeadows A and C run along the coasts of San Domino Island, while submeadow B is located between San Nicola Island and a smaller island called Cretaccio (Matarrese *et al.*, 2000) (Fig. 1). The three submeadows are affected by several anthropogenic disturbances, including anchoring, recreational boating, artisanal fishing, and coastal development (Tursi *et al.*, 2021).

One sampling station per submeadow was considered in 2003, 2015, and 2020 (Fig. 1). In detail, M1 and M3 sampling stations were placed at the lower limit of the submeadow A and C, respectively. In fact, the lower limit often represents the meadow part that is more sensitive to human disturbances (Lopez Y Royo *et al.*, 2010). Because of the absence of a uniform lower limit, the submeadow B was studied in its intermediate portion (M2 sampling station). At each sampling station, absolute density (shoots  $m^{-2}$ ) was estimated by SCUBA diving by counting the number of rhizomes in a sampler frame of 40 cm × 40 cm (nine replicates).



Fig. 1: Map of the study area showing Tremiti Islands' location in the Adriatic Sea, the distribution of the *Posidonia oceanica* meadow, the sampling stations (M1–M3), and the *balisage* sites (B1, B2).

Then, the mean relative density (shoots  $m^{-2}$ ) was assessed by multiplying the absolute density for the coverage (%) of *P. oceanica* estimated on a surface of five-meter radius. Moreover, six living orthotropic rhizomes were collected at each sampling station. The phenological parameter Leaf Area Index (LAI, m<sup>2</sup>m<sup>-2</sup>) was calculated by multiplying the mean leaf surface of each bundle (cm<sup>2</sup> shoot<sup>-1</sup>) by the relative density of the meadow (shoots m<sup>-2</sup>) (Buia et al., 2000). The lepidochronological analysis involved the measurement of the scales' thickness (Pergent et al., 1989). Then, rhizome age was estimated by counting the number of lepidochronological cycles, representing the period between two minimums of the scales' thickness, and corresponding to a year. All values were expressed as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation. The extent of the meadow was evaluated through habitat mapping carried out using the Klein 3000 Side Scan Sonar, then data were imported into a GIS environment for interpretation and cartography. The lower limit of the meadow was monitored with two balisage systems (B1, B2), each one consisting of five metal pickets implanted in 2015 at the lower limits: B1 at submeadow A and B2 at submeadow C (Fig. 1) (Bertrandy et al., 1986; Tursi et al., 2021). Then, distances between pickets and meadow limits were evaluated in 2020 to assess any progression and/or regression of the lower limit.

Statistical analyses were carried out using Past 4.03 software. The Shapiro–Wilk test was used to determine the normality of the data distribution (p values > 0.05). Then, the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis test was run to verify the presence of statistically significant differences in density, LAI, and rhizome age between the three monitoring periods.

#### Results

A considerable worsening of the meadow health status occurred from 2003. In fact, the meadow showed to be much more rarefied in 2015, as attested by the relative density and the LAI values, which both diminished by more than 70% in 12 years (Tab. 1, Fig. 2). Meadow extent also dropped by about 6.4% between 2003 and 2015. Rhizome age did not vary significantly, although the prevalence of old rhizomes suggested the scarce occurrence of stolonization processes. However, the decrease in density and LAI slowed down from 2015 to 2020, and the meadow even showed some improvements in some areas, although not statistically significant (Tab. 1). On the other hand, meadow extent

continued to reduce by another 14.1% with respect to 2015. The *balisage* analysis showed a steady situation of the meadow lower limit at B1 with differences of a few centimeters between 2015 and 2020, while a regression of more than 11 linear meters was observed at B2. However, most of the pickets of the two systems were lost, confirming the occurrence of mechanical impacts, such as anchoring practices, affecting the meadow.

p < 0.001			
	<b>Relative density</b> (shoots m <sup>-2</sup> )	Leaf Area Index (m <sup>2</sup> m <sup>-2</sup> )	Rhizome age (year)
2003 vs 2015	$1.87 \times 10^{-4}$ ***	2.043 ×10 <sup>-6</sup> ***	0.7811
2015 vs 2020	0.102	0.3189	0.1629
2003 vs 2020	$2.45 \times 10^{-6}$ ***	$7.77 \times 10^{-7}$ ***	0.4299

Tab. 1: *p*-values from the comparison between the three monitoring years. \* p < 0.05; \*\*\* p < 0.001



Fig. 2: Trend of the mean values (+sd) of the relative density (shoots m<sup>-2</sup>), Leaf Area Index (m<sup>2</sup>m<sup>-2</sup>), bundles age (lepidochronological years), and meadow extent (ha) of *Posidonia oceanica* at Tremiti Islands Marine Protected Area in 2003, 2015, and 2020.

#### **Discussions and conclusions**

The overall decline of the meadow observed in less than 20 years could be attributed to local anthropogenic stressors affecting this habitat, most of all anchoring practices and coastal development. However, these impacts were unevenly present along the meadow, jeopardizing only some of its portions. For instance, submeadow B underwent a progressive fragmentation over time mostly due to anchoring activities, which led to the mechanical destruction of the bundles, resulting in evident scars and a patchy coverage. The submeadow A was stressed by anchoring too, as attested by the absence of most of the *balisage* pickets during the 2020 monitoring. However, signs of recovery were observed in the last five years of monitoring, as attested by the presence of a new meadow patch in its northernmost region testifying to a certain expansion. On the other hand, the regression of the submeadow C could be mainly related to the enhancement of sedimentation rates that occurred in the last 20 years, which led to massive shading conditions affecting photosynthesis and metabolic exchanges. The increase in sedimentation is most likely a consequence of coastal development activities and the implementation of the small harbor nearby the meadow. Despite the negative trend shown by P. oceanica at Tremiti Islands MPA, some encouraging signs of recovery have been observed in the last five years of monitoring, particularly where effective management measures have been put in place. This is the case of the submeadow B, where a mooring buoy field with a subsurface float system was established in 2017 to avoid both anchoring practices and the abrasion of the chains on the seabed. Although a mooring buoy field was also established in the proximity of the submeadow C, this meadow area did not show any sign of recovery, even further deteriorating from 2015. This is likely due to the high sedimentation rates, still affecting this submeadow and hindering any improvement of its conservation status.

Our study provided evidence of the harmful effects of local human activities, such as anchoring and coastal development, on this fragile habitat, confirming that local actions can strongly affect *P. oceanica* meadows. This means that local anthropogenic impacts can severely damage *P. oceanica* meadows but, at the same time, local conservation actions can effectively foster the recovery of the meadows, highlighting the importance of implementing appropriate management measures targeting the conservation of this fundamental habitat.

#### Bibliography

- BALLESTEROS E., CEBRIÁN E., ALCOVERRO T. (2007) Mortality of shoots of *Posidonia* oceanica following meadow invasion by red alga *Lophocladia lallemandii*. Bot. Mar., 50: 8–13.
- BERTRANDY M.C., BOUDOURESQUE C.F., FORET P., LEFEVRE J.R., MEINESZ A. (1986) – Réseau De Surveillance Posidonies. Rapport. 1985. Conseille Reg. Paca, Gis Posidonie. Cipalm, Capvar, Celcop, Gis Posidonie Ed., Marseille, Fr., pp. 1–61,
- BUIA M.C., GAMBI M.C., ZUPO V. (2000) Structure and functioning of Mediterranean seagrass ecosystems: An overview. *Biol. Mar. Mediterr.*, 7: 167–190.
- CHIMIENTI G., DE PADOVA D., ADAMO M., MOSSA M., BOTTALICO A., LISCO A., UNGARO N., MASTROTOTARO F. (2021) Effects of global warming on Mediterranean coral forests. *Sci. Rep.*, 11: 20703.
- DE LOS SANTOS C.B., KRAUSE-JENSEN D., ALCOVERRO T., MARBÀ N., DUARTE C.M., VAN KATWIJK M.M., PÉREZ M., ROMERO J., SÁNCHEZ-LIZASO J.L., ROCA, G., JANKOWSKA E., PÉREZ-LLORÉNS J.L. FOURNIER J., MONTEFALCONE M., PERGENT G., RUIZ J.M., CABAÇO S., COOK K, WILKES R.J., MOY F.E., TRAYTER G.M.-R., ARAÑÓ X.S., DE JONG D.J., FERNÁNDEZ-TORQUEMADAY., AUBY I, VERGARA J.J., SANTOS R. (2019) – Recent trend reversal for declining European seagrass meadows. *Nat. Commun.* 10: 3356.
- DUARTE C.M., CEBRIÀN J. (1996) The fate of marine autotrophic production. *Limnol.*, 41: 1758–1766.
- EC (2000) Directive 2000/60/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2000 establishing a Framework for Community Action in the Field of Water Policy", *OJEC*, L 327.
- EC (2008) Directive 2008/56/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council Establishing a Framework for Community Action in the Field of Marine Environmental Policy (Marine Strategy Framework Directive): *OJEC*, L 164: 19–40.
- EEC (1992) Council Directive 92/43/EEC on the conservation of natural habitats and of wild fauna and flora, *OJEC*, No L 2006.
- FRANCOUR P. (1997) Fish assemblages of *Posidonia oceanica* beds at Port-Cros (France, NW Mediterranean). Assessment of composition and long-term fluctuations by visual census. *Mar. Ecol.*, 18: 157–173.
- GONZÁLEZ-CORREA J., BAYLE SEMPERE J., SÁNCHEZ-JEREZ P., VALLE C. (2007) *Posidonia oceanica* meadows are not declining globally. Analysis of population dynamics in marine protected areas of the Mediterranean Sea. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 336: 111–119.
- GUALA I., SIMEONE S., BUIA M.C, FLAGELLA S., BAROLI M., DE FALCO G. (2006) *Posidonia oceanica* 'banquette' removal: environmental impact and management implications. *Biol. Mar. Mediterr.*, 13 (4): 149–153.

- GUILLÉN J.E., SÁNCHEZ LIZASO J.L., JIMÉNEZ S., MARTÍNEZ J., CODINA A., MONTERO M., TRIVIÑO A., SOLER G., ZUBCOFF J.J. (2013) Evolution of *Posidonia* oceanica seagrass meadows and its implications for management. J. Sea Res., 83: 65–71.
- HOEGH-GULDBERG O., MUMBY P. J., HOOTEN A. J., STENECK R. S., GREENFIELD P., GOMEZ E., HARVELL C. D., SALE P. F., EDWARDS A. J., CALDEIRA K., KNOWLTON N., EAKIN C.M., IGLESIAS-PRIETO R., MUTHIGA N., BRADBURY R. H., DUBI A., HATZIOLOS M.E. (2007) – Coral reefs under rapid climate change and ocean acidification. *Science*, 318:1737–1742.
- HUGHES R.A., WILLIAMS S.L., DUARTE C.M., HECK K.L. JR., WAYCOTT M. (2009) Association of concern: Declining seagrasses and threatened dependent species. *Front. Ecol. Environ.*, 7: 242–246
- LOPEZ Y ROYO C., CASAZZA G., PERGENT-MARTINI C., PERGENT G. (2010) A biotic index using the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* (BiPo) to evaluate ecological status of coastal waters. *Ecol. Ind.*, 10: 380–389.
- MATARRESE A., PANZA M., MASTROTOTARO F., COSTANTINO G. (2000) Preliminary benthic charting of Tremiti Islands (Adriatic Sea). *Biol. Mar. Med.* 7: 590–593.
- MONTEFALCONE M., CHIANTORE M., LANZONE A., MORRI C., BIANCHI C.N., ALBERTELLI G. (2008) BACI design reveals the decline of the seagrass *Posidonia* oceanica induced by anchoring. *Mar. Pollut.*, 56: 1637–1645.
- NEPOTE E., BIANCHI C.N., MORRI C., FERRARI M., MONTEFALCONE M. (2017) Impact of a harbour construction on the benthic communities of two shallow marine caves. *Mar. Pollut.*, 114: 34–45.
- PANAYOTIDIS P., MAKRIS P., CATSIKI V.A. (1990) Cycle de bioaccumulation du Cu, Cd, et Cr dans les écailles de *Posidonia oceanica. Rapp. Comm. Int. Mer Medit.*, 32: 13.
- PAZZAGLIA J., SANTILLÁN-SARMIENTO A., HELBER S.B., RUOCCO M., TERLIZZI A., MARÍN-GUIRAO L., PROCACCINI G. (2020) – Does Warming Enhance the Effects of Eutrophication in the Seagrass *Posidonia oceanica? Front. Mar. Sci.*, 7: 1067.
- PERGENT G., BOUDOURESQUE C.F., CROUZET A., MEINESZ A. (1989) Cyclic changes along *Posidonia oceanica* rhizomes (lepidochronology): Present state and perspectives. *Mar. Ecol.*, 10: 221–230.
- PERGENT-MARTINI C., PERGENT G., MONNIER B., BOUDOURESQUE C.F., MORI C., VALETTE-SANSEVIN A. (2021) – Contribution of *Posidonia oceanica* meadows in the context of climate change mitigation in the Mediterranean Sea. *Mar. Environ.*, 165: 10523.
- PIAZZI L., CECCHERELLI G., CINELLI, F. (2001) Threat to macroalgal diversity: Effects of the introduced green alga *Caulerpa racemosa* in the Mediterranean. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 210: 149–159.
- RUIZ J.M., ROMERO J. (2003) Effects of disturbances caused by coastal constructions on spatial structure, growth dynamics and photosynthesis of the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica*. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.*, 46: 1523–1533.
- TELESCA L., BELLUSCIO A., CRISCOLI A., ARDIZZONE G., APOSTOLAKI E.T., FRASCHETTI S., GRISTINA M., KNITTWEIS L., MARTIN C.S., PERGENT G., ALAGNA A., BADALAMENTI F., GAROFALO G., GERAKARIS V., LOUISE PACE M., PERGENT-MARTINI C., SALOMIDI M. (2015) – Seagrass meadows (*Posidonia oceanica*) distribution and trajectories of change. *Sci. Rep.* 5: 12505.
- TURSI A., MASTROTORARO F., MONTESANTO F., CHIMIENTI G. (2021) Monitoring the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* to understand the effects of local disturbances in a marine protected area, 2021 International Workshop on Metrology for the Sea; Learning to Measure Sea Health Parameters (MetroSea), pp. 86–90.
- VLACHOPOULOU E.I., MERIWETHER WILSON A., MILIOU A. (2013) Disconnects in EU and Greek fishery policies and practices in the eastern Aegean Sea and impacts on *Posidonia* oceanica meadows. *Ocean. Coast. Manag.*, 76: 105-113.

Daniele VENTURA, CASOLI E., MANCINI G., BELLUSCIO A., PACE D. S., ARDIZZONE G.D.

Department of Environmental Biology, University of Rome "La Sapienza", Italy. <u>E-mail: daniele.ventura@uniroma1.it</u>

# 3-DIMENSIONAL MAPPING FOR FINE-SCALE CARTOGRAPHY OF *POSIDONIA OCEANICA* SEAGRASS MEADOW LIMITS USING UNDERWATER STRUCTURE FROM MOTION PHOTOGRAMMETRY

#### Abstract

Seagrasses are considered one of the most important shallow-marine ecosystems and ensure, at the global scale, a large plethora of goods and services for their ecological, physical, and economic values. Although large-scale monitoring plans and transplanting operations have been carried out, a significant effort has been required to define new methods to effectively map such large underwater habitats. Here we propose an SfM-based approach for mapping seagrass limits over large areas to produce ultra-high spatial resolution orthophoto mosaics and Digital Elevation Models (DEMs) based on the processing of underwater imagery to create 3D surfaces of such key habits digitally. We applied our approach on a Posidonia oceanica meadow located in front of the Cala di Mezzo cove (Giglio Island, Tuscany), near the northern site impacted by Costa Concordia shipwrecking. More than 1500 HD images were acquired with a GoPro Hero 10 action cam mounted on a Diver Propulsion Vehicle (DPV) to map an area of approximately 1.6 ha. The imagery was processed by photogrammetry software to produce cartographic raster products with an ultra-high spatial resolution (< 1cm/pixel). After image segmentation and classification in GIS environments, we achieve a fine identification of the natural meadow and the transplanted fragments used to restore such area. In addition, elevation data were also used to compute the canopy height of the natural meadow. This method provides a valid alternative to the traditional methods for creating centimetre-level accuracy cartographic products of living P. oceanica and could be applied to map other complex benthic habitats.

**Key-words:** seabed mapping, habitat characterization, 3D point clouds, 3D modelling, high-spatial-resolution imagery

#### Introduction

Seagrasses are considered one of the most important shallow-marine ecosystems and ensure, at the global scale, a large plethora of goods and services for their ecological, physical, and economic values (Larkum *et al.*, 2006). Unfortunately, since the last century, we have witnessed a continual loss of seagrass habitats coupled with the decline of coastal environmental quality due to natural processes and human-mediated impacts (Francour *et al.*, 1999; Boudouresque *et al.*, 2009; Unsworth *et al.*, 2019). Nevertheless, a robust legal framework, most seagrass meadows remain under significant pressure resulting in a decline condition (Unsworth *et al.*, 2019).

*Posidonia oceanica* (L.) Delile is a protected Mediterranean endemic species of seagrass that forms extensive meadows from the surface to depths of 40 m, depending on water transparency and temperature (Boudouresque *et al.*, 2009). Over the last 100 years, a global decline with losses exceeding 25% worldwide has been observed for most species

of seagrass (Waycott *et al.*, 2009), including *P. oceanica*, whose loss of area has been evaluated to be 10% due to coastal human population and steadily increasing of manmade coastline, which is responsible for the fragmentation and destruction of this sensitive habitat (Marre *et al.*, 2020). Although large-scale monitoring plans and transplanting operations have been carried out, a significant effort has been required to effectively define new methods to monitor such significant underwater habitats since current methods mainly rely on traditional SCUBA divers using direct in-situ measures (Ventura *et al.*, 2022). Consequently, to support large-scale monitoring programmes, accurate mapping methods are required to integrate local evaluations into extensive assessments concerning the status of meadows.

Structure from Motion (SfM) photogrammetry provides new opportunities to extract a plethora of fine-scale variables from 3D digital models of the underwater environment. Underwater SfM photogrammetry involves the virtual reconstruction of the seabed by using numerous overlapping digital images that can be acquired from different platforms such as divers, Remotely Operated Vehicle (ROVs), Autonomous Underwater Vehicle (AUVs), and towed cameras. SfM-derived products such as 3D point clouds, triangular meshes, Digital Elevation Models (DEMs), and orthomosaics can be analyzed in several ways, providing an excellent tool for accurate measurement of lengths, areas, and volumes that are difficult or even impossible to get in situ with traditional methods (Ventura *et al.*, 2022).

In this study, we tested an operational and low-cost method for producing centimetric mapping of complex underwater environments over a large spatial extent in which both natural and transplanted meadows characterize the seabed. In addition, to speed up the identification of meadow and transplanted fragments, we tested a segmentation method followed by a supervised image classification approach to obtain informative thematic raster maps of the surveyed area.

#### Material and methods

We applied our approach on a *P. oceanica* meadow located in front of the Cala di Mezzo cove (Fig. 1a, Giglio Island, Tuscany), near the site impacted by Costa Concordia shipwrecking. The shallow bay was characterized by a patchy meadow extending from 5 to 25 m depth with heterogenous seabed showing sandy, rocky, and dead "matte" areas. In this area, besides the natural meadow, a transplanted meadow is also present, which was part of the restoration programme carried out after the Costa Concordia site remediation project (Mancini et al., 2022). This area was also mapped in 2018 by an acoustic survey using Multi Beam Echo Sounder (MBES) data (Fig. 1b). Bathymetric data were derived from a hull-mounted RESON Seabat 7125 SV2 operating at 400 kHz and emitting up to 512 beams across an angular coverage of 140°-165° wide swath. Vessel positioning during MBES surveys was provided by a dual frequency GNSS system (Leica 1200) using RTK corrections leading to a centimetric positioning in the x, y, and z axes. The MBES bathymetry data was interpolated at 20×20 cm grid size and visualized as shaded-relief topographic imagery. To speed up and improve the extent of the surveyed area by the diver, a diver propulsion vehicle (DPV, Suex X-joy 7) was used to optimize underwater image acquisition. DPV speed was set to 'low' (~25 m/min), and underwater HD images (5568 x 4176 pixels) were acquired with a GoPro Hero 10 (23 Mpix sensor) in time-lapse mode, allowing interval shooting every 2 sec.

Images processing was carried out using SfM algorithms through Agisoft Metashape v 1.6.2 (Agisoft LLC, Russia), a low-cost commercial 3D reconstruction software widely

used in the scientific community. We used the self-calibration procedure implemented in Metashape to absorb refraction at the camera port-water interfaces (Marre *et al.*, 2020). After images alignment, a sparse point cloud was generated and georeferenced by adding ten Ground Control Points (GCPs) in Metashape by using well identifiable features from MBES data such as rock edges. Subsequently, the density of sparse point clouds was enhanced by Multi-View Stereo (MVS) algorithms. This process resulted in a dense XYZ point cloud of 40 million points. The dense point supported the generation of a fine scale Digital Surface Model (DSM) used to produce both 10 cm contours and the high spatial resolution GeoTiFF orthophotomosaic of the bay. Subsequently, the three-band (RGB) raster mosaic was imported into the ESRI GIS software ArcMap v.10.6.1 to run a supervised Support Vector Machine (SVM) image classification routine following a mean shift segmentation of the native high spatial resolution imagery. The classified output was generalized by removing small, isolated regions with the majority filter, boundary clean and nibble tools. Using SfM-based DSM we estimated the mean canopy height of P. oceanica patches with mesh to cloud distance tool in Cloud Compare v. 2.12 (Girardeau-Montaut, 2016) after separating the P. oceanica class to ground points with the Cloth Simulation Filter (CSF, Zhang et al., 2016).



Fig. 1: a) Location of the study area on the NW coast of Giglio Island (Tuscany, Italy). b) MBES data showing the mapped area (red polygon) through our SfM-based method.

#### Results

After an acquisition time of 1 h 10 min dive, 1755 HD images to map the area from 11 up to 33 m depth. The generated DSM (Fig. 2a) and orthophoto mosaic (Fig. 2b) covered an area of 3800 m<sup>2</sup> with a spatial resolution of 1.3 and 1.7 cm/pix, respectively. The SVM classification allowed the identification of five main cover classes: granite rocks,

algae/matte on rocks, soft bottoms, dead 'matte', and *P. oceanica* (Fig. 2c). Highresolution orthophoto mosaics allowed an excellent overall classification accuracy of 85.6 % with an acceptable separation of *P. oceanica* from the other seabed cover classes. The major land-cover misclassification errors involved spectral confusion among *P. oceanica* and dead 'matte', illustrating the difficulty in separating land-cover classes based on filtered spectral signatures due to water column. In the transplantation area, the weak contrast and dimensions of transplanted cuttings led to poor classification accuracies. The area covered by *P. oceanica* was 954 m<sup>2</sup>, corresponding to a total percent cover of 25 %. The high percentage (24 %) of dead 'matte' class extending both on sand and rocks coupled with the significant presence of soft bottoms (39 %) which might hide other dead 'matte' layers (especially in the shallow area comprise between 11 to 20 m) depict the health status of this meadow after several disturbance events on a long-term basis. By separating the meadow class from other elevation data, we estimated the mean canopy height of  $0.68 \pm 0.24$  m, with lower values ( $0.30 \pm 0.15$  m) recorded on the lower limits of the meadow (Fig. 3).



Fig. 2: (a) High spatial resolution (1.3 cm/pix) RGB orthophotomosaic. (b) Digital Surface Model (DSM) of the mapped area through SfM photogrammetry-based protocol.
(c) Thematic map after image segmentation and SVM classification.



Fig. 3: Canopy height model of the meadow after computing cloud-to-mesh distances in Cloud Compare.

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

Our method aimed to develop an efficient operational methodology that is automatic and reproducible for fine-scale mapping applications of seagrass habitats. This protocol is suitable in almost all areas where patchy meadows are interrupted by other features such as rock and sandy areas or where the seagrass shows low densities, such as along the lower limits or inside transplanted areas characterized by a reduced number of fragments/m<sup>2</sup>. In such circumstances, the low densities of leaves ensure good results during image alignment and tie points detection, which are critical steps in SfM processes. As in other studies that mapped seagrass beds using underwater photogrammetry and built a classifier based either on luminance and colourimetry and textures (Rende et al., 2015; Mizuno et al., 2017) also, the pixel-based approach we used in SVM classification can be primarily affected by water depth and turbidity, relying on red, green and blue (RGB) bands values. Therefore, the variability between meadows in terms of depth, substrate, and lighting conditions, makes it challenging to produce a generalizable classifier based only on colours or luminance. Another method, which uses seagrass movement and texture homogeneity (Marre et al., 2020), reported higher accuracies of classification even in the presence of dead matte, which may affect classification algorithms based on colour or luminance. Moreover, essential metrics such as canopy height and elevation of submerged features could be computed using accurate SfM-based elevation data. However, it should be noted that in this case, we can easily define underwater GCPs by using the MBES high-resolution data; otherwise, more laborious work is needed to deploy accurate control points on the seabed to scale and georeferenced the model (Ventura et al., 2022). Despite such limitations, underwater mapping using SfM algorithms can be regarded as a reliable method for capturing and storing a large amount of information on the substrate and at the community

level, providing an excellent tool for accurately monitoring seagrass areas on a large scale. When fast and frequent monitoring is required (e.g., after an impact event or during transplanting operations), this workflow allows the optimization of resources and might serve as a proof of concept to implement this cost-effective and non-intrusive monitoring method as a new tool to support the management and conservation of seagrass beds.

#### Acknowledgements

This study is a part of a 3DR-4-SEAC project so we would like to thank the Pure Ocean Endowment Fund (Marseille, France) for the financial support provided which allowed the purchase of part of the equipment used for data acquisition and processing.

#### **Bibliography**

- BOUDOURESQUE, C.F., BERNARD, G., PERGENT, G., SHILI, A., VERLAQUE, M. (2009)
   Regression of Mediterranean seagrasses caused by natural processes and anthropogenic disturbances and stress: a critical review. *Bot. Mar.*, 52: 395–418.
- FRANCOUR, P., GANTEAUME, A., PAULAIN, M. (1999) Effects of boat anchoring in *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass beds in the port-Cros national park (north-western Mediterranean Sea). *Aquat. Conserv. Mar. Freshw. Ecosyst.*, 9: 391–400.
- GIRARDEAU-MONTAUT, D. (2016) CloudCompare. France: EDF R&D Telecom ParisTech, 11.
- HOLON, F., MARRE, G., PARRAVICINI, V., MOUQUET, N., BOCKEL, T., DESCAMP, P., TROBOT, A.S., BOISSERY, P., DETER, J. (2018) - A predictive model based on multiple coastal anthropogenic pressures explains the degradation status of a marine ecosystem: Implications for management and conservation. *Biol. Cons.*, 222: 125–135.
- LARKUM A.W.D., ORTH R.J., DUARTE, C.M. (2006) Seagrasses: biology, ecology and conservation. *Phycol.*, 45(5): 5.
- MANCINI, G., VENTURA, D., CASOLI, E., BELLUSCIO, A., ARDIZZONE, G.D.. (2022) -TRANSPLANTATION on a Posidonia oceanica meadow to facilitate its recovery after the Concordia shipwrecking. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.*, *179*: 113683.
- MARRE, G., DETER, J., HOLON, F., BOISSERY, P., LUQUE, S., (2020) Fine-scale automatic mapping of living *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass beds with underwater photogrammetry. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 643: 63-74.
- MIZUNO, K., ASADA, A., MATSUMOTO, Y., SUGIMOTO, K., FUJII, T., YAMAMURO, M., FORTES, M.D., SARCEDA, M., JIMENEZ, L.A.. (2017) - A simple and efficient method for making a high-resolution seagrass map and quantification of dugong feeding trail distribution: A field test at Mayo Bay, Philippines. *Ecol. Inform.*, 38:89–94.
- RENDE, S.F., IRIVING, A., BACCI, T., PARLAGRECO, L., BRUNO, F., DE FILIPPO, F., MONTEFALCONE, M., PENNA, M., TRABUCCO, B., DI MENTO, R., CICERO, A. (2015)
  - Advances in micro-cartography: A two-dimensional photo mosaicing technique for seagrass monitoring. *Estuar. Coast. Shelf Sci.*, 167: 475–486.
- UNSWORTH, R.K.F., MCKENZIE, L.J., COLLIER, C.J., CULLEN-UNSWORTH, L.C., DUARTE, C.M., EKLOF, J.S., JARVIS, J.C., JONES, B.L., NORDLUND L.M. (2019) Global challenges for seagrass conservation. *Ambio*, 48: 801–815.
- VENTURA, D., MANCINI, G., CASOLI, E., PACE, D.S., LASIONIO, G.J., BELLUSCIO, A., ARDIZZONE G.D. (2022) - Seagrass restoration monitoring and shallow-water benthic habitat mapping through a photogrammetry-based protocol. *J. Environ. Manage.*, 304:114262.
- WAYCOTT, M., DUARTE, C.M., CARRUTHERS, T.J., ORTH, R.J., DENNISON, W.C., OLYARNIK, S., CALLADINE, A., FOURQUERAN, J.W., HECK, K.L., HUGHES, A.R., et al., (2009) - Accelerating loss of seagrasses across the globe threatens coastal ecosystems. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 106: 12377–12381.
- ZHANG, W., QI, J., WAN P., WAN G, H., XIE, D., WANG, X., & YAN G. (2016) An easy-to-use airborne LiDAR data filtering method based on cloth simulation. *Remote sens.*, 8(6): 501.

Imen ZRIBI, ELLOUZI H., MNASRI I., ABEDELKADER N., BEN HMIDA A., DORAI S., DEBEZ A. CHARFI-CHEIKHROUHA F., ZAKHAMA-SRAIEB R.

University of Tunis El Manar, Faculty of Sciences of Tunis, Laboratory of Diversity, Management and Conservation of Biological Systems, LR18ES06, Tunis, Tunisia. <u>E-mail: imenzribi4@gmail.com</u>

# EFFECT OF FILAMENTOUS *MACROALGAE CHAETOMORPHA LINUM* ON *CYMODOCEA NODOSA:* DOES CLONAL INTEGRATION ALLEVIATE THE MAGROALGAE IMPACTS?

#### Abstract

Seagrass meadows are known as one of the most valuable ecosystems on the marine environment. In shallow Tunisian coastal waters, seagrass and seaweed occur together. Ecological theory suggests that the presence of co-existing species in the same habitat would create competitive interaction. Although the performance and survivorship of seagrasses are affected by environmental stressors, clonal plants have been shown to successfully survive in stressful environments. In the present study, in situ experiment were conducted for 90 days in Bekalta (eastern coast of Tunisia) in order to assess the response of the seagrass Cymodocea nodosa (Ucria) Ascherson to shading by filamentous algae Chaetomorpha linum. Two rhizome connection treatments connected (allowing integration) and severed (preventing integration) were monitored every 15 days. Clonal integration was estimated by comparing different parameters such as shoot growth rate, and physiological and biomass features of rhizomeconnected and rhizome-severed treatments. The hypothesis was that clonal integration positively affects the biomass allocation, growth, and physiology of the seagrass Cymodocea nodosa and thus improves its performance in response to shading. After 90 days of shading by C. linum, we found that for the two rhizome connection treatments the presence of the macroalgae induced an increase in photosynthetic pigments content and a decrease in soluble proteins and sugars concentrations. Our work suggests that these parameters could be used to monitor Cymodocea nodosa meadow in the early stage of eutrophication.

Key-words: Clonal integration, proteins, seagrass-seaweed interaction, shading, sugar content

#### Introduction

Seagrass ecosystems rank among the most productive habitat in coastal zones that play a primary role in supporting ecosystem services such as carbon sequestration, hosting biodiversity and sediment stabilization (Duarte *et al.*, 2013). Despite their importance, seagrass meadows are facing a global decline (Unsworth *et al.*, 2018). This loss is mainly due to increasing pressure from industrial, domestic and agricultural activities around these areas (Waycott *et al.*, 2009). Nutrient input from land to coastal waters causes a global regression of seagrass meadows. Excess nutrients mainly nitrogen and phosphorus trigger drift macroalgae growth (Pazzaglia *et al.*, 2020), which results in light limitations for the seagrass (Burkholder *et al.*, 2007). In eutrophic zones, the proliferation of macroalgae can induce a regime shift by converting stable seagrass meadows into less stable macroalgae beds (Petersen *et al.*, 2008). Therefore, it is crucial to understand the impact of the initial macroalgae accumulation on seagrasses to preserve seagrass habitats and the ecosystem services they provide. The present study aims to (i) assess *Cymodocea nodosa* response to shading by *Chaetomorpha linum* using different types of indicators (growth, structural and

physiological) (ii) investigate whether responses could be modulated by the clonal integration of the plant. We hypothesized that preservation of the seagrass clonal integration would ameliorate the stress induced by shading on seagrass vitality.

#### Materials and methods

The study was carried out in Bekalta (N 35°38'12.6"; E 11° 00' 33.5") in the eastern part of Monastir bay from September to December 2019. Monastir bay is a semi-enclosed lagoon that has been under anthropogenic pressure for many years, it is characterized by significant eutrophication (Sghaier *et al.*, 2017). The bay is an area of recurrent episodes of algae proliferation Chaouch & Harzallah (2020). *Chaetomorpha linum* is considered as of the most abundant seaweed in the bay Zaoulai & Ben Charrada (2010). We conducted a macroalgae addition experiment within *Cymodocea nodosa* meadow located in shallow water within a depth of 1.5-2 m. In total, we had 12 plots where six had served as control (no macroalgae addition) whereas the remaining six plots were covered by *Chaetomorpha linum* for 90 days. In order to assess the role of clonal integration in *C. nodosa* response to shading by *C. linum*, shoots from 3 plots per each treatment (control and shading) were isolated from adjacent shoots by cutting horizontal rhizomes around each plot down to 30 cm inside the seabed (Tuya *et al.*, 2013). A minimum distance of 2 m between plots from the same treatment has been implemented.

**Growth and biomass measures:** For shoot growth, ten shoots of *Cymodocea nodosa* were marked at each sampling occasion using the leaf punch method outlined by Short & Duarte (2001). In the laboratory, the newly formed tissues were estimated using the shift of the marking hole along each leaf. The shoot growth rate (mm shoot<sup>-1</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>) was calculated by dividing the length of the new growth by the number of days in the experimental period.

Plant Biomass was measured at the end of the experiment using a 15 cm diameter PVC corer placed randomly within each experimental plot. Biomass samples were sorted into above (shoots) and below-ground sections (horizontal rhizome and roots) and then dried at 60°C to a constant weight.

**Physiological measures:** Total soluble sugars were quantified at the end of the experiment according to the method described in Shields & Burnett (1960). In a nutshell, dried samples from above and below-ground parts (25 mg) were grounded and twice extracted in hot 80% ethanol. Samples were centrifuged (3000 rpm for 20 min). Soluble sugars content was analysed spectrophotometrically at 640 nm using an anthrone assay standardized to glucose and expressed on a dry weight basis (mg g<sup>-1</sup> DW).

Photosynthetic pigments were extracted overnight in 5 ml acetone (80%) in the dark and at 4°C. The total chlorophyll and carotenoid content were quantified using a spectrophotometer at wavelengths of 470 nm, 646 nm and 663 nm.

Soluble Protein concentration was determined on triplicate leaf samples using the Bradford method (Bradford 1976) with bovine serum albumin (BSA) as a standard.

**Statistical analyses:** Means were compared using a two-way analysis of variance (ANOVA). In order to comply with the assumption of parametric procedures, data were tested for normality by the Shapiro-Wilk test and for homogeneity by the Levene test. All statistical analysis was performed using R v4.1.2.

#### Results

Growth and above-below biomass are given in Fig. 1 and 2. The results showed that at the end of the experiment shoot growth rate was significantly affected by both macroalgae

load and maintenance (or not) of the clonal integration. Still no interaction was found between the two factors (p>0.05). All plants showed a steep decline in shoot growth rate. In our study, shading and preservation of the clonal integration didn't cause a significant change in below-ground biomass whereas the above biomass of *C. nodosa* was significantly impacted by the presence of *C. linum*. Furtermore, he shading induced a decrease in the above-ground biomass of *C. nodosa* regardless of the presence or absence of connection with the neighbouring plants.



Fig. 1: Effect of *Chateomorpha linum* on the shoot growth of *Cymodocea nodosa* over time. Values are means  $\pm$  SE. (A) the clonal integration was maintained and (B) severed.



Fig. 2: Dry biomass measured in rhizomes severed treatment and control plants at the end of the 90-day manipulative experiment. Measures are mean  $\pm$  SE. (A) Above biomass; (B) Below biomass.



Fig. 3: Photosynthetic pigments content in leaves of *Cymodocea nodosa* after 90 days cover by loads of *Chaetomorpha linum*. (A) total chlorophyll content; (B) total carotenoids content. Different letters on bars indicate significant differences. Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n=3).



Fig. 4: Soluble sugars concentrations leaves (right) and rhizome-roots (left) of *Cymodocea* nodosa after 90 days cover by loads of *Chaetomorpha linum*). Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n=3). Shared letters indicate no significant difference.

Shading by *C. linum* loads had a significant effect on total chlorophyll and carotenoid concentrations of the leaves (Fig. 3). Chlorophyll concentration was 3 folders higher in the plots subjected to macroalgae loads whereas the carotenoid content was twice higher.



Fig. 5: Soluble protein content in leaves of *Cymodocea nodosa* after 13 weeks cover by loads of *Chaetomorpha linum*. Values are means  $\pm$  SE (n=3).

In the no clonal integration treatment, both soluble sugars concentration in leaves and rhizomes were significantly affected by the presence of *C. linum*. A significant decrease was observed in these tissues (Fig.4). The foliar soluble protein concentrations decreased by almost 50% when *Cymodocea nodosa* was covered by *C. linum* load.

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

Coastal eutrophication is often followed by the accumulation of drifting macroalgae that may cover the entire seagrass meadow. In the framework of this study, we tried to understand the short-term interaction between the seagrass *Cymodocea nodosa* and the Chlorophyta *Chaetomorpha linum* and to investigate the hypothesis that seagrass may outlive the macroalgae stress via translocation of resources.

Alcovero *et al.* (1999) highlighted that during periods of light-limited photosynthesis, the mobilisation of internal carbon reserves (carbohydrates) represents a survival strategy adopted by seagrass. The reduction of sucrose concentration in the below-ground tissues suggests a possible sucrose mobilisation throughout the plant to meet carbon demand (Burn *et al.*, 2003). The results showed that in shaded conditions, *C. nodosa* tended to reduce tissue soluble proteins. Similar patterns have been observed in submerged macrophytes exposed to low-light conditions (Zhang *et al.*, 2010).

This study clearly showed that physiological variables (photosynthetic pigments; soluble proteins and sugars) responded to reduced light availability induced by *C. linum* loads within a 90 days period. These variables may be useful as sub-lethal indicators of light reduction stress in *C. nodosa* meadows.

Some previous studies have highlighted the importance of clonal integration in buffering stress caused by nutrient enrichment or sediment burial (Tuya *et al.*, 2013). However, our experiments didn't show a clear nexus between physiological integration and *C. nodosa* responses to shading, at least in short time.

#### Bibliography

- ALCOVORO T., ZIMMERMAN R.C., KHORS D.G., RANDALL S.A. (1999) Ressource allocation and sucrose mobilization in light-limited eelgrass Zosrtera marina. *Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser.*, 187: 121-131.
- BRADFORD M. (1976) A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Anal. Biochem.*, 72: 248-254.

- BURKHOLDER J.M., TOMASKO D.A., TOUCHETTE B.W. (2007) Seagrasses and eutrophication. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol., 350: 46-72.
- BURN G.F., HERNANDEZ I., VERGARA J.J, PEREZ-LLORENS J.L. (2003) Growth, carbon allocation and proteotypic activity in the seagrass *Zostera noltii* shaded by *Ulva* canopies. *Funct. Plant Biol.*, 30: 551-560.
- BURKHOLDER J.M., TOMASKO D.A., TOUCHETTE B.W. (2007) Seagrasses and eutrophication. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol., 350: 46-72.
- CHAOUCH S., HARZALLAH A. (2020) A zoomed 3D accumulation model for Monastir Bay: comparaison to operational analyses. *Bull. Inst. Natn. Scien. Tech. Mer de Salammbô*, 47: 157-164.
- DUARTE C.M., LOSADA I.J., HENDRIKS I.E., MAZARRASA I., MARBÀ N. (2013) The role of coastal plant communities for climate change mitigation and adaptation. *Nat. Clim. Chang.*, 3: 961-968.
- PAZZAGLIA J., SANTILLAN-SARMIENTO A., HELBER S.B., RUOCCO M., TERLIZZI A., MARIN-GUIRO L., PROCACCINI G. (2020) – Does warming enhance the effects of eutrophication in the seagrass *Posidonia oceanica*. *Front. Mar. Sci.*, 7: 1-15.
- SHIELDS R., BURNETT W. (1960) Determination of protein-bound carbohydrate in serum by modified anthrone method. Anal. Chem., 32: 885–886
- SGHAIER Y.R., ZAKHAMA-SRAIEB R., CHARFI-CHEIKHROUHA F. (2017) Spatiotemporal dynamics and biomass of *Cymodocea nodosa* in Bekalata (Tunisia, Southern Mediterranean Sea). *Mar. Ecol.*, 38: 1-12.
- TUYA F., MARIA A., RODRIGUEZ V., GUEDS R., ESPINO F., HAROUN R., TERRADOS J. (2013) – Seagrass responses to nutrient enrichment depend on clonal integration, but not flow on effects on associated biota. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol., 439: 42-46
- TUYA F., ESPINO F., TERRADOS J. (2013) Preservation of seagrass clonal integration buffers against burial stress. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol., 439: 42-46
- UNSWORTH R.K.F., MCKENZIE L.J., COLLIER C.J., CULLEN-UNSWORTH L.C., DUARTE C.M., EKLÖF J.S., JARVIS J., JONES B.L., NORDLUND L.M. (2019) Global challenge for seagrass conservation. *Ambio*, 48: 801-815.
- WAYCOTT M., CARLOS M. D., CARRUTHER T.J.B., ORTH R.J., DENNISON W.C., OLYARNIK S., CALLADINE A., FOURQUREAN J.W., HECK K.L., RADALL HUGHES A., KENDRICK G.A., KENWORTHY W.J., SHORT F.T., WILLIAMS S.L. (2009) – Accelerating loss of seagrass across the globe threatens coastal ecosystems. *Proceedings of the National academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 106: 12377–12381.
- ZAOUALI J., BEN CHARRADA R. (2010) Impact des actions anthropiques sur le phytobenthos de la Baie de Monastir. In : EL ASMI S., LANGAR H., BELGACEM W. (eds), Proceedings of the 4<sup>th</sup> Mediterranean Symposium on Marine Vegetation (Yasmine-Hammamet, 2-4 December 2010), RAC/SPA publ., Tunis: 135-140.
- ZHANG M., CAO T., NI L., XIE P., ZHONGQIANG L. JARVIS J.C. (2010) Carbon, nitrogen and antioxidant enzyme responses of *Potamogeton crispus* to both low light and high nutrient stresses. *Environ. Exp. Bot.*, 68: 44-50.

7th Mediterranean Symposium on Marine Vegetation (Genoa, Italy, 19-20 September 2022)

7th Mediterranean Symposium on Marine Vegetation (Genoa, Italy, 19-20 September 2022)

\*\*\*\*\*

# POSTERS

\*\*\*\*\*

7th Mediterranean Symposium on Marine Vegetation (Genoa, Italy, 19-20 September 2022)

# ALDO ANNUNZIATELLIS, AGNESI S., LILLIS H., O'KEEFFE E., ALLEN H., CASTLE L., PINDER J., TUNESI L.

Italian institute for environmental protection and research (ISPRA), Via V. Brancati 60, Roma (Italy).

E-mail: aldo.annunziatellis@isprambiente.it

# EMODNET SEABED HABITAS: A COMPLETE REPOSITORY OF STANDARDISED HABITAT AND COMPOSITE MAPS

#### Abstract

Since 2008, EMODnet Seabed Habitats (ESBH) has been working to fill the gap in the availability of environmental spatial data and now hosts the largest European collection of habitat maps from individual surveys and survey-based sample points (over 1,000 maps and 500,000 sample points). The portal hosts a unique web catalogue of benthic habitat spatial data providing a great opportunity to create new products which aim to answer specific questions and supporting a variety of stakeholder's needs. In the Mediterranean, the needs of the RAC/SPA, the UNEP-MAP centre for the implementation of the Regional Action Plans for the conservation of marine key benthic habitats, were discussed and addressed by the creation of specific composite maps. All the collected/created products, together with all the input layers needed to produce the models are freely disseminated online through the ESBH portal (www.emodnet-seabed habitats.eu).

**Key-words:** Seagrass, Coralligenous and other biogenic concretion, Essential Ocean Variables, Habitat maps, Data collection

#### Introduction

The European Marine Observation and Data Network (EMODnet) began in 2008 with the main goal being the improvement of quality and typology of collected spatial data. In 2009, ESBH produced the first broad scale modelled map of some European basins, including the western Mediterranean. Subsequently this map was extended to cover all European seas and complemented with the collation of habitat maps from surveys. Since 2019, it has improved the products freely available through the portal by collating and disseminating ground-truth habitat point data from surveys and individual habitat models. Currently, the collection is being enriched also with composite products, coastal wetland data (CW) and Essential Fish Habitat (EFH). With respect to the Mediterranean, the ESBH project is collaborating with RAC/SPA, the UNEP-MAP centre in charge for the Regional Action Plans for the conservation of Key Marine Habitats (MKH), namely: Marine Vegetation; Coralligenous and other calcareous bioconcretions and Dark habitats by producing specific composite maps.

#### Materials and methods

All the spatial data products hosted in the ESBH repository are standardised and ranked based on their confidence, using specific rules depending the typology of the spatial product. The modelled map (AKA EuSeaMap) was created by applying a specific set of rules for the combination of environmental input layers (light, energy, seabed substratum, depth, oxygen and salinity). Where possible, the marine section of the European Nature Information System (EUNIS) habitat classification scheme was used, but it is also available in the Barcelona Convention habitat typology in the Mediterranean. The survey sample points and the individual habitat maps host habitat data in the broadest sense. In fact, habitat data can encompass all the levels of detail from biocoenosis to broad physical descriptions. The composite maps are based on the above mentioned sample points and individual habitat maps. These maps are constructed as follow: 1. Identification of the relevant data sources. 2. Selection of the most appropriate classification systems for the target habitat(s). 3. Data query and extraction from the identified sources. 4. Application of spatial rules to remove overlapping information and clean the composite layer (if needed). 5. Compilation of a single data product, by clearly maintaining the provenance information assigned to every polygon and point in the attribute table.

#### Results

The portal now offers a modelled habitat map covering over 11,000,000 km2, around 1,000 habitat maps, 500,000 habitat point data, 100 individual habitat models, as well as composite products that contribute towards understanding of MKHs, among other habitats. Examples include Essential Ocean Variables (EOVs) like live Hard coral cover, Seagrass cover, Macroalgal canopy cover, and Coralligenous and other bioconcretions.

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

ESBH portal is unique with respect to other web GIS portals: it provides a standardised, centralised and free access point for numerous types of habitat spatial information at a European scale. The possibility to access all this different seabed-habitat information through the map viewer section of the portal, is a very interesting novelty for both technical and non-technical stakeholders. The construction of the composite maps, even if it does not improve the original quality of the datasets, provides the representation of the distribution of MKH and allows to demonstrate the added value of compiling and standardising seabed habitat maps and sample point data (Fig. 1). In this context, the scientific community has the opportunity to support this important initiative by sharing its seabed habitats maps and ground-truth points so that also the geographical distribution of the composite layers can be improved and updated, so as to facilitate the implementation of the mentioned action plans and support the conservation of endangered habitats.



Fig. 1: EOV layers provided by the portal. Purple refers to live hard coral, green to seagrasses and brown to macroalgal

#### Acknowledgments

The European Marine Observation and Data Network (EMODnet) is financed by the European Union under Regulation (EU) No 508/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 on the European Maritime and Fisheries Fund.

# Ali BADREDDINE

Tyre Coast Nature Reserve-Tyre-south Lebanon <u>E-mail: ali.badreddine@hotmail.com</u>

# THE CARLIT INDEX: AN EFFECTIVE AND USEFUL TOOL FOR ASSESSMENT OF THE ECOLOGICAL STATUS OF THE LEBANESE COAST, EASTERN MEDITERRANEAN SEA

#### Abstract

The CARLIT index, based on the cartography of rocky-shore littoral communities and conceived in the European Water Framework Directive (WFD) for assessing the ecological status of coastal water bodies, was applied along the Lebanese coast during the two years 2020 and 2021. The results showed that the calculated ecological quality ratio values (EQR) varied from a max of 0.75 to a min of 0.12. Accordingly, the Ecological Status (ES) classes of 200 km of the Lebanese coastline ranged from good (with 26.6%) to moderate (46.6%), poor (0.2), andbad (6.6%) ES. In addition, the CARLIT index allows for estimating the status of macroalgae communities, especially Fucales (e.g., Cystoseira and Sargassum forests), representing more than 41% of the monitored Lebanese coast. Thus, the present study confirms the importance of the CARLIT index as a useful tool for monitoring the ecological status of the Lebanese coast.

Key-Words: CARLIT, Ecological status, Macroalgae, Cystoseira, Lebanese coast

#### Introduction

Several methods or indexes based on macroalgae assemblages have been developed to assess rocky shores' Ecological Status (ES). Among them, the CARLIT index is conceived in the European Water Framework Directive (WFD) for evaluating the ecological status of coastal water bodies. The fact that rocky shores mainly characterize the Lebanese coastline makes the indexes based on macroalgal communities adequate for assessing the ES. The efficacy and the robustness of the CARLIT index for evaluating the Lebanese rocky coastline were confirmed in 2018 after its application along 164 km of the Lebanese rocky coastline (see Badreddine *et al.*, 2018). This study reports the results of the most recent application of the CARLIT index along the Lebanese rocky coastline.

#### **Material and Methods**

The study was performed from April-May 2020 and 2021 along 200 km of the Lebanese coast, representing about 91 % of the entire coastline. The Lebanese coast has been divided into 15 stretches of coast, considering their catchment basin and typology. The sampling consisted of a run of all the rocky coast by walking/ or using a small boat to assess littoral/and upper littoral communities and geomorphological factors of each sector. The data were visually recorded and noted directly into maps (scale 1:5000) previously prepared using aerial photographs taken from Google Earth®. Then, data were transferred into geo-referenced maps using (QGIS) software. The Ecological Quality Ratios (EQRs) were calculated based on the Reference Conditions of the Lebanese coast proposed in Badreddine *et al.*, 2018.

#### **Results and Discussion**

Based on the values of the EQR calculated in 2020 and 2021 (Fig. 1), four stretches of the Lebanese coast are in a good ES (Tyre/TYR, Adloun/ADL, Saksakiyeh/SAK, Enfeh/ENF); seven in a moderate (Saida/SAI, Tabarja/TAB, Jbeil/JBE, Barbara/BAR, Batroun/BAT, Chekaa/ CHEk, and Qualamon/ QUA, Sanini Island/ SAN), three in a poor (Saadiyet/SAA, Tripoli/ TRI, and Akkar/AKK) and one in a bad ES. The stretches of coast with a good ES are dominated by Fucales, mainly Cystoseira forests and Sargassum. In contrast, the moderate ones are dominated by ubiquitous photophilic algae, mainly Dictyotales, Padina spp., Laurencia complex. On the other hand, the poor ES rocky stretches are dominated by erect corallines and tolerant photophilic algae, mainly Colpomenia, Hypnea. Finally, the bad ES stretches are mainly dominated by green algae, mainly Ulvales, and Cyanobacteria. From a comparison point of view, the ES class has changed positively from 2018 to 2020 and 2021 (Tab. 1) due to the increase in EOR values in the monitored stretches of coast. This fact is likely due to a lower anthropogenic pressures along the Lebanese coastline during the two-year period 2020-2021 following the Covid pandemic. As a consequence, the diversity associated with the Lebanese rocky coast has been rehabilitated, and Fucales (mainly Cystoseira species) were present in more than 41% of the Lebanese rocky coast. From a monitoring point of view, the CARLIT index can be considered an important tool for evaluating the ecological status and estimating the condition of macroalgal communities, especially Fucales, along the Lebanese coast.



Fig. 1. Ecological quality Ratio (EQR) and Ecological status (ES) of the 15 studied stretches of coasts. EQR values calculated in: A) 2018 (Badreddine *et al.*, 2018), B) 2020 and C) 2021.

#### Bibliography

BADREDDINE A., ABBOUD-ABI SAAB A., GIANNI F., BALLESTEROS E. (2018) - First assessment of the Ecological Status in the Levant Basin: application of the CARLIT index along the Lebanese coastline. *Ecological Indicators*, 85 (2018): 37 - 47.

#### Abdelaziz BENHOUSSA, LIMAM A., RAMZI SGHAIER Y., BOUTAHAR L., SELFATI M., GEROVASILEIOU V., OSTALÉ-VALRIBERAS, E., GONZÁLEZ, A.R., MAESTRE, M., ESPINOSA F., BAZAIRI H.

Biodiversity, Ecology and Genome Laboratory, Faculty of Sciences, Mohammed V University, Rabat, Morocco.

E-mail: benhoussa@hotmail.com

# ECOLOGICAL CHARACTERIZATION OF THE MARINE AREA OF THE FUTURE PROTECTED AREA OF JBEL MOUSSA (STRAIT OF GIBRALTAR, MOROCCO): CONSERVATION AND MANAGEMENT CONSIDERATIONS

#### Abstract

Marine field surveys (MedKeyHabitats I Project) revealed that the site of Jbel Moussa (Strait of Gibraltar, Morocco) has all the appropriate bioecological features to be designated as a marine and coastal protected area. Indeed, the site presents an excellent environmental state and a great ecological value linked to the presence of 25 species and seven habitats of conservation interest in the Mediterranean. All collected data were compiled and GIS-based maps of marine habitats, anthropic pressures, and tourist facilities were elaborated. Later on, within the framework of the MedMPA Network project, the GIS-based maps led to the development of an integrated management plan for the Jbel Moussa protected area, including a zoning plan with a clear definition of the related regulations in the different marine zones, in particular those with strict protection encompassing ecosystems of high conservation interest.

Key-words: Biodiversity, MPA, GIS-based maps, Conservation, Management.

#### Introduction

In accordance with the CBD Aichi target, Morocco plans to establish a comprehensive and coherent network of ecologically representative and well-managed protected areas. The site of Jbel Moussa (Strait of Gibraltar, Morocco) is designated as a potential Marine and Coastal Protected Area (MCPA). Here, we present an overview of a recent ecological characterization of the site and its integrated management plan.

#### Materials and methods

Multi-approach marine surveys (Diving, ROV, etc.) were conducted in 2014 and 2015 to appreciate the marine biodiversity of Jbel Moussa. All collected data were compiled and integrated in a Geographic Information System, allowing the elaboration of GIS-based maps of the marine habitats, anthropic pressures, and tourist facilities. An integrated management plan was elaborated then based on a participatory and inclusive approach.

#### Results

Jbel Moussa presents an excellent environmental state and a great ecological value linked to the presence of 25 species and seven habitats of conservation interest in the Mediterranean such as *Zostera marina* meadows and coralligenous communities (PNUE/PAM-CAR/ASP, 2016). The GIS-based maps led to the development of an integrated management plan for Jbel Moussa, including a zoning plan with a clear definition of the related regulations in the different marine zones (Fig. 1) (SPA/RAC -



#### ONU Environnement/PAM & HCEFLCD, 2019).

Fig. 1. Zoning plan of the potential MCPA of Jbel Moussa (SPA/RAC - ONU Environnement/PAM & HCEFLCD, 2019).

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

Jbel Moussa has all the appropriate bioecological features to be designated as an MCPA. It is one of the priority sites to be declared as an MCPA by Morocco which will enable reducing the shortage of MPAs along the southern Mediterranean coast.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was conducted respectively within the framework of the MedKeyHabitats I Project funded by MAVA Foundation and the EU-funded MedMPA Network Project, both implemented by UNEP/MAP-SPA/RAC in close collaboration with the Département des Eaux et Forêts (DEF).

#### **Bibliography**

- PNUE/PAM-CAR/ASP (2016) Maroc: Site de Jbel Moussa. Cartographie des habitats marins clés de Méditerranée et initiation de réseaux de surveillance. *In*: Par Bazairi H., Sghaier Y.R., Benhoussa A., Boutahar L., El Kamcha R., Selfati M., Gerovasileiou V., Baeza J., Castañer V., Martin J., Valriberas E., González R., Maestre M., Espinosa F., Ouerghi A. (eds). CAR/ASP -Projet MedKeyHabitats, Tunis: 92 p + Annexes.
- SPA/RAC ONU Environnement/PAM & HCEFLCD (2019) Plan de gestion intégré du site d'intérêt biologique et écologique de Jbel Moussa – phase 2: Mesures de gestion. In : Aghnaj A., Bazairi H., Ibis Consulting (eds). SPA/RAC. Projet MedMPA Network, Tunis: 65 p.

Ramla BOUHLEL, BENISMAIL M., CHEBAANE S., BENZARTI O., GRAMI B. Association Notre Grand Bleu (NGB, NGO) Monastir-Tunisia, Email: ramlabouhle198@gmail.com

# THE IMPACT OF CAULERPA CYLINDRACEA ON CYMODOCEA NODOSA IN THE MARINE AND COASTAL PROTECTED AREA OF KURIAT ISLANDS, TUNISIA

#### Abstract

Non-Indigenous Species (NIS) can be detrimental to a local ecosystem by overgrowing and competing with native species for space, food, and other resources. It can also affect the balance of the ecosystem by replacing these native species. However, the difficulty in making general predictions of which NIS will have negative effects suggests that each species must be subjected to rigorous ecological characterization and risk assessment of its introduction. The effect of the presence of the NIS algae Caulerpa cylindracea in the seagrass meadow Cymodocea nodosa was studied by comparing the biological and environmental parameters of two sites around small Kuriat Island. Environmental parameters, Chlorophyll-a content, organic content, granulometric sediment composition, macrophytes biometry and the

taxonomic groups associated with C. nodosa were assessed for both sites. The results show the detrimental impact of C. cylindracea on the native biota of C.nodosa beds, probably through the reduction of light availability and limiting the photosynthetic performance of Cymodocea.

Key-words: Caulerpa cylindracea, Cymodocea nodosa, Impact, NIS, Seagrass

#### Introduction

This study was done in the future Marine and Coastal Protected Area 'AMCP Kuriat' a Mediterranean area of high biological, ecological and biogeographic interest. AMCP Kuriat is characterized by the presence of a multitude of vulnerable species and marine habitats of conservation interest (e.g. the bivalve shell *Pinna nobilis*, the meadows of *Posidonia oceanica* and *Cymodocea nodosa*) (Aguir, 2009).

The present study is to: i) compare densities of the native *C. nodosa* meadows in the presence and absence of the NIS *Caulerpa cylindracea* and ii) analyze the morphological and biological parameters of *C. nodosa* and inference of potential effects of *C. cylindracea*.

#### Material and methods

The study was done in the small Kuriat Island, where the sampling was carried out in two different sites (the first site (T1) consisted of homogeneous beds of *C. nodosa*, and the second (T2) consisted of heterogeneous beds (*C. cylindracea* with *C. nodosa*) for each site, biotic and abiotic three samples were carried out in two different depths 0.62 m and 1.10 m (in total 12 samples).

Temperature, salinity, pH, dissolved oxygen and the conductivity were measured *in situ* with a multi-parameter. In addition, Chlorophyll a concentration was determined using the fluorimetric method proposed by Holm-Hansen *et al.*, 1965. Also samples of sediment were taken by polyvinyl chloride PVC corer of 10 cm diameter. On the top of this, density of *C. nodosa* was estimated *in situ* using a 30 cm square quadrat, randomly positioned in the herbarium (10 sampling point for each site) (Sghaier et *al.*, 2012).

Afterwards, at each site, twelve specimens of *C. nodosa* were taken haphazardly to study the associated macroinvertebrates and morphological analysis. For analyzing the data, Analysis of Variance (ANOVA) two-factors with replication was used to study the significant difference between the sites (T1, T2) for each set of samples. All the statistical analyses are carried out with the XLSTAT © software for Windows

#### **Results and Discussion**

The two studied sites were presented with characteristics of fine sand granulometry, which is a favourable habitat for the *Cymodocea nodosa* beds (Pergent *et al.*, 2012) and also for *Caulerpa cylindracea* (Verlaque *et al.*, 2000). The physicochemical parameters shows homogeneity between sites and depths (P > 0.05). The chlorophyll content significantly differed between the two sites at both sampling depths (P < 0.0005). The non-indigenous algae *C. cylindracea* seems to affect the concentration of Chlorophyll *a* as the site with this NIS has a low concentration in Chlorophyll *a* compared with the site with only the *C. nodosa* beds. The average leaf length in the *C. nodosa* was significantly different in the two depths of the same site and the two sites between them (p < 0.05). At shallow depth, the leaves are longer. At the site with the presence of *C. Cylindracea*, the leaves of Cymodocea are significantly shorter (p < 0.05).

Concerning the variation of density, and comparing the results found for the same depth between the two sites, a significant difference (p < 0.01) between the density of the *C*. *nodosa* in the two sites with a higher density in deeper waters. This negative effect of this NIS on the native species *C.nodosa* could be explained by establishing a competitive relationship in favour of the NIS with respect to resources (e.g. nutritive salts) (IFREMER, 2000).

#### **Bibliography**

- AGUIR A. (2009) Étude de l'impact de la protection du milieu marin sur les activités Socioéconomiques des îles Kuriat. Mémoire de Mastère Spécialisé «Économie du Tourisme», Faculté de droit et des sciences économiques et politiques de Sousse, Tunisie.
- HOLM-HANSEN O., LORENZEN C.J., HOLMES R.W., STRICKLAND J.D.H. (1965) Fluorometric determination of chlorophyll. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 30(1): 3–15.
- SGHAIER Y.R., ZAKHAMA R., BENAMER I., CHARFI CHEIKHROUHA F. (2011) Occurrence of the seagrass *Halophila stipulacea* (Hydrocharitaceae) in the southern Mediterranean Sea. *Botanica Marina*, 54 (6): 575-582.
- PERGENT G., BAZAIRI H, BIANCHI C.N., BOUDOURESQUE C.-F., BUIA M.C., CLABAUT P., HARMELIN-VIVIEN M., MATEO M.A., MONTEFALCONE M., MORRI C., ORFANIDIS S., PERGENT-MARTINI C., SEMROUD R., SERRANO O., VERLAQUE M. (2012) - Résilience et contribution à l'atténuation des changements climatiques.. IUCN,79 pp. (hal-00808509).
- VERLAQUE M., BOUDOURESQUE C.F., MEINESZ A., GRAVEZ V. (2000) The *Caulerpa* racemosa complex (Caulerpales, Ulvophyceae) in the Mediterranean Sea. Botanica Marina, 43: 49-68.
- IFREMER. (2000) Suivi de l'expansion de l'algue *Caulerpa taxifolia*, actions menées par l'IFREMER. Direction de l'environnement et de l'aménagement littoral, DEL/EC/BB/99.123.

Simona BUSSOTTI, RUIZ-FRAU A., BARON C., BEN LAMINE E., BROSSARD C., COTTALORDA J.M., DERIJARD B., GUIDETTI P., LOQUES F., MARGUIN A., PEY A., ROMERO-SUAREZ G., VARRENNE A., VENTURA P., ROSSI F. Université Côte d'Azur, CNRS, UMR 7035 ECOSEAS, Nice, France <u>E-mail: Simona.BUSSOTTI@univ-cotedazur.fr</u>

# KNOWLEDGE AND LEARNING PROCESSES IN MARINE ENVIRONMENTAL EDUCATION: A CASE STUDY ON *POSIDONIA OCEANICA* ACCUMULATIONS IN MEDITERRANEAN BEACHES

#### Abstract

Environmental conservation objectives cannot be achieved without literacy on biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. This study thus aimed at assessing basic knowledge about the seagrass Posidonia oceanica and its ecological importance among pupils aged 11-16 years. We administered an ad hoc questionnaire in schools in 6 different Mediterranean countries to investigate pupils' perception about the litter accumulations of P. oceanica on the beaches (banquettes) that are usually perceived as a nuisance by users. In Nice (France), we re-tested with the same questionnaire pupils' knowledge acquisition after classroom lessons and outdoor activities. Results show that this method significantly supports learning processes about environmental issues.

Key-words: Ocean literacy, teaching, seagrass, *banquettes*, seashore

#### Introduction

In spite of an increasing attention at societal level and the strong recommendation provided by the European Education Area and the EU Biodiversity Strategy, the issues related to biodiversity and natural ecosystems are just sporadically mentioned in science or civic education courses. To fully achieve the Sustainable Development Goals for 2030 (https://education. ec.europa.eu) and ensure citizen empowerment, these concepts should be learned from an early age (UNESCO, 2017). *Posidonia oceanica* is a seagrass endemic to the Mediterranean Sea included in Annex II of the Bern Convention as a species strictly protected. With the project ECOMED we aimed at setting up baseline information about knowledge and perception of the ecological importance of beach-cast *P. oceanica* seagrass litter (*banquettes*) by administering an *ad hoc* questionnaire among middle and high school pupils living in coastal areas of 6 Mediterranean countries. *Banquettes* are often removed from the beaches being perceived as a nuisance by users.

#### Materials and methods

We developed a questionnaire and translated it into different languages. The questionnaire included 29 questions about: (i) general knowledge on marine and beach ecology, (ii) perception and acceptance of *Posidonia* beach-cast. We distributed the questionnaire across schools of 6 Mediterranean countries (Albania, France, Italy, Montenegro, Spain, Tunisia) to students aged 11-16 years. A total of 3749 questionnaire were completed. Additionally, in some schools in Nice (France), the same questionnaire (n=245) has been re-administered a few months after to the same pupils in order to test for changes in knowledge and perception after classroom lessons and outdoor activities. Some field measures were directly collected by pupils through a scientific experimental protocol that specifically has been developed for this project.

#### Results

Our survey showed that: i) 62% of pupils already knew *Posidonia oceanica;* ii) >50% thought its accumulation (*banquettes*) are important for the environment; iii) only 49% answered to accept to leave them in place. Interestingly, the experiment on learning in Nice showed a significant increase in the proportion of pupils who now agreed not to remove *banquettes* from the beaches (Fig. 1).



Fig.1: Pupil's responses in Nice at the question "After this questionnaire, would you leave Posidonia accumulation in place?", a) before and b) after classroom and outdoor activities.

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

These preliminary results show that middle and high school pupils inhabiting different Mediterranean countries and cities have a satisfactory level of basic knowledge (many had already heard the word *Posidonia oceanica*) even though further actions aimed at raising environmental awareness are recommended. Results also highlight that regular interventions involving pupils in lively science outdoor initiatives increase awareness and help to fill the wide lack in Ocean Literacy-related issues (see Cava et al., 2005). We also observed during the study period an important increase in teacher motivation. This successful interaction between teachers and researchers is of paramount importance considering the essential role that teachers have in preparing future citizen generations and the willingness of young people to know more about nature.

#### Acknowledgments

Research funded by *Fondation de France* and *Région Sud* (Medplage and Ecomed projects). We thank all teachers and colleagues from the different countries for their enthusiastic participation.

#### **Bibliography**

CAVA F., SCHOEDINGER S., STRANG C., TUDDENHAM. P. (2005) - Science Content and Standards for Ocean Literacy: *A Report on Ocean Literacy*, 32 pp.

UNESCO (2017) - Education for Sustainable Development Goals. Learning Objectives. Paris. United Nations Educational and Cultural Organization, 62 pp. Andreu DALMAU, SÁNCHEZ J. SUBMON (Ortigosa Street, 14, 1<sup>st</sup> 3<sup>rd</sup>, 08003, Barcelona, Spain). <u>E-mail: andreudalmau@submon.org</u>

# RESTORING SEAGRASS MEADOWS FROM THE IMPACT OF LARGE-SIZED LITTER

#### Abstract

Litter is one of the main problems that the marine environment is facing and will have to face in the future. Normally, when people think about marine litter they focus on general waste and plastic pollution, forgetting about other types of debris that are lost or abandoned on the seafloor, potentially impacting sensitive habitats such as seagrass meadows. Abandoned mooring elements (concrete blocks, anchors, or chains), lost fishing gear or even sunken ships are some examples of large-sized heavy objects that accumulate underwater in coastal areas.

Here we present an initiative that we started in 2017. It consists of restoring seagrass meadows of the Spanish Mediterranean coast by locating and extracting heavy and large-sized objects that are impacting them. To do so, we elaborated a methodology that consists of: 1) selecting the area; 2) searching for this type of litter abandoned on seagrass meadows of the area and georeferencing it; 3) evaluating the suitability of the extraction by analyzing its integration in the meadows; 4) extracting the selected objects following the national regulations on commercial diving; 5) organizing an informative session addressed to public administrations, to the economic sectors implied and to the general population to raise awareness on the importance of seagrasses and to avoid further litter accumulations in the future. These actions have been carried out in different areas of the Spanish coastline, including marine Natura 2000 sites, Natural Parks, and Marine Reserves. Since 2017, a total of 469 objects have been removed from seagrass meadows, representing 56.890 kg of litter.

This initiative proves to be a way to effectively reduce some physical impacts on seagrass meadows, and an opportunity to raise awareness through society on the importance of preserving seagrasses as a key marine habitat.

Key-words: seagrass, restoration, litter, *Posidonia*, *Cymodocea*.

#### Introduction

It has been estimated than around 10 million tons of waste enter the ocean every year worldwide, being the 80% of them plastics and coming mostly from land-based sources (Jambeck *et al.*, 2015). This shows that litter is one of the main conservation problems that the marine environment is facing and will have to face in the future.

Marine litter can be defined as any type of human-made solid waste that enters into the marine environment. Thus, this concept is wider than what society normally thinks. There are many types of litter besides general waste and plastic pollution that can be found underwater in coastal areas, such as abandoned mooring elements (concrete blocks, anchors, or chains), lost fishing gear or even sunken ships. Those elements are normally large-sized and heavy objects that are lost or abandoned on the seafloor, where they can accumulate. Those accumulations can potentially impact sensitive underwater habitats such as seagrass meadows.

Here we present an initiative that our organization (SUBMON) started in 2017, that focuses on this type of litter. It consists of restoring seagrass meadows of the Spanish Mediterranean coast by removing heavy and large-sized objects that are impacting them.

#### Materials and methods

This initiative has been carried out following a methodology that we developed, which is divided in five phases:

1) Selecting the area. Actuations have been carried out in different protected areas of the Spanish Mediterranean coast with presence of seagrass meadows (Natural Parks, Natura 2000 sites and Marine Protected Areas). To decide where to act we gather information of potential areas and contact local administrations and organizations to know if there is a particular site where it would be needed to act. With this information we select the actuation area.

2) Searching for large-sized litter that is affecting seagrass meadows in the selected area. Once the area is selected, it is time to search for the litter. Members of our organization scuba dive through the area to find large-sized and heavy objects that are impacting seagrasses. All the objects found are photographed and georeferenced using a GPS to set their exact position.

3) Evaluating the suitability of the extraction by analyzing their integration into the meadows. Once the large-sized objects are found, it is time to evaluate if it is a better option to keep them underwater or to remove them. To do so, we analyze if they are integrated into the meadows, only removing the ones that can be extracted without producing an extra impact.

4) Extracting the selected objects. The removal of the selected objects is carried out following the national regulations on commercial diving, using specific gear and equipment such as diving helmets, lift bags and floating cranes. All removed objects are later brought into a certified waste management facility.

5) Organizing an informative session after the actuation. This session is addressed to public administrations, to the economic sectors implied and to the general population, in order to raise awareness on the importance of seagrasses and to avoid further litter accumulations in the future.

#### Results

Since 2017, we carried out this initiative at 16 different locations of the Spanish Mediterranean coast. A total of 469 objects have been extracted from *Posidonia oceanica* and *Cymodocea nodosa* meadows, representing 56.890 kg of litter removed. Also, 16 informative sessions have been organized, one at each location, to explain the actuations made and raise awareness throughout the local population and administrations.

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

The results obtained prove that this initiative is a way to: 1) effectively reduce some physical impacts that seagrass meadows are suffering in coastal areas; 2) raise awareness throughout society on the importance of preserving seagrasses and their role as a key marine habitat.

#### Acknowledgments

This initiative has been possible thanks to the support of Generalitat de Catalunya, Infraestructures.cat and Proyecto LIBERA.

#### **Bibliography**

JAMBECK J.R., GEYER R., WILCOX C., SIEGLER T.R., PERRYMAN M., ANDRADY A., NARAYAN R., LAW K.L. (2015) - Plastic waste inputs from land into the ocean. *Science*, 347(6223): 768-771.

Yasser ALI GENEID, EL-SAYED H., EL-HADDAD K., FOAD M.

National Institute of Oceanography and Fisheries, Egyptian Environmental Affairs Agency, EGYPT

E-mail: yasogin@yahoo.co.uk

# MAPPING AND ASSESSING SEAGRASSES USING MULTI SATELLITE IMAGERY ALONG ALMAZA BAY, MEDITERRANEAN SEA, EGYPT

#### Abstract

Seagrasses provide important ecosystem services, including provision of primary production supporting food webs, nutrient cycling, and habitat supporting marine biodiversity. They are also a major atmospheric carbon dioxide sink, helping mitigate global climate change. Preservation of seagrass habitats is intimately related to the sustainability of overall coastal ecosystems. The use of remote sensing in mapping underwater vegetation has increased recently with improvements in multispectral and hyperspectral sensors, enabling researchers to map and monitor the temporal changes in benthic habitats. The study was carried out along Almaza Bay, Egypt North coast (31°11'33.76"N, 27°34'21.61"E to 31°12'24.43"N, 27°32'0.97"E) on the Mediterranean seagrass Posidonia oceanica meadows. This area along with most of the Egypt Mediterranean seafront has witnessed huge development during the last 2 decades. Mega projects including touristic resorts, power plants and seawater desalination plants were established. Monitoring the extent and health of seagrass is important not only to track the impact of human activities on this valuable resource, but because seagrass acts as a sentinel, reflecting the condition of the surrounding environment. In this study, multispectral satellite images retrieved from both Landsat OLI and Sentinel 2 sensors were used to delineate the seagrass distribution. The obtained images were corrected for water depth, which helped in mapping process of the benthic habitats. The obtained results were validated using field observations to get the most accurate classification method. The images revealed dense Posidonia oceanica meadows to the west of the Bay in the subtidal zone, with water depth about 7-12 m and on a sandy substrate, while the east side of the Bay is characterized by a rocky substrate with almost no seagrass vegetation. The study showed the necessity of conducting more intensive research using multi-temporal satellite images in monitoring seagrass ecosystem change over time and space providing the basis for successful management strategies.

Key-words: Posidonia oceanica, satellite imagery, benthic cover, Mediterranean Sea, Egypt

#### Introduction

Seagrass meadows provide important benefits to marine ecosystems. They stabilize the seafloor, protect the shorelines from erosion, and contribute to climate change mitigation thanks to their capacity to trap carbon dioxide. Additionally, seagrass meadows are widely considered as important feeding, nursery, and refuge habitats for fishes, invertebrates, and other animals (Nordlund *et al.*, 2018).

Mapping and monitoring of seagrass habitats in shallow coastal waters is performed by several methods. Remote sensing is one of the most effective means (Meehan *et al.*, 2005). Recent developments and improvements in multispectral remote sensing have increased the use of this method to map and monitor benthic habitats (Hedley *et al.*, 2018).
#### **Materials and Methods**

In the present study, Sentinel-2 Level 2A image acquired on 21 July, 2021 has been used. The images have been atmospherically corrected then the Bottom-Of-Atmosphere was created. A subset showing the study area was created and then Sen2Coral toolbox was used to apply a glint removal algorithm (Hedley *et al.*, 2005), in order to be able to observe the seafloor for the purpose of habitat mapping or bathymetry derivation. The obtained results were validated by field surveys *in situ* to get truthful classification in order to get the different classes, which were compared to the field observations to generate the final benthic habitats map.

#### Results

The gained outcomes were repeated to get the most confirmed classification results. The images, as well as the field surveys, revealed dense *Posidonia oceanica* meadows along the western zone of the Bay in the subtidal zone, characterized by a sandy substrate with water depths of about 7-12 m. On the contrary, the eastern zone of the Bay was found to have rare seagrass vegetation, maybe due to its rocky substrate nature.

#### **Bibliography**

- HEDLEY J.D., HARBORNE A.R., MUMBY P.J. (2005) Technical note: Simple and robust removal of sun glint for mapping shallow-water benthos. *Int. J. Remote Sens.*, 26: 2107–2112.
- HEDLEY J.D., ROELFSEMA C., BRANDO V., GIARDINO C., KUTSER T., PHINN S., MUMBY P.J., BARRILERO O., LAPORTE J., KOETZ B. (2018) Coral reef applications of Sentinel-2: Coverage, characteristics, bathymetry and benthic mapping with comparison to Landsat 8. *Rem. Sens. Environ.*, 216: 598–614.
- MEEHAN A.J., WILLIAMS R.J., WATFORD F.A. (2005) Detecting trends in seagrass abundance using aerial photograph interpretation: problems arising with the evolution of mapping methods. *Estuaries*, 28 (3): 462e472.
- NORDLUND L.M., UNSWORTH R.K.F., GULLSTRÖM M., CULLEN-UNSWORTH L.C. (2018) Global Significance of Seagrass Fishery Activity. *Fish and Fisheries*, 19: 399–412. doi:10.1111/faf.12259.

#### Leila KTARI, CHEBIL AJJABI L.

Laboratoire B3Aqua, Institut National des Sciences et Technologies de la Mer (INSTM), Université de Carthage, Tunisie <u>E-mail: leila.ktari@instm.rnrt.tn</u>

# CASCADE APPROACH FOR VALORIZATION OF THE BROWN ALGA DICTYOTA SPIRALIS BY THE EXTRACTION OF BIOFERTILIZER AND BIOACTIVES COMPOUNDS

#### Abstract

The brown alga Dictyota spiralis, collected from Tunisian coasts has been analyzed for its biological properties in a cascading way of processing for biofertilizer and bioactive compounds extraction. Two extraction scenarios were followed in order to determine efficient way to maximize the use of biomass. Properties of the obtained fertilizers have been tested on the germination of Eucalyptus gomphocephala seeds. The results showed that extraction scenario could influence the recovery rate of bioactive compounds. Biofertilizers obtained from Dictyota spiralis showed significant stimulant activity on seed germination rate and precocity.

Key-words: Dictyotales, antioxidant, biofertilizer, fucoxanthin, phenolic compounds.

#### Introduction

Seaweeds have an important ecological role in maintaining environmental balance and the sustainability potential in term of economic for the "blue growth" strategy (Ktari *et al.*, 2021a). Dictyotales (Ochrophyta, Phaeophyceae) are common in warm and temperate waters. Species of this taxonomic group are known to produce a significant number of bioactive secondary metabolites (Ktari *et al.*, 2021b). Recently, Spiralyde A, an antikinetoplastid dolabellane with strong activity against *Leishmania amazonensis* was isolated from *Dictyota spiralis* (Chiboub *et al.*, 2019). Furthermore, biostimulation proficiency on plant growth has been reported for different aqueous algal extracts resulting in positive effects on health, growth, and crop yield of many plants (HAMED *et al.*, 2018). The aim of this study was to evaluate the biological potential of *D. spiralis*, aqueous and organic extracts, while testing cascade extraction approach for efficient use of biomass.

#### Material and methods

Two scenarios were carried out: the first one being the production of biofertilizer directly from the alga (LAE) and extracting bioactives compounds from the extraction residue. While the second scenario involved extracting bioactive compounds directly from the algal biomass and preparing the biofertilizer from the organic extraction residues (LRE). Properties of the obtained fertilizers have been tested on the germination of *Eucalyptus gomphocephala* seeds *in-vitro* and *ex-vitro*. Bioactive properties of organic extracts were determined by quantifying high added value compounds such as pigments (Wang et al. 2005) and phenolic compounds with analysis of antioxidant properties through DPPH free radical scavenging assay (Hmani *et al.*, 2021). One-way ANOVA was performed, and significant differences (p < 0.05) were determined by Tukey's test.

#### Results

The results showed that no significant differences were obtained in pigment content of algal

biomass versus fertilizer extraction residue (Table 1). In contrast, while flavonoids and tannins contents were significantly higher when directly extracted from alga biomass, total phenolic content was found higher in the fertilizer extraction residue.

	Pigments (mg/g dry biomass)			Phenolic compounds			DPPH
Extract	Chl a	Chl c	Fx	TP*	F**	T*	IC50
Alga	$0.34 \pm 0.02$	$0.22 \pm 0.03$	$0.13\pm0.05$	13.3±1.55	$62.71 \pm 4.87$	$47.06 \pm 2.45$	64.02
Residue	$0.36\pm0.0$	$0.30\pm0.04$	$0.11\pm0.0$	19.7±0.72	$39.1 \pm 1.37$	$19.73 \pm 1.15$	76.04
3.7.1		1 1 1 1 1	* 1 1 1	1 1 55 7	CAE/ /	·) **T1 ·1	E (

Tab. 1: Phytochemical content of D. spiralis organic extracts.

Values are means ± standard deviation, \*Total Polyphenol: TP (mg GAE/g extract); \*\*Flavonoids: F (mg CatE/g extract); \*\*\*Tannins: T (mg CatE/g extract); IC<sub>50</sub> (mg/ml)

Considering the properties of obtained fertilizers from both extraction scenarios, no significant differences were observed on seed germination precocity or rate (Figure 1 a, b and c) except for high concentration (100%). The obtained biofertilizers showed significant stimulant activity on seed germination rate *in-vitro* and *ex-vitro*.



Fig. 1: Percentages of seed germination precocity (a) and rate (b in-vitro; c ex-vitro).

#### **Discussion and conclusion**

Results obtained for total polyphenol content were comparable to data found by Chiboub *et al.* (2017) for the same species (11. 4 $\pm$ 0.1 mg GAE/g extract) collected from northern coast of Tunisia (Tabarka). The analysis of phenolic compounds highlighted the richness of *D. spiralis* in flavonoids and tannins. However, the prior extraction of the liquid fertilizer leads to a reduction in the content of more than 30% for flavonoids and 50% for tannins.

This study showed that *Dictyota spiralis* represent an interesting source for biofertiliser and bioactive metabolites extraction. Therefore, cascade processing approach can be applied as an efficient way for biomass exploitation with less waste generated.

#### Bibliography

- CHIBOUB O., KTARI O., SIFAOUI I., LÓPEZ-ARENCIBIA A., REYES-BATLLE M., MEJRI M., VALLADARES B., ABDERRABBA M., PIÑERO J.E., LORENZO-MORALES J. (2017) - In vitro amoebicidal and antioxidant activities of some Tunisian seaweeds. *Exp. Parasito.*, 183: 76-80.
- CHIBOUB O., SIFAOUI I., LORENZO-MORALES J., ABDERRABBA M., MEJRI M., FERNÁNDEZ J.J., PIÑERO J.E., DÍAZ-MARRERO A.R.. (2019) Spiralyde A, an Antikinetoplastid Dolabellane from the Brown Alga *Dictyota spiralis. Mar. Drugs.*, 17 (3): 192.
- HAMED S.M., ABD EL-RHMAN A.A., ABDEL-RAOUF N., IBRAHEEM I.B. (2018) Role of marine macroalgae in plant protection and improvement for sustainable agriculture technology. *Beni-Suef Univ. J. Basic Appl. Sci.*, 7 (1): 104-110.
- KTARI L., CHEBIL AJJABI L., DE CLERCK O., GÓMEZ PINCHETTI J.L., REBOURS C. (2021a) Seaweeds as a promising resource for blue economy development in Tunisia:

current state, opportunities, and challenges. J. Appl. Phycol., 34 (1): 489-505.

KTARI L., MDALLEL C., AOUN B., AJJABI CHEBIL L., SADOK S. (2021b) – Fucoxanthin and phenolic contents of six Dictyotales from the Tunisian coasts with an emphasis for a green extraction using Supercritical CO<sub>2</sub> method. *Front. Mar. Sci.*, 8: 647159.

#### Simone MODUGNO, PUSTINA I., KROMIDHA G.

INCA, Institute for Nature Conservation in Albania. <u>E-mail: info@ilbludelmare.it</u>

# **RESULTS OF THE FIRST ASSESSMENT OF** *POSIDONIA OCEANICA* **MEADOWS IN PALASE AREA, ALBANIA**

#### Abstract

Posidonia oceanica is a Mediterranean endemic phanerogam widely exploited as bio-indicator to assess both water quality and health status of coastal ecosystem, in accordance with the WFD and the IMAP Barcelona Convention. Main objectives of this work were to provide a baseline of the ecological conditions of P. oceanica meadow and the surrounding environment and mapping meadow distribution as a preliminary tool for studying Palasë's coast. Underwater scientific divers evaluated the meadow on the basis of UNEP/MAP-RAC/SPA guidelines. During survey physical and physiographical descriptors, meadow distribution in relation to the nature of the bottom and main habitat structural descriptors have been investigated. Results indicated good conditions of both the meadow and the marine environment, but a upper limit retreating phenomenon has been noticed.

Key-words: Posidonia, meadow, Water Framework Directive, IMAP, Underwater Scientific Diver.

#### Introduction

Studying *Posidonia oceanica* is fundamental for the evaluation of the ecological status of Mediterranean marine coastal ecosystems. In order to increase the protection of coastal areas, new updated data about marine phanerogams are really important. Mapping and census studies are required to update data year after year, in order to study any meadow's changes occurring.

The main objective of this work was to provide a first evaluation of the geomorphological, chemical-physical and ecological conditions of the Palasë 's meadow (Vlorë County, Albania). A first assessment of *P. oceanica* meadow along the coast of Palasë has been realized during summer 2021, in the frame of the project "Assessment of *P. oceanica* meadows in Palasë area" funded by the Global Environment Facility - Small Grants Program and RAC-SPA.

#### Materials and methods

Palasë's meadow has been studied and mapped on the basis of UNEP/MAP-RAC/SPA guidelines (UNEP/MAP-RAC/SPA, 2015). During survey the following descriptors have been investigated in five stations (St, Tab.1): depth of upper and lower limits (m), substrate type, bottom nature, % coverage of living *P. oceanica* and shoot density at the upper limit.

#### Results

The main results are reported and summarized below in Table 1.

St	Upper limit (m)	Lower limit (m)	Substrate type	Bottom nature	% coverage of living <i>P. oceanica</i>	Density of leaf shoots (upper limit)	Assessment based on shoot density and depth (see UNEP/MAP- RAC/SPA, 2015)
1	-12,4	-27,4	sandy	a first line of shoreline consisting of coarse pebbles and smooth rocky boulders; a brief accumulation of gravel at the first bathymetric jump; from $-4/4.5$ m up to the upper limit (-12,4 m), a very long stretch of white sand with suspended mud and particles; initial presence of belts, stripes, island and many old channels and patches of dead Posidonia till the real meadow (-15/16 m)	50	450±12,75	moderate
2	-15,1	-29,3	sandy	a first line of shoreline consisting of coarse pebbles and smooth rocky boulders; a brief accumulation of gravel at the first bathymetric jump; from -4/4.5 m up to the upper limit (-15,1 m), a very long stretch of white sand with suspended mud and particles; initial presence of belts, stripes, island and many old channels and patches of dead Posidonia till the real meadow (-15/16 m)	46	522±25,88	high
3	-14,4	-32,2	sandy	a first line of shoreline consisting of coarse pebbles and smooth rocky boulders; a brief accumulation of gravel at the first bathymetric jump; from -4/4.5 m up to the upper limit (-14,4 m), a long stretch of coarse sand; initial presence of belts, stripes and patches of Posidonia till the real meadow (-15/16 m)	40	477±17,89	good
4	-12,6	-27,6	sandy	a first line of shoreline consisting of coarse pebbles and smooth rocky boulders; a brief accumulation of gravel at the first bathymetric jump; from -4/4.5 m up to the upper limit (-12,6 m), a long stretch of coarse sand; initial presence of belts, stripes, island, channels and patches of Posidonia till the real meadow (-13,2/14,5 m)	37	470±15,81	good
5	-12,5	-24,3	Rocky, mud-sandy	a first stretch of rocky coast consisting of limestone and granite cliffs and slabs with coarse pebbles and boulders accumulated up to -7/9 m; a brief accumulation of gravel between the rocks; from about -7.5/8.5 m up to the upper limit (-12.5 m), an expanse of sand and light mud; initial presence of bands, stripes and patches with dug corridors of Posidonia up to the real lawn -12.4/13.5 m)	25	470±38,08	good

#### Tab. 1: Synthesis of the main descriptors recorded in the investigated stations.

#### Discussion

Results indicated good conditions of the ecological status of marine coastal environment and good condition of the meadow at the upper limit on the basis of the shoot density classes (UNEP/MAP-RAC/SPA, 2015), as summarized in Table 1. However, a phenomenon of retreat of the upper limit was detected, probably due to both hydrodynamic and anthropogenic impacts.

Although preliminary, these data can represent a reference baseline. The development of a new long-term and broader monitoring plan is recommended, in order to assess the temporal evolution of the ecological status of the meadow under increasingly intense anthropogenic pressures along the south coast of Albania.

#### Bibliography

UNEP/MAP-RAC/SPA, 2015. Guidelines for Standardization of Mapping and Monitoring Methods of Marine Magnoliophyta in the Mediterranean. Christine Pergent-Martini, Edits., RAC/SPA publ., Tunis: 48 p. + Annexes

#### Briac MONNIER, PERGENT G., MATEO M.Á., CLABAUT P., PERGENT-MARTINI C.

Equipe Ecosystèmes Littoraux, UMR CNRS SPE 6134, Université de Corse, Faculté des Sciences et Techniques, Campus Grimaldi BP 52, 20250 Corte, France. <u>E-mail: briac.monnier@gmail.com</u>

# BLUE CARBON STOCKS ASSOCIATED WITH *POSIDONIA OCEANICA* MEADOWS: A LARGE-SCALE INVENTORY IN CORSICA (NW MEDITERRANEAN)

#### Abstract

In the last decades, the increasing necessity to reduce atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) concentrations has intensified interest in quantifying the capacity of coastal ecosystems to sequester carbon, referred to commonly as 'Blue Carbon' (BC). In the Mediterranean Sea, Posidonia oceanica seagrass meadows are considered as long-term carbon sinks due to the formation of a belowground organic deposit (the matte). To specify the role of P. oceanica meadows in climate change mitigation, an inventory of organic and inorganic carbon stocks has been conducted along the east coast of Corsica based on the study of 39 sediment cores. The biogeochemical analyses revealed a high variability of stocks with environmental drivers (water depth, depositional environment and sediment matrix). The carbon stocks in the first 250 cm of matte (average thickness) were estimated at 14.0 million t C (studied site) and 36.9 million t C (Corsica), corresponding to 29.2 and 76.8 years of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from the population of Corsica.

Key-words: Posidonia oceanica, seagrass, carbon stock, Corsica, climate change.

#### Introduction

The strategies to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, and notably carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) concentration, are crucial for climate change mitigation. Recently, 'Blue Carbon' (BC) initiatives have been implemented to conserve and restore coastal vegetated ecosystems contributing to the capture of CO<sub>2</sub> and its storage as organic carbon in their sediments for long periods of time. Among these BC ecosystems, *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass meadows have been recognized as major carbon sinks due the formation of significant deposits (mattes) reaching several meters in height and preserving carbon over millennia. In the last decades, the increasing necessity of reducing CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations has intensified interest in quantifying the carbon storage and its variability related with biological and environmental drivers (Mazarrasa *et al.*, 2018). This study aimed (i) to understand the variability of carbon stocks in the *P. oceanica* matte of Corsica, and (ii) to provide a global estimate carbon stored at regional scale.

#### Material and methods

*Posidonia oceanica* matte cores (n = 39) were collected along the east coast of Corsica (France) in a wide range of environmental conditions (depth: -10 to -40 m; depositional environment: coastal *vs* estuary; substrate: sandy *vs* rocky). The sediment sampling was performed in August 2018 using Kullenberg gravity corer during the oceanographic survey Carbonsink aboard the R/V 'L'Europe' (Ifremer). Cores were subsampled in 1 cm-thick slices, dried and weighted to measure the dry-bulk density (g cm<sup>-3</sup>). Biogeochemical

analyses (loss on ignition, elemental and isotopic measures) were achieved on grounded samples to determine the organic ( $%C_{org}$ ) and inorganic carbon ( $%C_{inorg}$ ) contents. The  $C_{org}$  and  $C_{inorg}$  stocks were normalized to stratigraphic depths of 100 cm (standard) and 250 cm thick deposits (mean thickness of matte; Monnier *et al.*, 2021).

#### **Results and discussion**

The mean ( $\pm$  SE) C<sub>org</sub> and C<sub>inorg</sub> stocks show a significant variability with depth, sediment matrix and depositional environment (Fig. 1). Seagrass meadows located in shallow stations and settled on sandy substrate exhibited significantly higher C<sub>org</sub> stocks and lower C<sub>inorg</sub> stocks than those located in deeper areas or growing on rocky matrix. In the top 100 cm of matte, the stocks have been estimated at  $32.7 \pm 1.5$  kg C<sub>org</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> and  $24.5 \pm 4.5$  kg C<sub>inorg</sub> m<sup>-2</sup>. Considering the mean thickness of matte on the east of Corsica, the C<sub>org</sub> and C<sub>inorg</sub> stocks reached  $72.3 \pm 4.6$  kg m<sup>-2</sup> and  $60.5 \pm 9.9$  kg m<sup>-2</sup>, respectively (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1: Mean ( $\pm$  S.E.) C<sub>org</sub> and C<sub>inorg</sub> stocks in the top 100 cm (left) and 250 cm (right) of *P. oceanica* matte determined at different depths, sediment matrix (sandy or rocky) and environmental influence (coastal or estuary).

The estimation of  $C_{org}$  stocks in the top 250 cm of matte at studied site and along Corsica Island have been assessed at 14.0 million t  $C_{org}$  (51.5 million t  $CO_{2e}$ ) and 36.9 million t  $C_{org}$  (135.4 million t  $CO_{2e}$ ) that is to say the equivalent to 29.2 years and 76.8 years of  $CO_2$  emissions by the entire Corsican population, constituting one of the most significant estimates of  $C_{org}$  stocks associated with *P. oceanica* meadows in the Mediterranean basin.

#### Acknowledgments

This work was financially supported by the French Office of Biodiversity (Carbonsink program), the Collectivity of Corsica (PADDUC-CHANGE program) and the Environment Office of Corsica. This research was part of the Interreg Italy-France Marittimo 2014-2020 program.

#### **Bibliography**

MAZARRASA, I., SAMPER-VILLARREAL, J., SERRANO, O., LAVERY, P.S., LOVELOCK, C.E., MARBÀ, N., DUARTE, C.M., CORTÉS, J. (2018) - Habitat characteristics provide insights of carbon storage in seagrass meadows. *Mar. Pollut. Bull.*, 134: 106–117.

MONNIER, B., PERGENT, G., MATEO, M.A., CARBONELL, R., CLABAUT, P., PERGENT-MARTINI, C. (2021) - Sizing the carbon sink associated with *Posidonia oceanica* seagrass meadows using very high-resolution seismic reflection. *Mar. Environ. Res.*, 170: 105415. Pedro Clemente NAVARRO-MARTÍNEZ, BERNARDEAU-ESTELLER J., BELANDO M.D., MARÍN-GUIRAO L., MARTÍNEZ-SALVADOR A., CONESA-GARCÍA C., MARIN-GARCÍA D., AGULLES-GÁMEZ M., RUIZ-FERNÁNDEZ J.M. Department of Ecology, University of Murcia, Spain. <u>E-mail: pedroclemente.navarro@um.es</u>

# THE RECENT INFLUENCE OF CLIMATE CHANGE RELATED TO EXTREME EVENTS ON PRODUCTION DYNAMICS OF *POSIDONIA OCEANICA* (L.) DELILE MEADOWS

#### Abstract

In semi-arid areas of the Mediterranean region, climate change is increasing the incidence of marine heatwaves, torrential rains and big storms. In this study, the influence of these extreme events on the vertical rhizome production (annual growth and biomass) of the iconic seagrass Posidonia oceanica was explored by lepidochronological modeling using generalised additive models (GAMs). Extreme temperature events had a negative effect on rhizome biomass production and vertical annual growth. This effect was intensified by high rates of terrigenous sedimentation linked to wadi discharges under torrential rains. Therefore, meadows close to wadis show a higher vulnerability to extreme events related to climate change in semi-arid areas. In this context, lepidochronological techniques and environmental approaches used can be useful tools for long-term studies of the production dynamics of this species and the effects associated with extreme climatic and weather events.

Key-words: Seagrasses, heatwaves, terrestrial sediment inputs; lepidochronology, GAMs

#### Introduction

Climate change is progressively increasing the incidence of climate events such as heatwaves, torrential rains and big storms. In the Mediterranean region, these extreme events may negatively affect the endemic seagrass *Posidonia oceanica* (Giorgi & Lionello, 2008). In these areas, during torrential rains, wadis transport terrestrial sediments to the sea, where they can interact with marine heatwaves (MHW) and storms (Marbà & Duarte, 1997). Noteworthily, the combined effect of extreme events on *P. oceanica* seagrass meadows has been little studied. The aim of this study was to explore the influence of these extreme events on the production of *P. oceanica* rhizomes in several meadows of a semiarid Mediterranean coastal area (Region of Murcia, Southern Spain)

#### Materials and methods

Time series of vertical annual growth and biomass production of *P. oceanica* rhizomes were obtained by lepidochronology (tool for the analysis of seagrass dynamics based on the estimation of the age of leaf sheaths). Terrestrial sediment inputs were estimated by Watershed Erosion Prediction Project - WEPP models, sea storms were characterised by mean energy flux of waves, and marine heatwaves were disaggregated into standardised metrics. The potential influence of different descriptors of extreme events on the interannual variation of *P. oceanica* rhizome production variables was analysed using generalised additive models (GAMs).

#### Results

The models developed showed a negative relationship of annual maximum temperatures and the intensity of extreme events (maximum temperatures reached during an extreme event) with the rhizome production capacity. Marine heatwaves above 28°C had a clear negative effect on both biomass production and vertical annual growth. Also, important evidence of a potential interaction between heatwave intensity and terrestrial inputs associated with torrential rainfall was detected. Negative impact was further intensified by high rates of terrigenous sedimentation (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1: Alternative model estimates for vertical rhizome production of *P. oceanica* at different sampling stations. We show the effect of maximum temperatures (A), MHW mean intensity (B), and the interaction (C) between terrestrial sediment discharges by La Azohía wadi (Region of Murcia, Southern Spain) and MHW mean intensity.

#### **Discussion and conclusions**

Extreme temperature events had a negative effect on rhizome biomass production and vertical annual growth. This effect was intensified by high rates of terrigenous sedimentation linked to wadi discharges under torrential rains. Therefore, meadows close to wadis show a higher vulnerability to extreme events related to climate change in semiarid areas. In this context, lepidochronological techniques and environmental approaches used can be useful tools for long-term studies of the production dynamics of this species and the effects associated with extreme climatic and weather events.

#### Acknowledgements

This research has been funded by the projects "Climate change and morphological adjustments in Mediterranean ephemeral watercourses: dynamics and geomorphic resilience, and proposals for action (CCAMICEM)" funded by the Ministry of Science, Innovation and Universities of the Spanish Government and the European Union (ERDF) and the Monitoring network of the meadows of P. oceanica of the Region of Murcia (Spain) funded by the Autonomous Government. PCNM was supported by a PhD grant from the University of Murcia (Spain).

#### **Bibliography**

- GIORGI F., LIONELLO P. (2008) Climate change projections for the Mediterranean region. *Global and Planetary Change*, 63: 90-104.
- MARBÀ N., DUARTE C.M. (1997) Interannual changes in seagrass (*Posidonia oceanica*) growth and environmental change in the Spanish Mediterranean littoral zone. *Limnology and oceanography*, 42: 800-810.

#### Atik RAJA, KHAYA K., BELATTMANIA Z., SABOUR B.

Phycology, Blue Biodiversity and Biotechnology RU, Laboratory of Plant Biotechnology, Ecology and Ecosystem Valorization- CNRST, Research Unit N°10, Faculty of Sciences, University Chouaib Doukkali, El Jadida, Morocco. <u>E-mail: atic.raja@gmail.com</u>

# SEASONAL VARIABILITY OF PHENOLOGY OF *ERICARIA MEDITERRANEA* (FUCALES, OCHROPHYTA) FROM THE MEDITERRANEAN COAST OF MOROCCO

#### Abstract

In the Mediterranean Sea, macroalgal forests are dominated by fucalean brown algae (i.e., Cystoseira sensu latu, including the genera Cystoseira, Ericaria and Gongolaria) spreading out from the intertidal to the subtidal zone with different species along the bathymetric gradient. The present study investigated the morphological and reproductive phenology of Ericaria mediterranea from Mediterranean coast of Morocco. Density, size, and fertility of this species were measured monthly from January to December 2021. The E. mediterranea density reached values of cover ranging from 50.4 ind/m<sup>2</sup> in autumn to 60 ind/m<sup>2</sup> in spring. The thalli showed a seasonal pattern characterized by a marked phenological variation of the fronds. The monthly average values of thallus size vary from a minimum of 10.9 cm in January to a maximum of 20 cm in June. The maximum vegetative development was observed in spring/summer, in accordance with high temperature and photoperiod length. The E. mediterranea fertility progressively increases from summer to early autumn, reaching the highest value (56% fertile branches) in July. Matured receptacles can be observed during the August-November period.

Key-words: Phenology, Cystoseira, Ericaria mediterranea, Mediterranean, Morocco.

#### Introduction

Most of Mediterranean coasts are dominated by macroalgal forests (Assis *et al.*, 2020). The majority of these forests are fucalean brown algae (i.e., *Cystoseira sensu latu*, including the genera, *Cystoseira*, *Ericaria*, and *Gongolaria* (Molinari-Novoa and Guiry, 2020). Our study monitors the morphological and reproductive phenology of *Ericaria mediterranea* from Mediterranean coast of Morocco, for one year.

#### Materials and methods

The study was carried out at the Cape of Three Forks (C3F), a headland on the Mediterranean coast of northeastern Morocco (35°25'14.6"N; 2°57'21.7"W), classified as SIBE of priority 2 since 1991. The biodiversity of the C3F, both terrestrial and marine, is so rich (UICN, CAR/ASP, HCEFLCD, 2014).

Density of *E. mediterranea* is determined by estimation of the average number of fronds per  $m^2$  after counting the fronds present in 10 plots of 625 cm<sup>2</sup>, each delimited by a quadrat of 25 cm side. The plots are randomly selected along a 10 m long transect. The counting is made at low tide, monthly, during the year 2021.

Maturity and Fertility are assessed monthly during a year according the AFRIMED project protocol for *Cystoseira* phenology.

In the field, Fertility, expressed as the percentage of plants bearing receptacles (fertile), is determined from observations of 50 individuals randomly sampled. The thallus is considered fertile when the percentage of fertile branch estimated visually is greater than 25 % (by direct visual estimation).

In the laboratory, 5 individuals randomly sampled monthly during the year 2021 were used to study maturity. For each individual, the receptacles of 5 branches are incised transversely under a microscope and the gametes inside the conceptacles are counted and measured. Individuals are considered mature when the gametes are fully developed and close to release. Maturity is expressed as the percentage of mature individuals.

#### Results

The *E. mediterranea* density reached values of cover ranging from  $50.4 \pm 6.7$  ind/m<sup>2</sup> in autumn to  $60.0 \pm 6.7$  ind/m<sup>2</sup> in spring. The thalli showed a seasonal pattern characterized by a marked phenological variation of the fronds. The monthly average values of thallus size vary from a minimum of  $10.9 \pm 3.3$  cm in January to a maximum of  $20 \pm 3.3$  cm in June. The maximum vegetative development was observed in spring and summer. The *E. mediterranea* fertility is relatively high in summer and autumn (54%  $\pm$  0.3 and 51%  $\pm$  0.3, respectively) with a peak percentage fertility of 56% reached in July. Matured receptacles can be observed from August and may persist until early winter.

#### Conclusion

This first study in the Cape of Three Forks showed that *E. mediterranea* is in good health unlike what has been observed on the French Mediterranean coasts where Thibaut *et al.* (2005) reported that *E. mediterranea* (as *Cystoseira mediterranea*) populations were regressing and has almost disappeared from some area with, however, persistence as a continuous belt along the Albères coast.

#### References

- ASSIS J., FRAGKOPOULOU E., NEIVA J., ABECASIS D., FAUGERON S., SERRÃO E.-A. (2020) - A fine-tuned global distribution data set of marine forests. *Sci. Data*, 7: 1-9. doi: 10.1038/s41597-020-0459-x.
- MOLINARI-NOVOA E., GUIRY M. (2020) Reinstatement of the genera Gongolaria Boehmer and Ericaria Stackhouse (Sargassaceae, Phaeophyceae). Not. Algarum, 172: 1-10.
- Thibaut T., Pinedo S., Torras X., Ballesteros E. (2005) Long-term decline of the populations of Fucales (*Cystoseira* spp. and *Sargassum* spp.) in the Albères coast (France, Northwestern Mediterranean). *Mar. Pollut. Bull.*, 50: 1472-1489.
- UICN, CAR/ASP, HCEFLCD (2014) Le cap des Trois Fourches: Un site de grande importance pour la conservation de la nature sur la côte méditerranéenne du Maroc. Gland, Suisse et Malaga, Espagne UICN: 44 pp.

7th Mediterranean Symposium on Marine Vegetation (Genoa, Italy, 19-20 September 2022)

\*\*\*\*\*

# ROUNDTABLE

\*\*\*\*

7th Mediterranean Symposium on Marine Vegetation (Genoa, Italy, 19-20 September 2022)

# Christine PERGENT-MARTINI, BOUAFIF C., BURZIO P., RAÏS C., TORCHIA G., MAGANZA A., BEZZO T., SOHLOBJI E., VILLERS F.

EqEL, UMR CNRS SPE 6134, Université de Corse, Campus Grimaldi, 20250 Corte, France.

E-mail: pmartini@univ-corse.fr

# ANCHORING ON *POSIDONIA OCEANICA* MEADOWS: SYNTHESIS ON THE EXISTING REGULATIONS AND DISTRIBUTION MAPS AS A BENCHMARK FOR ACTION IN THE MEDITERRANEAN

#### Abstract:

Posidonia meadows are widely distributed throughout almost the whole Mediterranean Sea, from the shoreline to 20-45 m of depth and play a key-role in terms of functioning of the marine environment. They provide important ecosystem services and also act as a carbon sink with a highly efficient carbon storage capacity. However, due to their location and ecological needs, Posidonia meadows are subjected to many anthropic pressures. Among these, anchoring is reported as a major and increasing threat, particularly in recent years, due to the significant increase in leisure boating. Following the conference "Anchors Away", organized by the European Union in 2019, the Mediterranean Posidonia Network (MPN) was created to address this issue at the whole Mediterranean scale by gathering together all the Mediterranean Countries concerned by the presence of Posidonia oceanica in their waters. In this context, a study was launched to collect the available information regarding (i) the known distribution of Posidonia oceanica meadows in GIS, (ii) its overlapping with protected areas (MAPAMED), and (iii) an exhaustive review of the regulatory framework protecting the species, in particular from anchoring. Relevant experts, scientists, academics and/or NGOs of each one of the Countries facing the Mediterranean Sea and having Posidonia meadows were involved in such study. The results show that, even if some progress has been made (mapping coverage or legal protection of Posidonia), only few countries have promulgated regulations allowing for the specific control of anchoring on Posidonia meadows. Further efforts are needed to have a more comprehensive inventory of the meadows reflecting their distribution in all the basin, and allows for identifying priority areas where measures are most needed for the control and management of boat anchoring activities. In addition, the findings of such studies created a comprehensive state of the art potentially acting as a benchmark for common measures.

Key-words: Posidonia; legal protection; anchoring regulation.

#### Introduction

The meadows formed by *Posidonia oceanica* are considered a key habitat of the Mediterranean Sea where they are widely distributed from the shoreline to 20-45 m and host approximately 20 % of the species known for the Mediterranean Sea (Boudouresque *et al.*, 2012). They provide important ecosystem services such as the protection of the shores against erosion and their role of a carbon sink with a highly efficient carbon storage capacity.

The *Posidonia oceanica* meadows are subjected to multiple threats due to the strong anthropic pressure that characterize the Mediterranean. Above all, anchoring has been historically reported as a major threat to Posidonia meadows with increasing impacts particularly in recent years, due to the significant increase in leisure boating.

Following the conference "Anchors Away", organized by the European Union in 2019, the Mediterranean Posidonia Network (MPN) was created to address this issue at the whole Mediterranean scale by gathering all the Mediterranean Countries concerned by the presence of *Posidonia oceanica* in their waters. One of the priorities of the network being to support the strengthening of regulations related to anchoring, including by (i) ensuring consistency among relevant national regulations and (ii) promoting compliance with these regulations through monitoring, and (iii) evaluating the effects of their measures on the preservation of Posidonia meadows.

Within the framework of its activities, the MPN launched a study aimed at collecting the available information regarding the known distribution of *Posidonia oceanica* meadows available in GIS format and its overlapping with protected areas. The study also included a review of the regulatory framework protecting the species and/or its meadows from anchoring.

#### Materials and methods

The existing data on the status of Posidonia meadows in the Mediterranean Sea and the regulation tools adopted in each country were gathered through an in-depth desktop study and consultations with relevant experts, scientists, academics and/or NGOs of each one of the countries facing the Mediterranean Sea and having Posidonia meadows. To this end, standard data forms were prepared to be filled in with the information gathered by both a bibliographic research and consultations in order to have comparable data concerning the protection of *Posidonia oceanica*, its monitoring and the management measures implemented to safeguard the meadows from anchoring. Particular attention was paid to the existing information in terms of digital maps of Posidonia meadows. All countries facing the Mediterranean were considered, except the following ones where P. oceanica was found to be absent (Telesca *et al.*, 2015): Bosnia and Herzegovina; Israel; Lebanon, Morocco and Syria. An additional form targeting Marine Protected Area (MPA) managers was circulated to gather additional data (if any) and, in particular to address the implementation of measures to prevent the impacts of anchoring on Posidonia (e.g. eco-mooring).

Using ESRI ArcGIS©, a geodatabase was prepared for Posidonia distribution building on the data of Telesca *et al.* (2015) that was completed and/or updated with available and downloadable data on geoportals retrieved during filling in the forms (e.g. Ligurian Region in Italy and Corsica in France).

When projection errors occurred in the georeferenced data consulted, a correction was implemented after a careful comparison with other geodatabases of seagrass distribution (e.g. UNEP-WCMC & Short, 2021) and analysis of the shoreline and bathymetry.

Some Countries (i.e. Egypt and Montenegro) were not considered in the estimation of the Posidonia coverage, since only punctual data are available in the consulted databases.

The Posidonia meadow distribution in the basin was then overlapped with the most updated MPA distribution data provided by MAPAMED (the database of Marine Protected Areas in the Mediterranean) to assess the extent of Posidonia meadows protected by nationally regulated institutions, such as the nationally designated MPAs, SPAMIs. Natura 2000 sites and Ramsar sites were also included in the calculations but separated from the other protected areas.

For each Country facing the Mediterranean (and having Posidonia meadows in its territories) a standard factsheet was prepared in order to provide all the regulatory data gathered for the Country itself and focused on Posidonia safeguard, in particular from anchoring (when applicable), and the extent of Posidonia in its territories.

#### Results

According to the available knowledge, in September 2021, 16 Countries facing the Mediterranean Sea out of 21, have Posidonia in their territorial waters. Only six Countries (Croatia, France, Greece, Italy, Malta, Spain) have a cartography at national (or at local/department) level, of the distribution of their Posidonia meadows, available online. The percentage of Posidonia meadows mapped can be estimated to 100 % only for seven Countries (Tab. 1). For each country a part of the Posidonia meadows are included in national Marine Protected Areas, Natura 2000 site or Ramsar site (between 2 to 99 %), that constitutes a mean to safeguard these meadows against some human activities like anchoring. This value can be taking into account only for the Countries where all the coastlines have been mapped (Tab. 1).

Tab. 1: Surface of the Posidonia meadows included in a MPA, or Natura 2000 or Ramsar sites and percentage of the whole Posidonia meadows protected by this way, for the different countries. Al: Albania; Fr: France; It: Italy; Mo: Monaco; Sl: Slovenia; Sp: Spain.

	Albania	France	Italy	Malta	Monaco	Slovenia	Spain
Surf. (ha)	210	68 716	131 801	5 280	13	0.5	101 618
% of Posidonia included in a protected site	5	78	41	92	99	72	75

All the Countries, concerned by Posidonia meadows have at least ratified the Barcelona convention and its Protocol concerning the specially Protected Areas and the biological Diversity, which mentions *Posidonia oceanica* as an endangered species and most of them have signed other international commitments (Tab. 2). 69% of these countries have national laws that allow protecting directly the species or its meadows or indirectly by: (i) forbidding some activities above the Posidonia meadows, (ii) taking into account the presence of Posidonia meadows in the implementation of the procedures of environmental impact assessment and (iii) banning trawling and other fishing gears that could damage the meadows...; Tab. 2). But on the contrary few Countries already have specific laws to protect the meadows against anchoring (Tab.2).

Tab. 2: Synthesis of the rules and regulatory framework protecting Posidonia meadows,
with a focus on anchoring. Y: existing law or regulation.

	International Commitments specifically listing Posidonia			National laws for Posidonia protection		Specific national laws for Posidonia protection from anchoring
	Barcelona Conv.	Bern Conv.	Habitat Direct.	Protected Spec.	Indirect Protect.	
Albania	Y	Y	Y		Y	None
Algeria	Y			Y		None
Croatia	Y	Y	Y	Y		Y/ Anchoring and mooring outside planned zones prohibited in protected areas
Cyprus	Y	Y	Y			Y/ Through national Fisheries Legislation, MPAs are designated with prohibitions on fisheries and vessel passage and anchorage
Egypt	Y					None on the Mediterranean part

			ommitments 1g Posidonia	for Po	nal laws sidonia ection	Specific national laws for Posidonia protection from anchoring
France	Y	Y	Y	Y		Y/ Anchoring prohibited on protected vegetal species. In several areas, anchoring prohibited for boat > 24m length between the surface and - 40 m
Greece	Y	Y	Y	Y		None
Italy	Y	Y	Y			None
Libya	Y					None
Malta	Y	Y	Y	Y		None
Monaco	Y	Y		Y		Y/Identification of areas of anchoring restriction; most of them overlap with Posidonia meadows
Montenegro	Y	Y	Y	Y		None
Slovenia	Y	Y	Y			None, anchoring not possible on Posidonia meadows
Spain	Y	Y	Y	Y		Y/ Anchoring prohibited in the Balearic Islands
Tunisia	Y	Y			Y	None
Turkey	Y	Y	Y	Y		Y/ Anchoring and mooring prohibited outside the port administrative site except for purpose of travel and sport

This lack of regulation does not imply that these Countries are not concerned by this issue, and practical solutions have been implemented like eco-mooring, public information, uses of web application to identify area free of Posidonia to anchor (Tab. 3). Concerning eco-mooring several countries mentioned the complex administrative steps as one of the main difficulties faced to implement these initiatives and some of them were not even finalised because of these administrative constraints. Webapps and smartphone apps (e.g. Donia) were also developed for some Countries (e.g. Spain, France, Greece and some places in Italy) to assist sea users in finding safe anchoring places outside fragile ecosystems, such as Posidonia meadows.

Tab. 3: Synthesis of the solutions and monitoring plans implemented in th	ne different
Countries concerning the anchoring on Posidonia meadows	

	Adopted solutions, case studies or guidelines for managing anchoring	Monitoring plans for anchoring on Posidonia
Albania	34 anchoring buoys in Vlora bay and Karaburun peninsula	None
Algeria	None	None
Croatia	"Special purpose ports – anchorages" in Split- Dalmatia County – "Sea and Karst". Mooring buoys system and electronic ticketing for Lastovo Island Nature Park.	(2012). National Park Kornati,
	Adopted solutions, case studies or guidelines for managing anchoring	Monitoring plans for anchoring on Posidonia
Cyprus	Mooring buoys equipped with light at Kavo Gkreko (Konnos).	None
Egypt	Mooring buoys installed to safeguard coral reefs in the Red Sea	None

	Adopted solutions, case studies or guidelines for managing anchoring	Monitoring plans for anchoring on Posidonia
France	Mooring strategy (2019) established and implemented with eco-moorings, limitedly affecting the substrate in several departments and mooring boxes for large yachting. 32 areas equipped with eco- mooring system and 11 planned. RAMOGE Area- Measures for raising awareness (i.e.	Environmental monitoring required in mooring areas and light equipment
	flyers) on the safeguard of Posidonia from anchoring within the framework of the RAMOGE agreement (France/ Monaco/ Italy) Avalability of the Donia application free to allow boaters to know where are Posidonia meadows before	
	anchoring. Sensibilisation of boaters with specific information campaigns (eco-geste)	
Greece	Installation of sea grass friendly mooring buoys in the area of Andros Island. Installation of ecological anchoring buoys and prohibition of free anchoring in the National Marine Park of Zakynthos	Monitoring plan in the Aegean and Ionian Seas and within the frame of the CYCLADES LIFE Project
Italy	"Spiorsi" seagrass-friendly mooring system (Punta Chiappa - Portofino MPA). Mooring buoys (Punta Manara -Riva Trigoso; Campulongu, Cavoli Island and Molentis cape - Sardinia) RAMOGE Area- see France	Monitoring project study on mooring systems in Sardinia (Acunto <i>et al.</i> 2017). Monitoring project study on anchoring in Liguria (Montefalcone <i>et al.</i> , 2013)
Libya	None	None
Malta	None	None
Monaco	Mooring on Posidonia meadows banned in the MPA "Larvotto, Reserve". RAMOGE Area- see France	None
Montenegro	Seasonal mooring buoys in Katič potential MPA screwed into sand and using ballasts. Anchoring prohibited in the Platamuni MPA.	Monitoring of the effects of the mooring buoys in in Katič potential MPA is ongoing.
Slovenia	Anchoring regulated in MPAs.	None
Spain	Anchoring prohibited and eco-moorings installed in the Balearic Islands. Ecological anchors (buoys) in the natural space Castell-Cap Roig in Palamós (Catalogna). In Serra Gelada Natural Park, the drafting of a decree (similar to that of the Balearic Government) is ongoing. 29 ecological anchoring points and a boat-based surveillance service that sanctions anchoring in areas prohibited. Implementation of new tool as "Spatial Monitoring". Webapps (GARMIN and NAVIONICS) and smartphone apps (Donia) reporting meadows distribution and buffers.	
Tunisia	Ecological mooring system in the future Kuriat Archipelago MPA.	
Turkey	Ecological mooring system in Göcek and Dalaman bays.	None

### **Conclusion & perspectives**

The protection of Posidonia meadows against boat anchoring in the Mediterranean is far from being satisfactory since it is effective in only a limited number of Countries. Indeed, although all the Countries with *Posidonia oceanica*, have regulations concerning the species protection in general, only few have promulgated regulations allowing the

specific control of anchoring on Posidonia meadows. In addition to the actual enforcement of specific regulations, some technical tools have been taken in consideration and proved to be effective. In this context, eco-mooring systems have been set up in some areas, especially in marine protected areas. Webapps and smartphone apps constitute an easy mitigation approach, but require information on the distribution of the habitats, at least in the areas submitted to anchoring pressures. However, the cartography of the distribution of Posidonia meadows, when present and available, is mostly at local level or based on distribution modelling (e.g. Croatia). For most of the European Union Countries, where significant progress has been done during the last decade.

Further investigation is required to ensure an adequate mapping coverage with the view of providing the relevant decision makers, and other stakeholders, with accurate data (maps) allowing them (i) to have an inventory of meadows that reflects their distribution in all the Mediterranean basin and (ii) to identify areas where measures are most needed for the control and management of boat anchoring activity and other pressures. This may be considered as an urgent priority for most Mediterranean Countries in relation to *Posidonia oceanica* conservation in general and to mitigate the impacts of anchoring on the meadow.

#### Acknowledgments

This study has been financed by OFB (French Office of Biodiversity). The authors thank all the stakeholders from the different Countries that have fulfilled the questionaries and assisted them in the analysis of national rules.

#### Bibliography

- ACUNTO S., CINTI M.F., FRAU F. (2017) Action D1. Monitoring of the installation of mooring fields on habitat \*1120. ALL. PR2 1 D1 AMP. Res Maris (Life13 NAT/IT/000433).
  BOUDOURESQUE C. F., BERNARD G., BONHOMME P., CHARBONNEL E., DIVIACCO G., MEINESZ A., PERGENT G., PERGENT-MARTINI C., RUITTON S., TUNESI L.
  - (2012) Protection and conservation of *Posidonia oceanica* meadows. RAMOGE & RAC/SPA publisher, Tunis: 202 p.
- MONTEFALCONE M., MORRI C., ALBERTELLI G., BIANCHI C.N. (2013) Studio metodologico sulla valutazione dello stato di conservazione dei posidonieti sottoposti a forte pressione di ancoraggi da parte delle imbarcazioni da diporto. Relazione finale. Accordo Ramoge.
- TELESCA L., BELLUSCIO A., CRISCOLI A., ARDIZZONE G.T., APOSTOLAKI E., FRASCHETTI S., GRISTINA M., KNITTWEIS L.S., MARTIN C., PERGENT G., ALAGNA A., BADALAMENTI F., GAROFALO G., GERAKARIS V., PACE M.L., PERGENT-MARTINI C., SALOMIDI M., (2015). Seagrass meadows (*Posidonia oceanica*) distribution and trajectories of change. *Scientific Reports*, 12505 (5).
- UNEP-WCMC, SHORT FT. (2021). Global distribution of seagrasses (version 7.1). Seventh update to the data layer used in Green and Short (2003). Cambridge (UK): UN Environment World Conservation Monitoring Centre. Data DOI: https://doi.org/10.34892/x6r3-d211

# CONCLUSIVE REMARKS AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE 7<sup>TH</sup> MEDITERRANEAN SYMPOSIUM ON MARINE VEGETATION

- 1. Posidonia meadows are at the top of the ecosystems in terms of Carbon fixation and sequestration in their matte. Considering the importance of the ecosystem services provided by seagrass meadows (including carbon sequestration), a particular attention should be paid on their conservation and restoration.
- 2. The scientific community has underlined the general regression of *Posidonia oceanica* meadows, mainly due to trawling, anchoring, and coastal development; although some local signs of natural recovery have been observed where effective protection measures have been undertaken. The same situation of decline can be observed also for macroalgae. This evidence urgently asks for the need to strengthen efforts to further reinforce the protection of key habitats by reducing pressures and by boosting the creation of MPAs and No Take zones, and to develop monitoring activities following the IMAP guidance of the Barcelona Convention Ecosystem Approach. Thus, stricter and more binding measures are necessary for the protection of *Posidonia oceanica* meadows, especially against bottom trawling and anchoring (e.g., through the improvement of ecological moorings), and these measures should be considered in the update of the regional action plan on marine vegetation.
- **3.** We need to reinforce the exchange of the best practices and to improve the mapping effort of Posidonia meadows at the whole basin scale, also taking advantage from the availability of new investigation tools (3D mapping, photogrammetry, Structure from Motion, high resolution remote sensing data). A particular attention should be paid to the southern part of the Mediterranean to reduce the gap of knowledge and of monitoring activities between the northwestern and the southern Mediterranean countries.
- 4. Local knowledge and historical data should be considered as a useful research tool for the monitoring of the dynamic of Posidonia meadows. Historical data must be used as a baseline for assessing the status of this habitat at national, sub-regional and regional levels, following the Ecosystem Approach roadmap decisions and in synergy with the regional directives and the Regional Sea Conventions.
- **5.** Local variability and specific ecological/environmental conditions (such as hydrological conditions) should be taken into account during the implementation of the periodic assessment activities to understand the resilience of habitats in a changing environment, with a particular attention to the key habitats listed in the reference list of benthic habitats.
- 6. Deposit and debris of dead leaves of *Posidonia oceanica* (in banks, wracks, or banquettes) are ecologically important for a healthy ecosystem. Banquettes, in particular, could represent an asset for a sustainable tourism if we will be able to raise people's awareness that they are a strong sign of the Mediterranean identity.
- 7. Although our priority should always be to conserve the existing natural habitats and ecosystems, an improvement in the protocols used in restoration activities of both seagrass and macroalgae interventions is foreseen to facilitate and speed the recovery of the habitats.

# SCIENTIFIC COMMITTEE MEMBERS (In alphabetical order)

#### Ali BADREDDINE

PhD in Marine Biology Tyre Coast nature reserve-TCNR Benthic habitat (Benthos) Specialist Marine Turtles Expert Conservation of coastal ecosystems E-mail: ali.badreddine@hotmail.com

#### Ivan GUALA

IMC - International Marine Centre - Loc. Sa Mardini, Torre Grande, 09170 Oristano, Italy. E-mail: <u>i.guala@fondazioneimc.it</u>

#### Habib LANGAR

Professor UR17ES10, Département de Biologie, Faculté des Sciences Mathématiques, Physiques et Naturelles de Tunis, Université de Tunis El Manar - Campus Universitaire Farhat Hached, 2092 Tunis, Tunisia E-mail: habib.langar@fst.utm.tn

#### Monica MONTEFALCONE

PhD in Marine Science Seascape Ecology Lab DiSTAV, University of Genoa Corso Europa 26, 16132 Genoa, Italy E-mail: monica.montefalcone@unige.it

#### **Christine PERGENT-MARTINI**

Maitre de Conférences (MCF) Habilitée à Diriger des Recherches (HDR) University of Corsica – FRES 3041 / UMR 6134 - Faculty of Sciences, BP 52, 20250 Corte, France. E-mail: <u>pmartini@univ-corse.fr</u>

This symposium was prepared and organized under the Overall supervision of Mr Khalil ATTIA, director of UNEP/MAP-SPA/RAC.

# ORGANISING COMMITTEE MEMBERS (In alphabetical order)

#### Naziha BEN MOUSSA

Administrative Assistant UNEP-MAP-SPA/RAC Boulevard du Leader Yasser Arafet, B.P. 337, 1080, Tunis Cedex, Tunisia E-mail: <u>naziha.benmoussa@spa-rac.org</u>

#### **Cyrine BOUAFIF**

Consultant, PhD in Biological Sciences 23, Avenue La Gazelle, Cité La Gazelle, 2083, Ariana, Tunisia E-mail: <u>bouafif.cyrine@gmail.com</u>

#### **Imtinen KEFI**

Financial Officer UNEP-MAP-SPA/RAC Boulevard du Leader Yasser Arafet, B.P. 337, 1080, Tunis Cedex, Tunisia E-mail: <u>imtinen.kefi@spa-rac.org</u>

#### **Dorra MAAOUI**

Communication Assistant UNEP-MAP-SPA/RAC Boulevard du Leader Yasser Arafet, B.P. 337, 1080, Tunis Cedex, Tunisia E-mail: dorra.maaoui@spa-rac.org

#### Monica MONTEFALCONE

PhD in Marine Science Seascape Ecology Lab DiSTAV, University of Genoa Corso Europa 26, 16132 Genoa, Italy E-mail: monica.montefalcone@unige.it

#### **Atef OUERGHI**

*Ecosystems Conservation Programme Officer* UNEP-MAP-SPA/RAC Boulevard du Leader Yasser Arafet, B.P. 337, 1080, Tunis Cedex, Tunisia E-mail: <u>atef.ouerghi@spa-rac.org</u>

#### Yassine Ramzi SGHAIER

Project Officer - NTZ/MPA UNEP-MAP-SPA/RAC Boulevard du Leader Yasser Arafet, B.P. 337,1080, Tunis Cedex, Tunisia E-mail: <u>yassineramzi.sghaier@spa-rac.org</u>

#### Leonardo TUNESI

Reasearch Director - Head of the Area "Marine biodiversity, habitat and species Protection" Italian National Institute for Environmental Protection and Research, ISPRA – Via Vitaliano Brancati, 60 I-00144 Roma, Italy. E-mail: <u>leonardo.tunesi@isprambiente.it</u>

This symposium was prepared and organized under the Overall supervision of Mr Khalil ATTIA, director of UNEP/MAP-SPA/RAC.

7th Mediterranean Symposium on Marine Vegetation (Genoa, Italy, 19-20 September 2022)





Specially Protected Areas Regional Activity Centre (SPA/RAC) Boulevard du Leader Yasser Arafat B.P. 337 - 1080 - Tunis Cedex - Tunisia +216 71 206 649 / +216 71 206 485 car-asp@spa-rac.org www.spa-rac.org